A Palaeoecological and Archaeological Analysis of Plant Macrofossils from Monolith 4A800B3-6 at L'Anse aux Meadows, Newfoundland

by,

Jeffrey G. Speller

A thesis submitted to the School of Graduate Studies in partial fulfilment of the degree of Master of Arts

Department of Archaeology Memorial University of Newfoundland and Labrador

"...They'll never dig coal here,
Only the waterlogged trunks
of great firs, soft as pulp.
Our pioneers keep striking
Inwards and downwards,
Every layer they strip
seems camped on before.
The bogholes might be Atlantic seepage.
The wet centre is bottomless."

S. Heaney (1969).

Abstract

Peatlands are excellent foci of study due to their ability to act as archives of palaeoecological and archaeological proxy data, as the organic materials which constitute such data do not readily decompose within these waterlogged and acidic environments. Proxy data can be analyzed to discern how peatlands came to form through internal and external processes. Both natural and cultural (i.e., anthropogenic) forces are important external influences upon peatland formation. This study seeks to discern how a peat bog area at the archaeological site of L'Anse aux Meadows, Newfoundland formed as a result of natural successional processes and anthropogenic disturbance. This is accomplished through the use of a high temporal resolution (sub-centimetre) plant macrofossil analysis and radiocarbon age-depth modelling undertaken on a monolith (4A800B3-6) retrieved from a peat bog close to the main settlement terrace at the site. Through the application of this method, it is found that human-mediated disturbance (fire and trampling) and biophysical drivers (climate) each played a role in forming the peat sequence. Several different possibilities are offered for which particular cultural groups might be behind the disturbances in the peatland—which include the Norse but also Indigenous groups.

Acknowledgements

My first thanks must rightly go to my supervisor Véronique Forbes, who has been a great support through this endeavour and has continually pushed me to be a better writer and researcher. I also owe a debt of gratitude to Paul Ledger, who mentored me in the methods used in this thesis and was always patient with my (often repeated) questions. I must also thank my lab mates in the PEAT lab for their company and stimulating conversation, in matters archaeological and beyond. My friends in St. John's and cohort likewise deserve acknowledgement for their company and support through the trials and tribulations of graduate school. Thank you to Birgitta Wallace and Charles Lindsay for reading and commenting on drafts of this thesis. Thank you also to Sarah Murseli and Carley Crann from the Lalonde AMS facility for their assistance. To my beloved, but sorely neglected, friends in Toronto the sincerest of thanks is given. I could not have done this without the support and love of my parents Ann and John, who have always been supportive of my varied interests and whose house I moved back into to write. To them, and to the rest of my family in Ontario, this thesis is dedicated.

This research was supported by a Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council of Canada, Joseph-Armand Bombardier Canada Graduate Scholarship Master's and an Institute of Social and Economic Research (ISER) grant.

Research Contributions

Speller, J & Forbes, V, 2022, 'On the Role of Peat Bogs as Components of Indigenous Cultural Landscapes in Northern North America', *Arctic, Antarctic, and Alpine Research*, doi: 10.1080/15230430.2022.2049957.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACTi	ii
ACKNOWLEDGMENTSi	v
RESEARCH CONTRIBUTIONSi	v
LIST OF FIGURES	ii
LIST OF TABLESi	х
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Human Impact, Peatlands and Archaeology	1
1.2 Research Questions	5
1.3 Theoretical Framework	5
1.3.1 Historical Ecology	6
1.3.2 Niche Construction Theory	7
1.4 Thesis Outline	9
CHAPTER 2. ON PEAT BOGS AND PEOPLE1	1
2.1 Peat Bog Ecology1	1
2.2 Uses of Peat Bogs1	3
2.2.1 Harvesting and Use of Bog Plants1	4
2.2.1.1 Berries1	4
2.2.1.2 Sphagnum1	7
2.2.1.3 Myrica gale1	8
2.2.1.4 Other Plants1	9
2.2.2 Peat and Sod as Construction Materials2	0
2.2.3 Peat Deposits as Occupation Surfaces	2
2.2.4 Peatlands as Grazing Areas2	3
2.2.5 Peat Bogs as Sources of Iron	3
2.3 Peat Bogs as Archives of Human-Mediated Environmental Change	4
2.3.1 Trampling	6
2.3.2 Fire	6
CHAPTER 3. L'ANSE AUX MEADOWS: PHYSICAL GEOGRAPHY, ARCHAEOLOGY AND PALAEOECOLOGY	0

3.1 Physical Geography	32
3.2 Brief history of Research at LAM	35
3.3 Overview of the Site's Cultural History	42
3.3.1 Archaeological Chronology for Insular Newfoundland	43
3.3.2 Maritime Archaic	46
3.3.3 Groswater Culture	47
3.3.4 Dorset Culture	47
3.3.5 Cow Head/Early Recent Period Complexes	48
3.3.6 Norse	49
3.3.7 Later Recent Period Complexes	53
3.3.8 Later Site Inhabitants	55
3.4 Palaeoecology	55
3.4.1 Brief History of Research	55
3.4.2 Summary of Key Findings and Re-Evaluation in Light of Advances in North Atlantic Palaeoecology	57
3.4.3 Overview of Ongoing Research	60
CHAPTER 4. ANALYSIS OF PLANT MACROFOSSILS FROM MONOLITH 4A800B3-6	62
4.1 Methodology	62
4.1.1 Fieldwork and Sampling	62
4.1.2 Plant Macrofossil Analysis	63
4.1.3 Charcoal and Sediment Analysis	66
4.1.4 Numerical Analysis	66
4.1.5 Radiocarbon Dating and Age-Depth Modelling	67
4.2 Results and Interpretation	68
4.2.1 Lithostratigraphy	68
4.2.2 Charcoal	70
4.2.3 Chronology	74
4.2.4 Plant Macrofossil Analysis	77
4.2.4.1 Zone 1	79
4.2.4.2 Zones 2, 3, 4	93
ч.2.ч.2 Донез 2, 3, ч	••••••

4.2.4.3 Zone 2	93
4.2.4.4 Zone 3	95
4.2.4.5 Zone 4	
CHAPTER 5. DISCUSSION	
5.1 Discerning Episodes of Human Activity	
5.1.1 Radiocarbon Age-Depth Modelling	
5.1.2 Lower Charcoal Peak	
5.1.3 Middle Charcoal Peak	
5.1.4 Upper Charcoal Peak	
5.1.5 Plant Macrofossils	
5.1.5.1 Berries	
5.1.5.2 Myrica gale	
5.1.5.3 Cyperaceae and Monocots	
5.1.6 Macrofossils and Charcoal: Summarizing Evidence Associated with Human Activity	111
5.2 Factors Governing Successional Changes in The Bog	
5.2.1 Fire	114
5.2.1.1 Middle Charcoal Peak	
5.2.1.2 Upper and Lower Charcoal Peaks	
5.2.2 Trampling	120
5.2.3 Climatic Forcing	
5.2.4 Climatic and Anthropogenic Disturbance Considered Together	123
CHAPTER 6. CONCLUSIONS AND DIRECTIONS FOR FUTURE RESEARCH	126
6.1 Conclusions	
6.2 Future Directions	
REFERENCES	130

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Map of L'Anse aux Meadows in relation to the rest of insular Newfoundland.	31
Figure 2. Map of the main site area at L'Anse aux Meadows. Based on a previous map by Bryn Tapper.	32
Figure 3. 4A800B3-6 monolith in the lab prior to sampling. Image by Paul Ledger	63
Figure 4. Loss on Ignition, lithology and sedimentary data	70
Figure 5. Age-depth model for 4A800B3-6.	76
Figure 6. Summary Diagram	78
Figure 7a. Monocot sheath x20.	81
Figure 7b. <i>Carex</i> rhizome x10	81
Figure 7c. <i>Carex</i> seed x10	81
Figure 7d. Unidentified, elongated-celled tissue x30	81
Figure 8. Elongated-celled tissue under light microscope (x200)	82
Figure 9a. V. oxycoccos wood and leaf x20	84
Figure 9b. <i>M. gale</i> leaf base x30.	84
Figure 9c. <i>M. gale</i> leaf, (note glands) x40.	84
Figure 9d. E. nigrum seed x60	84
Figure 9e. Cf. Vaccinium seeds x50	84
Figure 9f. Unidentified berry x30.	84
Figure 10. Dark septate strands underneath the light microscope (x400)	87
Figure 11. Cenococcum geophilum mantle? x60.	87
Figure 12. Fungal Sclerotia x30.	87
Figure 13a. Sphagnum (example) x40	89
Figure 13b. Brown moss (example) x30.	89
Figure 13c. Polytrichum x30.	89
Figure 13d. Polytrichum leaf x40.	89
Figure 14a. Cut wood? x30	91
Figure 14b. Partially burned wood chip x30	91

Figure 14c. Conifer wood x20	91
Figure 14d. Conifer bark x80.	91
Figure 15. Rumex aquaticus seed x30.	95
Figure 16a. E. nigrum leaf x50	97
Figure 16b. R. groenlandicum leaf x20.	97
Figure 17. Multiplot showing radiocarbon dates for site occupation by Indigenous cultures at LAM (Wallace 2012) during the time the peat sequence was forming1	103
Figure 18. Charred twig (likely R. groenlandicum) x40	116
Figure 19. Possible Apiaceae seed x50.	120

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Radiocarbon dates from 4A800B3-6 75	5
Table 2. 95.4% probability estimates of select sediment ages in 4A800B3-6	7

Chapter 1. Introduction

1.1 Human Impact, Peatlands and Archaeology

Any environment in which humans have dwelled will bear some influence from their presence (Thompson 2010). While this influence is exceedingly manifest in the current "Anthropocene" (Crutzen 2006), it can be seen to stretch back to the earliest origins of the species (Boivin et al. 2015; Ellis et al. 2021; Roebroeks et al. 2021; Thompson et al. 2021). Human influences on natural biota may be purposeful, via the alteration of local ecology through such variable means as the use of broadcast fire, species management and cultivation, or else accidentally, through unintentional nutrient enrichment in areas of human habitation or even just by walking upon the ground itself. Wherever humans exist, going about their tasks (even in the most mundane and quotidian of ways), some influence will be wrought upon the ecology and landscape within that area (Balée 1998; Crumley 1994; Kareiva et al. 2007). The record of these anthropogenic influences, where they are preserved, can be sought in soils and sediments, for it is within them that proxy data are contained; the study of which can inform upon how past ecosystems have changed through time and been influenced by humans. Physically, this may take the form of pollen grains, insect remains, plant tissues and seeds, charcoal or other organic materials (Dincauze 2000). Any and potentially all remains of organisms that were alive in the past and impacted upon by natural and anthropogenic processes may be studied as a means of discerning how and why these changes occurred (Reitz et al. 2012).

Peatlands, otherwise known as peat bogs, have long been regarded as stellar archives of palaeoecological proxy data, owing to their waterlogged and anoxic conditions (Gearey and Fyfe 2016; Godwin 1981). Organic remains that would not be preserved otherwise are prevented from decay in these environments. These include plant remains, from whole tree trunks down to the minutest particles such as pollen, the male reproductive bodies of plants (Swindles and Plunkett 2010; Dincauze 2000). Pollen is preserved in bogs and has been studied by palynologists for over 100 years (Birks 2019; Birks and Berglund 2018), but the remains of whole plants known as macrofossils (or macroremains— 'macro' implying they are visible to the naked eye) are as well (Birks 2007). Plants act as particularly important proxies of environmental change, either natural or anthropogenic. Plants invariably shift in community composition in response to changes in climate, hydrology or, importantly via disturbance (Evans 1978). Disturbances may be natural or cultural, but either way, they are important influences upon plant community succession (Huston and Smith 1987).

Peat bogs are both excellent archives of proxy data and extremely susceptible to disturbances and natural influences—making them ideal targets of study (Gearey and Fyfe 2016; Magnan et al. 2018). Peatlands have been utilized extensively by Indigenous peoples in North America, and by Europeans, including the Norse who settled in the North Atlantic. As such, they should be considered components of the 'cultural landscape'—a conceptualization of landscapes that encompasses tangible (plants, animals, place, ecology, land and plant use) and intangible aspects (heritage, meaning) and how these change through time (Andrews and Buggey 2008; O'Rourke 2018). Where

peat bogs are situated close to archaeological sites, they will record activities through inputs of charcoal, insects and plant remains (the very stuff of proxy data). However, the study of plant macrofossils is well suited to studying localized changes in plant communities and, therefore, localized ecology (Rydin and Jeglum 2013). Macrofossils have already been utilized to this end in various contexts in the North Atlantic, including in Labrador, where their analysis has been applied to Ancestral Inuit sites (e.g., Roy et al. 2015; Roy et al. 2012) and to Norse sites in Iceland (e.g., Roy et al. 2018; Vickers et al. 2011), among others. An ideal peatland for such study exists at L'Anse aux Meadows (LAM), Newfoundland. It is situated in proximity to the settlement terrace, where humans are known to have lived (Ledger et al. 2019b). It is the subject of this thesis.

LAM is a large multi-component site situated at the apex of the Northern Peninsula of the island of Newfoundland, on the Strait of Belle Isle. It contains archaeological evidence for discontinuous occupation by Indigenous and European cultural groups over the last several millennia. These include the Maritime Archaic, Palaeo-Inuit cultures (Groswater and Dorset), Recent Period (Cow Head and various other complexes), as well as Norse and later Euro-Canadian occupations (Wallace 2012). The site is complex, but occupation centres on several relict beach terraces, the main one containing the well documented Norse component. There are also two peat bogs located in close proximity to the main terrace (the lower bog is situated to the west and the upper bog to the east). The lower bog has been the focus of extensive prior palaeoecological and archaeological investigation and is sometimes referred to as the *sedge bog* in earlier publications (Davis 1985; Davis et al. 1988; McAndrews and Davis 1978; Mott 1975).

The upper peat bog, sometimes called the *Sphagnum bog*, has not received near as much attention in the past, besides some investigation by Kari Henningsmoen (1985) and testing by Parks Canada (Schönbäck 1974). It has, however, been the focus of recent archaeological and palaeoecological inquiry led by Véronique Forbes and Paul Ledger from Memorial University of Newfoundland and Labrador (MUNL) in association with an international team of researchers. This endeavour initially began as a targeted paleoenvironmental investigation, focused on the Norse, but blossomed into a larger project with the discovery of a previously unidentified cultural horizon during sampling of the bog in 2018 (Ledger et al. 2019a, 2019b). It soon became apparent that the newly identified deposit would need further study, and in 2019 I was recruited to undertake a geoarchaeological analysis of it as an MA project. COVID-19 intervened in the execution of this plan, as I was not able to visit the United Kingdom to receive specialist training in the methods necessary to complete this task. Instead, an analysis of plant macrofossils from one monolith (4A800B3-6) was proposed, as this would dovetail with other analyses being undertaken on the same monolith and nearby (palynology, archaeoentomology) and give a valuable and useful view of localized bog palaeoecology and the human influence upon it. While an unplanned deviation, this change proved to be illuminating, even fun (albeit challenging) and ultimately led to the production of the thesis presented here.

1.2 Research Questions

The overall objective of this thesis is to investigate how a peat bog area formed as a result of natural successional processes and anthropogenic disturbance. This is achieved by conducting a high temporal resolution plant macrofossil analysis and performing radiocarbon age-depth modelling and chronological correlation on a monolith (4A800B3-6) taken from the peatland to the east of the settlement terrace at LAM.

More specifically this thesis will address these questions:

- Can radiocarbon age-depth modelling and analysis of plant macrofossils help identify discrete episodes of human activity in the peat bog sequence, and attribute them to specific cultural group(s) known to have used the site?
- 2. What are the discernable influences of disturbance and biophysical drivers on the formation of the peat bog sequence, as revealed through a study of plant macrofossils and charcoal?

1.3 Theoretical Framework

This thesis is in a great part concerned with how humans impacted upon the environment at LAM in the past, sometimes purposefully. As such, it is necessary to use a theoretical framework that views humans as having agency in this regard—and assumes that humans shape their natural environments. Two interrelated theoretical viewpoints (historical ecology and Niche Construction Theory) provide this. Historical ecology takes an historical view towards how landscapes are formed through human action and ecological processes and sees humans as in a dialectical relationship with their environments (Watling et al. 2018). Niche Construction Theory (NCT) is an evolutionary body of theory, which views organisms as having the ability to modify their own and other species' environments and thus impact upon natural selection (Laland and O'Brien 2010). Importantly, NCT also gives agency not only to humans but to all organisms something that must be considered here as this thesis deals with plant responses as well.

1.3.1 Historical Ecology

A primary tenet of historical ecology is that humans are a keystone species and, as such, they are primary drivers of ecological change in any and all ecosystems they inhabit (Thompson 2013). This is true both for hunter-gatherer populations and for state-level societies. The changes that humans enact may also be purposeful or incidental (Balée 1998; Thompson 2013). For instance, fire can be used with intention or can spread accidentally. Trampling of human feet can also have profound ecological impacts, which may or may not be intentional. Human intentionality is of importance in historical ecology (Balée 2006). This is expressed through the management of natural resources. Management, in this sense, refers to the purposeful manipulation of components of ecosystems to increase biodiversity (Thompson 2013). Actually, it is this process through which natural environments are turned into landscapes (Balée 1998) and ultimately how the human niche is shaped (Watling et al. 2018). Humans thus project culture onto nature (Crumley and Marquardt 1990). However, the human relationship with the natural world must still be considered as a dialogue (Balée 1998). The historical ecological perspective

is useful then for thinking about how humans inhabited the landscape at LAM in the long term, acting upon it and shaping it both directly and incrementally in concert with natural processes.

As its unit of analysis, historical ecology considers landscapes (Thompson 2013), seeing them as the "material manifestation of humans and the environment" (Crumley 1994: 6). Landscapes thus form a sort of text which records cultural and natural processes and the interplay between the two (Thompson 2013). Texts, of course, can be read as well (if one is fluent in the language they are written in), and here it might be imagined that macrofossils are the language to be deciphered, holding knowledge about the dialogue between humans and nature at the site. Historical ecologists also operate at a variety of scales, with the goal being to measure the degree and kind of human impact through qualitative and quantitative means (Thompson 2013). In this thesis, a very small section of a monolith acquired from one area in the bog is analyzed, but through doing so, broader knowledge about cultural patterns of behaviour and human action is inferred.

1.3.2 Niche Construction Theory

In order to investigate how environmental interaction (and modification) played out on the level of organisms, both human and otherwise, and afford such organisms yet more agency (in an evolutionary sense), it is necessary to employ NCT. This framework views organisms as not just passive recipients of selective evolutionary pressure but rather as having the ability to influence and guide this process through the construction of their own niches, which in turn influences upon the evolutionary trajectory of other organisms (and subsequent generations of their own) through feedback loops (Laland et al. 2016; Laland and O'Brien 2010). This is an important viewpoint because it considers environmental modifications as having an evolutionary (and agential) basis, including those stemming from humans. Humans are seen as particularly prolific niche constructors (Laland and O'Brien 2010), altering virtually every ecosystem on the face of the planet (He 2019). In this sense, NCT views humans in much the same way as historical ecology, in having a dialectical relationship with nature (Watling et al. 2018). However, any and all organisms likely engage in some sort of niche construction, shaping their environments and in turn the environments of others in myriad ways (Laland and O'Brien 2010), and thus influencing selection pressure (Odling-Smee 2003). For instance, a beaver building a dam has an impact not only upon its own fitness and those of subsequent generations but also influences a multitude of other organisms (Odling-Smee et al. 2013).

Organisms can also be seen to engage in different kinds of niche construction dependent upon how and where they do so. Any change which is produced either through movement of an organism to a new environment (relocation) or in a place where that organism is already living (perturbation) can be classed as *inceptive* niche construction. Organisms may also oppose or counteract any changes either in a familiar or new environment through *counteractive* niche construction (Odling-Smee 2003). Taking an anthropogenic view, humans might engage in *inceptive* niche construction through the use of fire as a landscape modification tool. However, humans are not the only creatures that engage in this, and such processes may be augmented or even counteracted by other organisms. *Sphagnum* moss, a primary species in peatlands (Rydin and Jeglum 2013), is a

prodigious habitat modifier. Once it becomes established, it will create an environment not suited to most other species (except for certain bog plants) through the release of acids and formation of waterlogged conditions (Rydin and Jeglum 2013). This will have implications for future generations as well, as they are guided and shaped by the selection pressures established within that environment by previous generations of *Sphagnum* demonstrating feedbacks between the organism and the environment itself (Laland and O'Brien 2010). However, humans might impact upon *Sphagnum* where it occurs through trampling, cutting, drying or flooding of environments. Indeed, organisms are interconnected, which can, in some instances, lead to co-evolution (Laland et al. 2016; Laland and O'Brien 2010). NCT then can be seen as an explanation for how and why organisms change their environments. Overall, it is an important framework for investigating the construction of ecological niches (human and otherwise) at LAM.

1.4 Thesis Outline

Chapter 1 introduced the reader to the background behind the use of the plant macrofossil analysis methodology, the study of peat bogs and the general aims and objectives of the project. Chapter 1 also provided the theoretical framework. Chapter 2 serves to establish the state of knowledge necessary to address how peatlands were utilized and impacted upon by anthropogenic processes, which is necessary for answering the research questions as dealt with in the discussion (chapter 5). Chapter 2 also addresses the utility of peatlands as palaeoecological archives, which is of relevance to the thesis as a whole. Chapter 3 provides background information on the site geography, its cultural history and previous work. This overview is useful for contextualizing the current study

and interpreting how this project is both similar to and differs from work undertaken in the past. Chapter 4 first explains the methods used in the project, including fieldwork and sampling, plant macrofossil analysis, charcoal and sediment analysis, radiocarbon dating and age-depth modelling. Following this, chapter 4 provides results of the various analyses undertaken and interprets them in regard to successional processes and bog formation. Chapter 5 answers the research questions by discussing how (and if) radiocarbon age-depth modelling and plant macrofossils can be used to discern anthropogenic events in the peat sequence, and the influence of disturbance and biophysical drivers on the successional history of the peat bog area. Chapter 6 provides concluding remarks. Directions for future research are also suggested.

Chapter 2. On Peat Bogs and People

This chapter serves to introduce the reader to the ecology of peat bogs and delves into what is known about their cultural uses by Indigenous peoples and Europeans (especially the Norse). Following this introduction to bogs, the value of peatlands as palaeoecological archives and disturbance processes germane to these environments are discussed. The text presented in this chapter builds on a topical literature review on the use of peat bogs by Indigenous Peoples in northern North America, which was published in the *Journal or Arctic, Antarctic and Alpine Research* as part of an article I co-authored with my supervisor (Speller and Forbes 2022). Most sections here draw from this article, however, I have edited and reformatted the text to better integrate the literature review into the thesis project as a whole, and to avoid unnecessary repetitions. Information pertinent to the Norse has also been added where appropriate. The section dealing with the peat bog at LAM specifically has been substantiated and edited, to better contextualize the original plant macrofossil analyses I conducted (chapter 4) within previous palaeoecological research at the site.

2.1 Peat Bog Ecology

Peat bogs, or "peatlands", as they are commonly referred to within the scientific literature, are a class of wetland, and as such, they are water-saturated. In fact, it is the wetness of bogs that hinders decomposition due to lack of oxygen and allows organic material to build up over time, forming deposits that are called peat. Peat deposits tend to be relatively acidic, and therefore only particular plant species can grow in peat bogs

(Johnson 1985). *Sphagnum* moss is an important contributor to bogs since it can hold large amounts of water. It grows upwards, while the bottom of the plant dies, which adds to peat accumulation (Johnson 1985). *Sphagnum* also contributes to bog acidity through the release of polyuronic, humic and fulvic acids (Lavoie et al. 2005).

Peatlands form through two main processes, terrestrialization and paludification (Anderson et al. 2003 Charman 2002; Lavoie et al. 2005, Rydin et al. 2013). Terrestrialization refers to the gradual infilling of waterbodies with organic material as well as inorganic sediments (Anderson et al. 2003 Lavoie et al. 2005). Paludification is the transformation of dry land into peatland. In northern regions, including Canada, paludification was an important factor in initial bog formation (Crum and Planisek 1988). This process begins when organic material starts to accumulate at a rate that exceeds its removal through decay, which usually begins in basins but then spreads outwards across the landscape (Lavoie et al. 2005).

Peatlands are commonly divided into fens, which are rheotrophic (flow-fed) and bogs, which are ombrotrophic (rain-fed). In the strictest sense, fens tend to be more nutrient-abundant since they are enriched through inputs of water via streams or springs, whereas bogs are nutrient-poor and acidic (Moore 2002). In practice, however, many bogs may have some input from groundwater or other sources and may vary in acidity throughout their extent, with some areas being more minerotrophic (mineral-enriched) than others (Wheeler and Proctor 2000).

In Newfoundland, peatlands can be further divided into domed, plateau, blanket, basin and slope varieties. Fens consist of slope, ladder and ribbed types. As the name

suggests slope fens/bogs generally form on slopes. Basin bogs form in basins in the landscape (Wells and Pollett 1983). Plateau bogs are almost flat at the centre but slope at the margins (Rydin and Jeglum 2013). Raised bogs are noticeably higher than the surrounding topography, often taking on a domed appearance in the middle (Godwin 1981; Rydin and Jeglum 2013). Blanket bogs are non-raised bogs, which can cover broad swaths of landscape owing to a surplus of localized atmospheric moisture (Rydin and Jeglum 2013). Under certain conditions fens forming on slopes can develop patterning crosswise to the slope they develop on. Varieties of patterned fens include ladder and ribbed (Rydin and Jeglum 2013: 220). Bogs are the most common type of peatland in Newfoundland; they are treeless and receive input mostly through precipitation. In some bogs peat thickness can reach up to 10m, but it is generally less. Peat thickness in Newfoundland fens is usually thinner and ranges between 1m to 3m (Wells and Pollett 1983).

2.2 Uses of Peat Bogs

Despite the relative prevalence of peatlands—Canada alone contains approximately 1,132,614 km³ (Xu et al. 2018)—these environments have been greatly overlooked by North American archaeologists (Nicholas 1998, 2006). Consequently, there is a very slight archaeological corpus of literature to draw from when writing about peat bogs on the continent. North American ethnobotanists have paid greater heed to peatlands, if only indirectly, through describing and mentioning the Indigenous cultural use of plants sourced from them. However, it is evident, from the small body of archaeological literature and from the scattered mention of bog plants in ethnobotanical

publications, that peat bogs were used extensively by Indigenous peoples, and not ignored, as has sometime been alleged (e.g., Crum and Planisek 1988: 172). Peatlands have been studied in much greater detail, by archaeologists and palaeoecologists alike, regarding their usage by Europeans (Gearey and Fyfe 2016; Gearey et al. 2010; Godwin 1981), including the Norse in the North Atlantic (Forbes et al. 2014: Ledger 2013: Simpson et al. 2003).

Through drawing upon the published literature, this section aims to demonstrate the use of peatlands by Indigenous peoples in North America, as well as by Europeans, especially the Norse. Below, examples are given for the use of particular bog plants, the use of peat and sod as construction material, the use of peatlands as occupation surfaces, for grazing, and for the extraction of bog iron. Peatlands as palaeoecological archives are then discussed, including the specific human impacts upon peatlands through the use of fire and as a consequence of trampling.

2.2.1 Harvesting and Use of Bog Plants

2.2.1.1 Berries

Indigenous groups throughout northern North America harvested berries. The presence of certain species within bogs would have been an important draw to these areas. Bog cranberry (*Vaccinium oxycoccos*) is a member of the heath family (Ericaceae) native to open, acidic bog and fen environments, which produces a small red edible fruit (Davis 2016). On the Northwest Coast, the Kaigani Haidi of southeast Alaska collected bog cranberry when the fruit was firm (Norton 1981). The Kwakwaka'wakw in British

Columbia made use of bog cranberry, picking them in the fall and either consuming them directly or steaming them (Turner and Bell 1973). Near Nain in Labrador, bog cranberries (locally called marshberries) were also noted as being harvested by the Inuit in small quantities (Boulanger-Lapointe et al. 2019). The Napaskiak Yup'ik would also gather bog cranberries opportunistically during their salmonberry picking trips (Oswalt 1957). Amongst the Katzie (Coast Salish), cranberry bogs were owned, and outsiders had to ask permission to harvest cranberries (Suttles 1955).

As a member of the Ericaceae family, bog cranberry reappears relatively quickly after a fire since it can regenerate from rhizomes below the bog surface (Damman 1978). Fire was specifically used on cranberry bogs on the Northwest Coast to increase berry yield and manage tree growth (Anderson 2009). Biggs (1976) suggested that the Coast Salish set fire to the Burns Bog in the Fraser Delta, British Columbia, to increase the abundance of berries, which likely included bog cranberries as these were recorded as being present there (Giblett 2014). Fire was likely used elsewhere to manage blueberries as well, since they will increase in yield several years after a light to moderate burn (Lavoie and Pellerin 2007; Nelson et al. 2008).

Bog blueberry/bilberry (*Vaccinium uliginosum*) occurs predominantly in *Sphagnum* bogs. The Coast Salish on Vancouver Island would gather bog blueberries and either dry them or eat them raw (Turner and Bell 1971). The Inuit in western Alaska made extensive use of bog blueberry (Anderson 1939; Oswalt 1957). It is likely that the Norse utilized bog blueberry in Iceland as well (Svanberg and Ægisson 2012).

R. chamaemorus (commonly referred to as bakeapples or cloudberry) is a member of the Rosaceae family with a circumpolar and boreal distribution, although it also occurs further south (Thiem 2003). It is found predominantly in bogs (Karst et al. 2008). The Haida in British Columbia and Alaska were extremely fond of *R. chamaemorus* and would eat them in large quantities (Turner 2004). According to Oswalt (1957), *R. chamaemorus* was the most important plant food consumed by the Napaskiak Yup'ik in Alaska. The berries would be consumed over the winter as a principal component of *agu'tuk* (Oswalt 1957), which was produced through mixing fat with berries (Zutter 2009). Bog blueberries would sometimes be mixed into *agu'tuk* as well (Oswalt 1957).

Throughout Inuit Nunangat, which comprises the Inuit homeland in Canada, Boulanger-Lapointe et al. (2019) identified bog blueberry and bakeapple (or cloudberries) as commonly picked species, both of which occur predominantly in bogs. For instance, the Kiluhikturmiut Inuinnait picked bakeapples and bog blueberries, which were eaten raw mixed with fat (Davis and Banack 2012). Analysis of a human coprolite sample from the 18th century Inuit Uivak 1 Site (HjCl-11), near Okak in Labrador, revealed high concentrations of seeds from blueberries and crowberries (*Empetrum nigrum*) as well as black globules, which were identified as probable animal fat residues. This was interpreted as evidence of the mixing of fat with berries (Zutter 2009). In general, berries were an important secondary food source at the site, as demonstrated by the high densities of both blueberry and crowberry seeds in the house and midden (Kaplan and Woollett 2000). Crowberry (and *Vaccinium*) seeds have also been identified in archaeological fecal samples from Norse contexts in Iceland and it is likely crowberries were consumed as

food there by the Norse (Ross and Zutter 2007). In Iceland, communion wine was even made from crowberries at one point, and there is archaeological evidence for their consumption in Greenland as well (Arneborg et al. 2012; McGovern et al. 1983). At Sandnes in western Greenland, crowberry and *Vaccinium* seeds were found together in small heaps, interpreted as the remains of feces (Arneborg et al. 2012).

2.2.1.2 Sphagnum

Sphagnum moss, otherwise known as peat moss due to its recognized role in forming peat bogs, is a genus of moss composed of around 300 species (Michaelis 2019). Indigenous North Americans widely used *Sphagnum* for various purposes, many of which cut across cultures, but some of which are unique. Long recognized for its absorbency, *Sphagnum* moss has been employed as a diaper material (Thieret 1956), as a feminine hygiene product (Kimmerer 2003), and for bandages (Turner 1998). Davis and Banack (2012) record that amongst the Kiluhikturmiut Inuinnait of Nunavut, Canada, *Sphagnum* was used for all three purposes. On Nunivak Island, Alaska, the Nunivaarmiut (Yup'ik) made diapers by placing dried *Sphagnum* in a seal skin (Lantis 1946). The Wet'suwet'en and Gitxsan peoples of British Columbia also made use of *Sphagnum* for diapers (Harris 2008).

Sphagnum was utilized in other diverse and imaginative ways. Indigenous Alaskans made a salve for application on cuts by mixing *Sphagnum* with animal tallow or grease (Thieret 1956). The Kiluhikturmiut Inuinnait used *Sphagnum* as insulation and as a coating on sled runners (Davis and Banack 2012). The Napaskiak Yup'ik were also

known to chink their log houses with *Sphagnum* (Oswalt 1957), and the moss may also have been employed for soapstone lamp wicks (Llano 1956).

2.2.1.3 Myrica gale

Myrica gale, otherwise known as sweet gale or bog myrtle, is a deciduous shrub found in bogs (Skene et al. 2000) that was utilized in medieval Europe, including by the Norse. In particular, M. gale was commonly used in medieval brewing as the gruit, which was a substitute for hops used in order to allow beer to keep better, among other purposes (Verberg 2018; Zimmerman 2018). As a beer additive, *M. gale* was especially popular in Nordic countries (Meussdoerffer 2009). M. gale found at the Danish Viking Age site of Viborg Søndersø has been interpreted as being used for brewing as well as a deodorizer and for brush making (Robinson et al. 1992). It may also have been introduced to Iceland for the purposes of brewing (Sveinbjarnardóttir 1981). In Icelandic, it is called mjaðarlyng/pors, literally meaning mead/beer heath (Vijūnas 2007: 136). However, M. gale is not found in Greenland (Böcher et al. 1968). There even appears to have been a medieval European trade in M. gale, likely for the purposes of brewing, and the raw plant material was subject to taxation in Denmark, thus showing its economic importance (Simpson et al. 1996). There is some indication that M. gale was used by Indigenous people in North America as well (Kari 2020; Porter 2007), including potentially for smudging (Guedon 2000).

2.2.1.4 Other Plants

Many different plants acquired from bogs were used for myriad purposes. Common sundew (*Drosera rotundifolia*) is an insectivorous plant native to bogs (Davis 2016), which was utilized by the Kwakwaka'wakw for removing warts, corns, and bunions. Kwakwaka'wakw men also used it as a love charm, whereby it was mixed with salamander toes and another plant (either *Habenariaa* or *Hypopites monotropa*) (Turner and Bell 1973). The Coast Salish of British Columbia were also likely familiar with sundew since they would have encountered it when venturing to bogs to collect other plants, such as Labrador tea (*Rhododendron groenlandicum*), which on Vancouver Island only grows in *Sphagnum* bogs, and was made into a tea by the WSÁNEĆ and likely other Coast Salish groups as well (Turner and Bell 1971).

Cotton grass (*Eriophorum* spp.) is a genus of the sedge family consisting of several species that are tolerant of acidic bog conditions and known to grow there (Davis 2016). It is so named for the cotton-like tufts that grow on the seed head of the plant. Cotton grass was made into wicks for oil burning lamps by some European group (Svanberg 1998), including by the Norse in Iceland (Byock 2001). The use of cotton grass for making *kudlik* (soapstone lamp) wicks and bandages have also been broadly documented around the circumpolar north by Indigenous groups (Lazarus and Aullas 1992; Small and Cayouette 2016), including amongst the Labrador Inuit (Zutter 2009). Pigford and Zutter (2014) recovered cotton grass phytoliths from residues on soapstone fragments at the 18th-century Labrador Inuit site of Dog Island-Oakes Bay I (HeCg-08). According to Zutter (2009), Labrador Inuit also used sedges (*Carex* spp.) and rushes (*Juncus* spp.), which grow in bog and wetland environments for making floor coverings and woven mats.

The purple pitcher plant (*Sarracenia purpurea*) is a carnivorous perennial herb in the pitcher plant family (Davis 2016). It is endemic to bogs, poor fens and other acidic environments. It can be found along the Atlantic coast as far north as Labrador and as far west in Canada as the eastern edge of the Rocky Mountains (Ellison et al. 2004; Johnson 1985). The Mohegan folklorist Gladys Tantaquidgeon (1932: 266) noted that it was called "*alk tsotaco*" or "toad legging" by the Lac Saint-Jean Innu. The leaves of the plant were boiled, and the resulting liquid used to treat sores and children's rashes. The split leaves of the plant would be placed over affected area to treat the same ailments. The plant could also be used to relieve smallpox (Tantaquidgeon 1932).

2.2.2 Peat and Sod as Construction Materials

Throughout arctic and parts of subarctic North America, the Inuit, Ancestral Inuit and pre-Inuit built semi-subterranean houses using blocks of earth and surface vegetation (variably referred to as "sod" or "turf"), which were usually harvested from bogs or other types of wetlands. These were placed onto a framework constructed either from whalebone or wood, depending on the availability of either resource (Arnold and Hart 1992; Park 1988; Renouf 2003). This method of construction was used in many areas well after the time of European contact (Auger 1993; Beaudoin et al. 2010; Knudson and Frink 2010; Lee and Reinhardt 2003). Sometimes, peat would also be utilized in the construction of these dwellings, and there is some evidence for its purposeful selection as building material. For example, in the course of their research on the Qijurittug Site

(IbGk-3) on Drayton Island in Quebec (where Ancestral Inuit built 13 semi-subterranean houses using peat along with other materials in the construction of the walls and roofs), Inuit elders were interviewed about traditional construction techniques and indicated that peat was employed, at least in part, because it provided good protection from the wind, and that peat was used when there was no snow (Lemieux et al. 2011). According to Barbel et al. (2019), peat was commonly used by the Ancestral Inuit to build the peripheral walls of houses since it provided good insulation from the cold, and it was shown to have been used at the Ancestral Inuit sites of Oakes Bay 1 (HeCg-08) and Koliktalik 6 (HdCg-23) in Labrador (Roy et al. 2012). Fitzhugh (2019) notes that on the Quebec Lower North Shore, the Inuit utilized peat along with sod, skins and wood for constructing houses. The mixing of peat and other materials would seem to indicate that it was employed purposefully to a particular end. Habitation sites, many of which were previously occupied by pre-Inuit groups, may also have been selected by the Ancestral Inuit, at least in part, for their proximity to peat deposits (Barbel et al. 2019). This is evident at Diana Bay, Quebec, where there are over 100 habitation sites situated adjacent to peatlands from which material could be conveniently obtained for house construction (Bhiry et al. 2016).

Like many Indigenous communities living in subarctic and arctic regions, European peoples who lived in similar settings developed specific traditions and practices to harvest and use peat and sod (or turf, as it is most commonly known in a European context) as building materials and for other purposes (Forbes et al. 2014; Milek 2006, 2012; Ólafsson and Ágústsson 2000; Stefánsson 2019; Steinberg 2004; van Hoof and van

Dijken 2008). Particularly in Iceland, but also elsewhere in the North Atlantic, the Norse constructed buildings from blocks of turf often sourced from peat bogs (Schofield et al. 2008). Longhouses and outbuildings alike could be constructed from this handy material. In Iceland, the homefield closest to the farmstead was usually enclosed in a wall made from turf, and turf could even be burned for heat (Byock 2001; Price 2020).

2.2.3 Peat Deposits as Occupation Surfaces

Archaeological work on the island of Newfoundland has revealed several instances of the surface of peat bogs being used as living spaces and/or activity areas by Indigenous groups during the Recent Period (ca. 0 to 1500 CE, Hartery 2007). Archaeological evidence for this occurs where occupation layers, formed by the accumulation of materials resulting from human occupation or activities having taken place, are identified in bogs. One such occupation surface was identified at the Gould Site (EeBi-42) at Port au Choix by Renouf et al. (2009), where it is apparent that during the site's Recent Period occupation, people were actually living on top of the peat deposit that covered the site at the time (Renouf et al. 2000; 2009; Teal 2001). Excavations uncovered charcoal, fire-cracked rock and cultural materials all contained within a thick layer of peat, in addition to several pit features that appear to have been dug into the peat layer underlying the occupation surface. Similarly, at the Peat Garden Site (EgBf-6) near Bird Cove, excavators uncovered the remains of ten hearth features sunk into the peat layer, which was the living surface during the Recent Period (Cow Head complex) occupation of the site (Hartery 2007; Hartery and Rast 2001). One of the hearths was even lined with clay, which may have been used to create a barrier with the underlying

water-saturated peat (Hartery 2007). The previously undocumented cultural layer uncovered in a *Sphagnum* peat bog at LAM in 2018 (Ledger et al. 2019b), could potentially be seen to fit this pattern as well.

2.2.4 Peatlands as Grazing Areas

Peatlands were often used for grazing livestock, including by the Norse. This practice has a long history, including in Bronze Age/Neolithic Scotland (Turner 2013), and it is carried on to the present day in some locations including the Falklands (Mauquoy et al. 2020). The practice of gathering hay from fens is still carried out to some degree in Norway as well (Lyngstad et al. 2016). In Iceland, there is an historic tradition of gathering hay from sedge bogs, which extends all the way back to the medieval Norse (Ritchey 2019; Zutter 1999). Animals might even be grazed directly on bogs as they could be used year-round, with rushes and sedges targeted in the summer and woody species in the winter (Brown et al. 2012). This practice also seems to have been carried out elsewhere in the Norse North Atlantic, and it is quite possible that it extended to LAM as well (Robertson, n.d.).

2.2.5 Peat Bogs as Sources of Iron

A further resource and certainly one of great value to the late Iron Age culture of the Norse was bog iron. In bogs and associated watercourses, under specific chemical and bacterial conditions, natural iron dissolved in groundwater will form into impure concentrations known as bog iron (Wallace 2003a), which can then be turned into iron through smelting, usually in a bloomery furnace (Thelemann et al. 2017). The Norse were

aware of and used this technology in the North Atlantic (Evans 1948), including at LAM (Wallace 2003a).

2.3 Peat Bogs as Archives of Human-Mediated Environmental Change

Plant macroremains/macrofossils are plant remains that are large enough to be seen by the naked eye (but usually studied under magnification) and manipulated by hand (Birks 2007; Mauquoy and Van Geel 2007). Plant macrofossils are preserved where decay is stunted, including in arid (desiccating) and anoxic environments, especially those that are waterlogged (Birks 2007). In some environments (especially alluvial ones), macrofossils can be transported some distance before deposition. However, in peatlands, macrofossils are generally representative of *in situ* deposition, as they are the remains of plants that lived and died on the bog, being subsequently transformed into peat (Birks 2007). That is why peat has been described as a sedentary (as opposed to sedimentary) deposit (Rydin and Jeglum 2013).

Because macrofossils in peat bogs remain in place, usually accruing vertically, they represent a chronostratigraphic record of how bogs formed. Therefore, they are a perfect tool for studying plant succession and disturbance in bogs. *Succession* refers to short-term directional changes in the composition of species over periods of decades; longer-term changes, for instance, over centuries or millennia, is termed *development* (Rydin and Jeglum 2013). Succession can be broken down into primary and secondary. Primary succession is the colonization of new environments by organisms (e.g., post-glaciation), whereas secondary succession is colonization as a result of disturbance (Rydin and Jeglum 2013). Disturbance quite simply is any factor, event or process that impacts upon the successional progress of an ecosystem (Wessels 1999). In peatlands, disturbances may be cultural or anthropogenic and thus can include peat extraction, climate change, fire, and nutrient deposition, among others (Andersen et al. 2013). The result of disturbance in peatlands (as in all ecosystems) is a shift in the composition and/or abundance of plant species. These changes can be directly studied by looking at macroremains from successive layers in the peat strata in order to infer how species composition changed through time in response to disturbances. Inferences regarding moisture conditions can also be made based on the plants present, since particular species are adapted to specific moisture conditions. Through this, an in-depth picture of how bogs developed can be arrived at (e.g., Barber et al. 2003). Peat bogs will also incorporate and preserve evidence of direct and indirect human impact, including fires as evidenced by charcoal horizons, plants introduced to the environment in the past by people and even artifacts, thus making them valuable archives of both palaeoecological and archaeological data.

The human presence on bogs can also have particular ecological impacts, all of which fall under the banner of disturbance. Some of these disturbance impacts are unintentional—like those that derive from trampling or wildfires. However, some can also be intentional, particularly those that result from the anthropogenic use of fire. Fire especially can be seen as an instrument of niche construction when applied purposefully (Thompson et al. 2021).

2.3.1 Trampling

Trampling can have an adverse effect on peatlands and, as such, is an important allogenic (external) disturbance factor. Frequent trampling, especially by livestock or deer (and often in association with fire and/or grazing pressure), can destroy surface vegetation leading to bare peat surfaces (Pellerin et al. 2006), making bogs susceptible to erosion (Sjögren et al. 2007). Water may run off more easily if peat pores become compacted (Bragg and Tallis 2001). Peat can also decompose more readily as a result of trampling by creating a moisture differential between depressed areas and the bog surface (Sjögren et al. 2007). Additionally, trampling can cause peat to become aerated, promoting decay (Sjögren et al. 2005). Some plants, especially Sphagnum moss, are susceptible to trampling and even infrequent episodes will reduce or eradicate them from bogs (Spitale 2021; Studlar 1980). While these changes are most visible (and most studied) in regard to livestock, humans can also impact upon bogs if their trespasses are frequent enough (Studlar 1980). Within some organic deposits, trampling will produce laminated surfaces and horizontally oriented materials (Rentzel et al. 2017). Specific micromorphological features may also be present, although there is some debate as to whether they remain in peat (Ismail-Meyer et al. 2013).

2.3.2 Fire

Fire constitutes an important allogenic disturbance factor in peatlands (Le Stum-Boivin et al. 2019; Väliranta et al. 2017; Zoltai et al. 1998). Its occurrence can have profound impacts upon secondary succession (Rydin and Jeglum 2013). Fires can occur naturally in peatlands (Kuhry 1994), however, fires close to known habitation sites, such

as at the heavily occupied LAM, and correlated with known occupations by way of radiocarbon dating, are assumed to be cultural (Florescu et al. 2018). Ideally, cultural attribution of fire, as opposed to natural, should follow multiple lines of evidence (Bal et al. 2011). Peat will capture both charcoal from fires in the surrounding area as well as localized charcoal from *in situ* burns (microcharcoal may come from even greater distances). Therefore, some inference based on successional plant community evidence and correlation with cultural practices elsewhere is needed to discern whether charcoal peaks in peatlands signal burning of the peat surface. Couillard et al. (2019: 377) noted that "burnt bogs produce macroscopic charcoals buried concurrently in the peat deposit, often in the form of charred horizons." Indeed, as Pitkänen et al. (2001: 599) observed, "charcoal horizons in peat are indisputable evidence of local or in-situ fires." However, only particular kinds of bog fires will leave much evidence; smouldering peat fires may leave none (Zaccone et al. 2014). Localized (in situ) fires that burn woody material will leave macrocharcoal as evidence (Sillasoo et al. 2011). They may also leave charred vegetation such as branches or seeds (Markgraf and Huber 2010).

If fires are strong enough, they can also impact peatland microtopography and hydrology, leading to wet shifts (replacement of dry-adapted plant species by wet-adapted ones; Sillasoo et al. 2011). Fires that are severe will level the bog topography, leading to colonization by plant communities amenable to fire disturbance and thus vegetation succession. Bog hummocks can effectively be transformed into hollows with shifts in attendant plant communities adapted to these microtopographic environments (Sillasoo et al. 2011). As opposed to autogenic successional changes, which are generally slow,
successional shifts related to fire are rapid and can manifest in episodic changes in plant composition (Tuittila et al. 2007). This pattern was observed in two bogs in Estonia that were studied by Sillasoo et al. (2011), whereby charcoal peaks indicative of fire events were followed by discernable wet shifts. Depending on fire severity, species composition may shift considerably or only slightly (Sillasoo et al. 2011). Over a period of decades, plant communities will also generally revert back to their pre-fire conditions (Kuhry 1994).

Particular plants and plant communities will respond advantageously to fire. In some environments, Ericales will generally increase in abundance several years after a fire, likely owing to rhizomatic germination (Boiffin et al. 2015; Damman 1978). An increase in Ericales abundance post-fire has been noted in pollen-based research (Yeloff et al. 2006). Several plant species will opportunistically colonize burned over peat surfaces. *Polytrichum* species especially will grow on bogs several years after a fire (Bauer and Vitt 2011; Sillasoo et al. 2011). *Sphagnum* moss may also take hold following fire (Kuhry 1994), especially since it can effectively colonize through spore dispersal (Sundberg and Rydin 2002).

Peatlands often experience regular naturally generated burns at varying intervals (Kuhry 1994; Zoltai et al. 1998); however, there is also a long history of the Indigenous use of fire within North America for purposeful landscape modification, including within peatlands (Turner 2014) and in the boreal forest (Lewis and Ferguson 1988). Fire was often applied to increase the yield of particular plant species, including berries (Anderson 2009; Crum and Planisek 1988; Lacourse and Davies 2015; Lavoie and Pellerin 2007)

and to manage plant succession and create habitats amenable to game animals (Cronon 2011). Many grazing species prefer open meadow-like habitats, something that the purposeful application of fire could produce (Fowler and Konopik 2007; Stewart 2002). Don Holly Jr. (2013: 149) speculated that fire had been utilized on Fogo Island to such an end by the Beothuk and their ancestors, and it would seem reasonable that this is the case elsewhere in Newfoundland and Labrador as well, including potentially at LAM.

Fire was also utilized by the Norse in the North Atlantic, including in Greenland, Iceland and the Faroes, during the *landnám* (land-taking) phase of initial settlement (Dugmore et al. 2005). It was purposefully employed to clear the land (Iversen 1934) and promote the growth of plants useful for animal fodder, especially grasses (Ledger 2013; Schofield et al. 2008). Archaeologically, this manifests as a charcoal layer found in many early field systems where the Norse established farms on the North Atlantic islands (McGovern et al. 1988). Indeed, by the time the Norse reached Newfoundland, there was already a long and established cultural pattern of the use of fire.

<u>Chapter 3. L'Anse aux Meadows: Physical Geography, Archaeology and</u> <u>Palaeoecology</u>

LAM is located at the northern tip of the island of Newfoundland (fig 1). It remains an extremely popular tourist destination in the province, with tens of thousands of visitors to the site annually (Parks Canada 2019). It has also been the focus of extensive archaeological excavation (Ingstad 1977; Wallace 2003a). Physically, the site consists of several relict beach terraces that have been the locality of settlement for various cultures over the years. On the largest terrace sits the main part of the Norse site (fig 2), but there are archaeological remains of many cultures there as well, which is why it is referred to below as the 'settlement terrace'. Directly in front (to the west) of this terrace sits the lower (sedge) bog, while behind it (to the east) sits the upper (often called the *Sphagnum*) bog, which is the focus of this project. The land rises behind the site to the east, hemming it in—a large stone ridge to the south-east further adds to this effect. To the north lies the village of L'Anse aux Meadows, and to the west, beyond the lower bog and another terrace (containing the Norse smelter shed), sits Epaves Bay (part of the larger Sacred Bay). There are also several offshore islands in the distance to the northwest offshore of LAM. A stream (Black Duck Brook) originates in a pond higher up in the hills and winds its way through the site, emptying into the bay. It is an idyllic location, and one can certainly appreciate why various cultures chose to live there in the past.



Figure 1. Map of L'Anse aux Meadows in relation to the rest of insular Newfoundland.



Figure 2. Map of the main site area at L'Anse aux Meadows. Based on a previous map by Bryn Tapper.

3.1 Physical Geography

The major relict beach terraces at LAM formed at least 5000 years ago (Davis et al. 1988). Relict gravel beaches are found quite far inland as well, having been left there as a result of isostatic rebound following deglaciation (Bell et al. 2000). Prior glaciation has shaped the landscape in many ways, both within the site and regionally, with subsequent changes wrought by erosional forces. Bare rock surfaces with glacial striations, areas shaped into basins and knobs and boulder erratics are common locally (Bell et al. 2000). Geologically, the low-lying areas at the site are underlain by mélange (large-scale breccia). Outcropping of the Maiden Point Formation is common, with exposed sandstone, shale, and greywacke as well as quartz pebble and conglomerates (Cumming 1975). The prominent ridge to the southwest of the settlement terrace occurs at the zone of contact between the firmer greywacke and the softer mélange. The mélange underlying the site also contains iron nodules and cubes, which are transported by groundwater and then biologically transformed into bog iron (Cumming 1975).

Organic deposits occur in many areas. Peat is quite common as a surface veneer and also occurs as deeper deposits. Locally these form bogs and fens (Grant 1992). The bogs around the LAM area can broadly be classified as basin bogs—originating in basins in the landscape. Many of these likely take the form of plateau bogs, having formed in flat basins between relict beach ridges. They contain sloping margins but have flat to undulating surfaces (Wells and Pollett 1983). So-called "flat bogs" were identified by both Davis (1980) and Gimbarzevsky (1977) at the site. The flat bogs are thought to be ombrotrophic due to thick levels of peat accumulation having raised their surfaces above the water table (Davis 1980). The slope fen variety is also quite common (Davis 1980; Gimbarzevsky 1977).

LAM falls within the Northern Peninsula climatic zone as defined by Banfield (1983). Within this zone, long cold winters with continuous snow cover and short cool summers are the norm. Extreme cold temperatures can reach as low as -37.5°C in the winter and as high as 30°C in the summer (Bell and Renouf 2011). However, temperatures are generally more moderate. Annual precipitation near the Strait of Belle Isle averages between 760-900mm annually, and 900-950mm elsewhere near the coast (Bell and Renouf 2011). On the Northern Peninsula up to 300cm of this may fall as snow.

There are generally 120 days a year without frost, beginning around June 10 (Banfield 1983). Due to climate change, the average annual temperate of the Northern Peninsula and Newfoundland as a whole is rising (King 2020).

The entirety of the park is influenced by the cold Labrador Current and has an Arctic character in terms of vegetation (Gimbarzevsky 1977), lying within a transitional region between the tundra and boreal forest (Davis 1980). Major vegetation communities consist of those defined as forest, tuckamore, heath, snowbed, wetland, coastal and anthropogenic (Davis 1980; Gimbarzevsky 1970). Wetland communities occupy over 30% of the park and occur on poorly drained areas with high organic accumulations. They can be further broken down into marshes (fluvial, lentic and tidal) as well as fens (slope fen and patterned fens) and *Sphagnum* bogs (Gimbarzevsky 1977). Slope fen communities are predominant, occurring on organic land types composed mostly from sedge peat. Aquatic sedges (*Carex aquatilis* and *Scirpus cespitosus*) dominate, as well as dwarf shrubs (Myrica gale, Kalmia polifiolia, Andromeda glaucophylla). Bryophytes are dominated by Sphagnum mosses (Davis 1980; Gimbarzevsky 1977). Flat bog communities occur on poorly drained lowlands where organic deposits have formed from the remains of decomposed *Sphagnum* species. Dominant plant species on flat bogs include Ericales, especially black crowberry (*Empetrum nigrum*), bakeapple (*Rubus*) chamaemorus), Labrador Tea (Rhododendron groenlandicum), partridgeberry (Vaccinium vitis-idaea) and blueberry (Vaccinium uliginosum) (Davis 1980). Club rush (Scirpus *cespitosus*) and *Cladonia* genus lichens are also common (Gimbarzevsky 1977).

The site area under study (4A800B) and, indeed, the entire archaeological site and shoreline along Sacred Bay, is situated on a marine plain about 1 km-wide extending backwards from the coast (Gimbarvesky 1977). Within this area, coarse textured marine gravels, organic peat and areas of exposed bedrock are common. Vegetation consists of a mixture of wetland, rock and soil barren communities, and coniferous marginal forest. There are also several lakes (Gimbarvesky 1977). The upper bog area was initially classified as a palsa bog by Henningsmoen (1985) due to the presence of ice ridges. Gimbarvesky (1977) also noted frozen ground occurring in the first week of august. However, this no longer appears to be the case.

3.2 Brief History of Research at LAM

The history of archaeological research at LAM can be seen to begin in 1960, when Helge Ingstad landed nearby and was led by George Decker, a prominent local man (Ingstad 2013), to what he referred to as the "Indian Mounds" (Lewis-Simpson 2020: 562). Ingstad recognized the grassy mounds as similar to Norse ruins he had seen in Greenland, and excavations were planned for the following year, under the direction of Anne Stine Ingstad—who had been trained in archaeology at the University of Oslo (Wallace 2000a, 2006). The Ingstads were not the first to hypothesize or even search for a Norse presence in the area—indeed, such speculation goes back to at least the 19th century—but they were the first to identify Norse remains at LAM (Crocker 2020; Wallace 2006).

Between 1961 and 1968, the Ingstads, their retinue, an international crew of archaeologists and hired locals, would excavate all of the known Norse structures at the

site (Ingstad 1985, 2013), as well as several depressions once thought to be boat sheds (Christiansen 1985). During the course of this work, most of the major Norse diagnostic artifacts would be unearthed, including a piece of gilded copper, and a bone needle in House D (Ingstad 2013; Petré 1985); a whetstone, a stone door pivot/lamp and a steatite spindle whorl in House F (Bird, n.d.; Ingstad 1985, 2013;), and a bronze ring pin in House A (Ingstad 2013, 1985; Wallace 2006). Importantly, the Norse building remains would be excavated, and their interior layouts discerned and mapped (Ingstad 2013). Many Indigenous features were identified and excavated (Ingstad 1985) and palaeoecological work undertaken as well (Henningsmoen 1985). The overview of this work would be published in a site monograph in 1977, later republished in 1985 (Ingstad 1977, 1985).

Except for Anne Stine's (2013) observations on the availability of bakeapples, the bogs at the site seem to have mostly been ignored by the Ingstads, with their investigations focused generally on the discernible Norse building remains instead. However, some of their excavation trenches do appear to have touched the upper and lower bogs (see Ingstad 1985) and bog ore was noted as being found when digging drainage trenches on the upper bog margin south of Houses B and C (Ingstad 1985: 274). Petré (1985: 70) also notes digging between the bog and an old brook slope (but not within the bog itself). Overall, besides Henningsmoen's (1985) palaeoecological investigations in the upper bog, the peatlands at the site appear to have been neglected by the Ingstad expedition.

In 1968 a deal was struck to transfer control of the site from Newfoundland to the federal government and place it under Parks Canada management for development into a National Historic Site (Lindsay 1975, 1977; Wallace 2005, 2006). An 82 km² area, which also encompassed Great Sacred Island and Foirou Island, was set aside (Wallace 2005). Due to the fact that Parks Canada had no experience in Norse archaeology, in 1972, the site was placed under the direction of an international advisory committee, which decided how the site would be protected and presented to the public (Wallace 2005). The advisory committee that further excavation work was recommended, the goal of which was to resolve many of the unanswered questions that still remained about the site. Bengt Schönbäck of the Swedish Museum of Antiquities was chosen as excavation director, a role in which he served from 1973 to 1975. Birgitta Wallace, who initially served as his assistant, then took over in 1976 (Wallace 2005). Charles S. Lindsay was also involved in this work from 1973 to 1975

Under Parks Canada, focus on the bogs increased, particularly the lower bog. Indeed, one of the initial research objectives was discerning whether the lower bog had always been there or if it had once been a lagoon (Wallace 2005), which was found to likely not be the case (Wallace 2012). It was also realized that given the waterlogged conditions in the lower bog, artifact preservation was likely, thus making it an excellent target for research (Wallace 2012). Investigations began in this area in 1973 with the digging of trenches, which revealed worked wood (Schönbäck 1974). The trenches dug in 1973 extended from the terrace all the way to Black Duck Brook (Kuc 1975: 146).

In 1974, a major part of the research program focused on investigating the lower bog. The margin between the settlement terrace and the lower bog were also included in this work (Schönbäck 1974). Digging in this area revealed a layer of worked wood outside of House A, which could be followed on a downslope into the bog. Further worked wood was identified outside of House D, which has been interpreted as carpentry debris (Schönbäck 1974; Wallace 2012), as well as a layer of twigs possibly put down to try and keep the ground surface dry. A cylindrical container made of birch bark and sown together with spruce roots was recovered as well (Schönbäck 1974; Wallace 2003a, 2005). The bog was also found to have continued forming up the walls of Houses A and D, following Norse site abandonment (Schönbäck 1974; Schönbäck et al. 1976). Additionally, the upper bog was tested in 1974. The goal of digging this trench (4A67T-W) was to reach the base of the bog, discern the stratigraphy in this area, and find evidence for past tree growth (Schönbäck 1974). The upper bog appears to have been neglected otherwise.

In 1975 excavation of the lower bog was greatly expanded with over 20 trenches dug. These were mostly 2m wide by 10m in length. These trenches were located west of the area between Houses A and D, west of House D, and west of the area between buildings E and F (Schönbäck et al. 1976). All trenches were excavated to the base of the peat deposit, which at the foot of the downslope from the terrace was found to be 80cm to 100cm thick. Deposits of wood up to 50cm thick were unearthed at the base of the peat these were interpreted at the time as driftwood deposited on the former beach and then covered with peat through time (Schönbäck et al. 1976). These wood deposits were later

re-interpreted as the possible remains of *in situ* tree roots killed by paludification (Davis and McAndrews 1978; Davis et al. 1988; Robertson 1978). At between 35 and 55cm, a distinct zone of cultural material was noted of up to 20cm in thickness, but generally less. It was found to consist of charcoal, wood and bark, but mostly of twigs and branches that had been cut or burned at one or both ends, plus many wood chips. No lithic material was recovered. It was also found to be in greatest concentration within 5m to 6m of the settlement terrace, and thus likely Norse (Schönbäck et al. 1976). A noted exception to this was a pile of twigs found west of House D, which was dated later in time. It was initially thought that this pile might stem from later Norse site usage, potentially relating to later wood gathering expeditions (Schönbäck et al. 1976) as are attested to in period documents (Price 2020). However, Wallace thought this pile could be Indigenous in origin (Wallace 1989). Several worked wooden artifacts were also recovered from the bog. These include: a piece of wood with a hole in one end(Schönbäck et al. 1976), a probable boat plank consisting of a piece of wood with two holes; one of which contained a dowel (Schönbäck et al. 1976), a piece of wood identified as being from a bow drill (Wallace 2005), a wooden finial (Schönbäck et al. 1976; Wallace 2012), a potential furniture part, and an object resembling a blunted wooden arrow (Schönbäck et al. 1976). All the above wooden objects were presumed to be Norse due to their form, stratigraphic position and radiocarbon ages (Schönbäck et al. 1976). However, it was also realized that several cultures had used the bog and that further work would be needed to clarify the relationship between deposits (Wallace 1977).

In 1976, the final Parks Canada field season of the 1970s, work in the lower peat bog focused on trying to clarify the relationship between deposits of presumed Norse and Indigenous material (Wallace 1977). Three areas were investigated. West of House D, seven 10m long by 2m wide trenches were dug as well as three 1m baulks left over from 1975. West of House A, eight 10m long by 2m wide trenches were excavated (Wallace 1977). Between the two houses, two 10m long by 2m wide trenches were dug and three 1m baulks. In the area west of House D, more twigs were unearthed, although not cut like the other pile found nearby. Several pieces of worked wood were also uncovered, as was a Norse nail. Notably, coiled roots likely used for lashing materials together were found (Wallace 1977), which have subsequently been associated with the Norse occupation (Wallace 2012). West of House A, coniferous roots were uncovered in situ up to 30cm below the surface and interpreted as indicating the presence of trees on the bog at one time. Building sods interpreted as originating from the collapse of House A were also unearthed, as were pieces of worked wood and iron slag. Deposits of what were thought at the time to be driftwood were found as well (Wallace 1977). As elsewhere in the bog, these driftwood deposits may potentially, in fact, be the remains of tree roots (Davis and McAndrews 1978; Davis et al. 1988; Robertson 1978). Excavation between Houses A and D uncovered an extension of the root and so-called driftwood layers. Cut wood was uncovered at the interface with the terrace and amongst the presumed driftwood. Many pieces were found close to House D and thought to, therefore, be in association with it (Wallace 1977). Chemical samples were also taken from the peat bog to try and test for the chemical signatures of former midden deposits (Wallace 1977) as only wood persevered in the acidic conditions of the bog. This was seen as unfortunate (Schönbäck

et al. 1976). However, the preservation of so much wood should be seen as a testament to the preservative ability of peat bogs and relatively wet conditions at the time of deposition (Wallace 2012). For such wonderful artifacts/ecofacts as a burl of white walnut, *Juglans cinerea* (also known as butternut), several butternuts themselves and a hexagonal wooden piece interpreted as a possible barrel lid were all discovered in the lower bog (Wallace 2003a).

It should be noted that Wallace (1977, 2012) ultimately divided the cultural deposits in the lower bog into three groupings (upper, middle, bottom). Some of the wood pieces in the middle layer were found to be cut with metal tools through analysis by Paul Gleeson (1979), and therefore likely Norse. Various pieces of wood from the bottom and upper layers were thought to be cut with stone tools and thus Indigenous in origin (Wallace 2012).

In 1978 LAM was declared the first World Heritage Site by UNESCO due to its importance as having the only confirmed evidence of Norse habitation in the so-called 'New World' (Fife 2004; Morris 1989; Wallace 2005). Several fieldwork endeavours would also be conducted at the site following the Parks Canada campaigns of the 1970s. This included Parks Canada-led fieldwork supervised by Wallace (2003), Jenneth Curtis (2007, 2009, 2011) and the two combined (Wallace and Curtis 2008), as well as underwater survey (Dagneau and Moore 2009, 2010). Research was also undertaken by Todd Kristensen (in association with Priscilla Renouf) from MUNL (Kristensen and Renouf 2009).

3.3 Overview of the Site's Cultural History

LAM is believed to contain evidence for Indigenous occupation by the Maritime Archaic, the Groswater and Dorset Palaeo-Inuit cultures, various Recent Period complexes including Cow Head, as well as the Norse. The archaeological understanding of these groups and their documented presence at the site is discussed below in temporal order, as well as later Indigenous and European site history. The information contained in this summary is drawn from several sources. This includes archaeological reports contained within the original site monograph (Ingstad 1985). Wallace's research has been relied upon as well (Wallace 1989, 2005, 2006, 2012). Varied sources, ranging from the Ingstads (2001, 2013) to Parks Canada reports (Schönbäck et al. 1976) and later reanalyses (Kay 2012; Kuitems et al. 2021) are also utilized. While the archaeological work undertaken at LAM is generally of a high quality, it encompasses a vast amount of literature, of both grey and white varieties, and includes work undertaken over 50 plus years of study—with a (sometimes marked) shift in methods from the time of earlier fieldwork. Much of the existing cultural site history is also based on correlation of archaeological data (artifacts and features) with a radiocarbon chronology that, while ample in terms of the number of dates, is often problematic (Ledger et al. 2019b). Many of the early dates for the site were obtained prior to AMS and required mixing of different charcoals together (Wallace 1989) to achieve the sample sizes necessary for the time (Godwin 1981). Early dates were also obtained on driftwood, bulk turf, and marine mammal (whale) bone (Ingtsad 1985; Nydal 1989), all materials which have later been found not to be ideal for radiocarbon dating (e.g., Ledger et al. 2016). Recalibration

against the bristlecone pine (Ingstad 1985) and other curves (Nydal 1989) have been attempted but this does not adequately address the underlying issues. Consequently, valid concerns have been raised about the chronology at the site (Ledger et al. 2019b; Nydal 1989). More recent work has improved upon this, especially in regard to the Norse occupation (Kuitems et al. 2022), but much still remains unknown about the chronology at LAM. This does not mean that all dates should be dismissed, but rather taken critically and reassessed with new methods as necessary.

The cultural site framework presented below represents an understanding of the site derived through prior fieldwork. It is presented here as an overview of the conventional thinking on the cultural history of LAM, with the goal of ultimately informing upon interpretations undertaken in chapter 5 of this thesis. Given this, there are no individual maps provided for each culture's use of the site, nor is there a timeline. Instead, an overview of the site's interpreted culture history is presented. First, a brief overview of the presently understood archaeological chronology for the Island of Newfoundland and the Norse settlement of the North Atlantic is given.

3.3.1 Archaeological Chronology for Insular Newfoundland

The earliest documented inhabitants on the island of Newfoundland were the Maritime Archaic culture (Betts and Hrynick 2021; Renouf 2006). This culture is archaeologically documented from as early as 8000 BP in southern Labrador, and by 6000 BP evidence for their presence is found on the island. The Maritime Archaic people were well adapted to utilizing marine resources (Holly 2013; Tuck 1976), and the prevalence of woodworking tools including gouges may indicate the production of dugout

canoes (Holly 2013). It is likely that the interior of Newfoundland was utilized as well (Renouf and Bell 2006). Around 3500 BP, the Maritime Archaic culture region began to contract, and within 300 years they had abandoned insular Newfoundland (Wolff and Holly 2019).

The next culture to take up residence on the island were the Palaeo-Inuit, Groswater culture (Holly 2019; Holly and Erwin 2009). They are believed to have developed from an earlier Palaeo-Inuit culture in Labrador (Hartery 2007; Holly 2013). The Groswater people are thought to have been mostly coastally situated, but there is some evidence for interior/riverine utilization to hunt caribou and obtain other resources (Holly and Erwin 2009). On the coast, seals were an important resource, as well as fish and seabirds (Holly 2013). According to Melnik (2007) the Groswater Palaeo-Inuit were likely present on the island of Newfoundland from around the beginning of the 1st millennium BCE to the 1st century CE. The next Palaeo-Inuit group to inhabit the region were the Dorset culture, who migrated in from the north (Betts and Hrynick 2021; Leblanc 2010). Dorset subsistence was very much focused on marine resources, in particular seal (especially harp seal) but also walrus and sea birds, with some minor utilization of terrestrial game including caribou and beaver (Holly 2013; Wolff and Holly 2019). The Dorset people ranged across the island, and likely had regionalized cultural expressions (Holly 2013; Leblanc 2010). It is unclear whether the Dorset culture replaced the Groswater culture or whether the Groswater people were subsumed into the Dorset people (Hartery 2007). The prevailing archaeological belief is that the Dorset Palaeo-Inuit appear to only have been active on the island of Newfoundland from the 1st to 8th

centuries CE, which constitutes the Middle Dorset period (Dussault et al., 2016; Holly 2013).

At around the start of the 1st century CE, there is evidence on the island of Newfoundland for a First Nation complex known as the Cow Head (Betts and Hrynick 2021; Hartery 2007). Their presence on the island can be seen to begin the archaeological Recent Period (Hartery 2007). The Cow Head complex is thought to have persisted until the end of the 1st millennium CE (Renouf et al., 2011). Hartery (2007) hypothesised that the Cow Head people were somewhat sedentary and had a high degree of storage.

The later part of pre-contact Indigenous (First Nation) cultural history on the island of Newfoundland consists of two archaeological complexes: the Beaches and Little Passage. The Beaches complex first appears around the middle of the 1st millennium CE (Betts and Hrynick 2021). By the start of the 2nd millennium CE archaeological evidence for the Beaches complex ceases to exist; however, it is believed that they transitioned into the subsequent Little Passage complex (Cridland 1998). At around 1500 CE during the time of sustained European contact, stone tools disappear from the archaeological record being replaced by metal ones, thus constituting the end of the Recent Period and the beginning of the historic Beothuk tenure on the island (Cridland 1998; Holly 2013). Shawnadithit, the last Beothuk person of written historical record, died in St John's in 1829 (Marshall 1996).

The Norse were an agrarian/pastoral culture that incorporated wild foodstuffs into their diet in varying ways and adapted their agricultural practices to suit the local environments of the North Atlantic islands (Dugmore et al., 2012; McGovern et al.,

2006). They were also a rigidly hierarchical culture with great differences in status based on land and wealth (Bolender and Johnson 2018; Vésteinsson 2007). In the centuries following the year 800 CE they spread outwards from their Scandinavian homeland in a great diaspora (Price 2020). Within this period several of the North Atlantic islands were settled, including the Faroes (C. 825 CE; if not earlier, Curtin et al., 2021), Iceland (c. 870 CE) and Greenland (c. 985 CE) with Newfoundland reached shortly after (Fitzhugh 2000).

3.3.2 Maritime Archaic

According to Wallace (1989, 2006, 2012) there is some evidence for a Maritime Archaic occupation at LAM; namely, several disturbed hearths on the upper terrace just east of and partially below Norse House D (Wallace 1989, 2006). Attribution of these hearths to the Maritime Archaic is based upon a single radiocarbon date obtained on charcoal (Wallace 1989), which Wallace (2012) places at approximately 3950 BCE. The use of a single radiocarbon date is evidently problematic, especially given some of the concerns regarding the precision of radiocarbon dates that have been raised at LAM (Ledger et al. 2019b). This date was even totally dismissed by Beaton (2004). Fortunately, several probable Maritime Archaic artifacts were also found across the site, notably a ground stone adze made from green chert considered to be diagnostic of the period (Wallace 1989, 2006).

3.3.3 Groswater Culture

It is thought that the Groswater Palaeo-Inuit culture were at LAM due to the recovery of diagnostic chert artifacts, including high-notched end blades, and more ambiguous lithics from the terrace and across the site—including those found amongst a palimpsest of features from different cultures and periods on the southern shore of Epaves Bay (Wallace 1989, 2012). Attribution of many of the artifacts and features to the Groswater culture is based on radiocarbon dating alone (Wallace 1989, 2012). Several pieces of wood, including the bottom layer of worked wood in the lower bog, have been attributed to them through this method (Wallace 1989), as have a few hearths on the terrace (Wallace 2012), and fireplaces and features on the southern shore (Wallace 1989). Based on this, the Groswater Palaeo-Inuit have been placed at the site between approximately 1000 to 400 BCE (Kristensen and Curtis 2012; Wallace 2005, 2012).

3.3.4 Dorset Culture

According to Wallace (Wallace 1989, 2005) the Dorset Palaeo-Inuit component at LAM is mostly centred around the beach edge on the southern shore of Epaves bay, where a number of tent rings and fireplaces (including axial features) were uncovered (Curtis and Wallace 2008; Wallace 2006). It is thought that their camp was positioned close to the shore to take advantage of the spring harp seal migration (Wallace 1989: 41). In general, the Dorset component is badly disturbed (Wallace 1989), but a number of features indicative of habitation were identified (Wallace 2012). As with the Groswater Palaeo-Inuit, attribution of many of these features to the Dorset culture is based on radiocarbon dating, with stone rings, circular stone concentrations, charcoal patches and

hearth boxes being assigned to them through this method (Wallace 1989). Based on the derived radiocarbon chronology, the Dorset have been interpreted as being at the site from approximately 400 to 800 CE (Wallace 1989, 2006).

The assemblage of Dorset culture artifacts comes from disturbed contexts, which complicates interpretation (Wallace 1989). There are, however, some important diagnostic artifacts recovered from diverse find spots across the site, thus implying wider site usage, including on the settlement terrace (Wallace 2012). Notably, two triangular, tip-fluted end-blades, both made of mottled fine grain chert were uncovered; one in 1976 near Building J and the other in 1963 about 30m to the west of House F (Wallace 1989). A Dorset lamp was also recovered from Building J (Eldjárn 1985; Ingstad 2013), likely having been moved there by later site inhabitants (Wallace 1989: 53).

3.3.5 Cow Head/Early Recent Period Complexes

A Cow Head complex component was also identified at LAM, owing to the presence of diagnostic lithic artifacts, especially large ovate bifaces and associated features (Hartery 2007; Kristensen and Curtis 2012). Notably, two large cooking pits were identified, one on the smithy terrace by the Black Duck Brook (Pit I) and the other (Pit II) northwest of House F on the settlement terrace (Eldjárn 1985). The pits were ascribed to the Cow Head complex through radiocarbon dating (Kristensen and Curtis 2012). However, Pit II did contain debitage made from brown chert considered to be characteristic of the Cow Head complex (Kristensen and Curtis 2012). A nearby feature, interpreted as a knapper's station due to the presence of numerous flakes (Bareis and

Winston 1985), also contained lithics made from the same brown chert as well as six bifaces, which are thought to be Cow Head (Hartery 2007).

There are also a variety of scattered artifacts and features from across the site that are more ambiguous in form, including linear hearths constructed from piles of stones on the southern shore that cannot be assigned to any particular complex and have thus simply been assigned to the earlier part of the Recent Period (Kristensen and Curtis 2012; Wallace 1989, 2012). This is of course an interpretation, based also on radiocarbon dating. Wallace (2012) places the earlier part of Recent Period occupation at the site between approximately 730 and 900 CE.

Site usage during the early Recent Period has been variably interpreted. Hartery (2007) argues that the presence of cooking pits and numerous bifaces would likely indicate that large animals were processed and cooked, and that the site functioned for some period of time as an occupation site. However, Kristensen and Curtis (2012) posit birds were hunted at the site and bifaces and other tools were manufactured for use elsewhere. Given the nebulous nature of the early Recent Period archaeological remains at LAM, it is possible that both interpretations are true.

3.3.6 Norse

At LAM, the documented Norse remains consist of three main clusters of buildings (A-B-C, D-E, F-G), which are aligned in a north-south direction on the building terrace and evenly spaced about 30m apart (Lindsay 1975; Wallace 2005). Each complex consists of a large building (a hall) flanked by a smaller structure or two. Besides this,

there is also the smelter shed (Building J), located on its own terrace by Black Duck Brook (Wallace 2000a). Several depressions on the southern shore were also excavated by Christensen (1985) in 1968 and interpreted as Norse boat sheds; however, these were subsequently found to be natural features formed through erosion during storm events (Schönbäck et al. 1976).

All the Norse structures lacked stone foundations. However, they were built in a sturdy fashion given the available materials—with thick sod walls reinforced with a core of sand, gravel and earth placed on top of a wooden frame (Kay 2012; Wallace 2000a, 2006). The outbuildings were of much simpler construction. Wallace (2006: 51) describes them as "pits with roofs", whereby the fill produced from digging out the pit was thrown up into a high berm, and the roof supported by slender poles. However, Building C was likely built just from sods (Wallace 2006; Kay 2012). It would have taken considerable effort and materials to build them, requiring around 1000 cubic metres of sod for each of the halls, plus many large trees for support posts and smaller branches woven into the rafters to support the sods (Wallace 2000a). The halls (A, D, F) appear to have been built in one episode, as sods in the walls connecting rooms interlock (Kay 2012). The houses are also evenly spaced, and functions are integrated between each, all of which suggests contemporaneity (Wallace 2005: 177). The houses were thought to have been set ablaze at some point (Ingstad 1985: 79; Ingstad 2013: 103), possibly by the Norse upon abandonment (Wallace 2013).

Wallace (2000b) estimated that the entire settlement could have been constructed in two months by 60 individuals, or a month and half by 90 individuals, plus whatever

time it would have taken to cut the sod. Upon completion, the site could likely have housed between 70 to 90 people (Wallace 2000c). Based on the presence of gendered artifacts (especially the spindle whorl and whetstone) the inhabitants would likely have included men and women (Wallace 2003a). According to Wallace (2006) there would also probably have been individuals drawn from different social strata including: elites, their retainers, skilled trades people/commoners and slaves.

Wallace (2005, 2012) interpreted LAM as a gateway site, a logistical waystation, perched on the edge of a broader resource acquisition area. This interpretation is based on the fact that the buildings at the site were constructed in a sturdy fashion, implying yearround occupation; yet there is a lack of archaeologically discernable byres, barns or animal pens as would be expected from a more permanent settlement (Wallace 2000a, 2003a, 2012). According to Wallace (2005), the site would simply have acted as place for crews to overwinter between summer sojourns into the broader Vínland region—Vínland being the name given to the lands mentioned in the Vínland sagas and explored by the Norse, which contained self-sowing wheat and grapes (Ingstad and Ingstad 2001; Kunz and Sigurðsson 2008). Boats would also be repaired at LAM as attested to by the boat repair shed outside of House F (Wallace 2005, 2012). This interpretation might be further contextualized through the lens of Norse *shielings*, out-buildings traditionally associated with the seasonal tending of livestock, but further expanded to encompass different types of sites that do not fit within traditional interpretative schemas of Norse land use (Catlin 2021). For instance, Madsen (2019) has argued that the Greenland Norse used marine

shielings, specialized locations directed towards seafaring and marine resource exploitation, and that LAM might be included within this.

The Norse occupation has been the target of an extensive radiocarbon dating program since the early days of excavation. Despite the large number of radiocarbon dates, a great degree of variation exists within the actual dates themselves. This is now understood to be the result of the use of old wood, dates obtained prior to AMS, and other biases (Kuitems et al. 2021; Ledger et al. 2019b; Wallace 2005, 2012). Despite the spread in dates, the Norse component has been dated to approximately 980-1030 CE (Lewis-Simpson 2020). Many of the dates centre around the year 1000 CE (Wallace 2005), in agreement with the sagas (Ingstad and Ingstad 2001; Kunz and Sigurðsson 2008). A reanalysis of the dates from the site by Ledger et al. (2019b) using Bayesian modelling confirmed that the Norse were likely present at the site around 1000 CE. However, they also discerned that the existing radiocarbon chronology could not, on its own, rule out the possibility of a longer Norse occupation. In fact, their modelling suggested the Norse occupation may have begun between Cal 910–1030 CE and lasted until Cal 1030– 1145 CE, a potential duration of 195 years (Ledger et al. 2019b: 15432). Recent high precision chronological modelling has also discerned that the Norse were present there during the year 1021 CE (Kuitems et al. 2021). Based on the small size of the middens present, the supposed dearth of vegetation disturbance and the lack of a church or graveyard, Wallace (2003a; 2006) felt that the site was only occupied a short while by the Norse, and recent studies (Kuitems et al. 2021; Ledger et al. 2019b) are in agreement with this interpretation

3.3.7 Later Recent Period Complexes

There are thought to be a number of later Recent Period features, artifacts and activity areas at LAM (Kristensen and Curtis 2012; Wallace 2012). Due to ambiguities, archaeologists have generally resisted assigning these to the Beaches or Little Passage complexes. Hull (2002) has also posited that the broader Strait of Belle Isle region was a shared interaction sphere during this time, with a blending of traits seen amongst cultures on the Quebec Lower North Shore, Labrador and the Northern Peninsula (Hull 2002). Therefore, the later Indigenous archaeology at the site might simply be attributed to the later Recent Period (*sensu* Kirstensen and Curtis 2011) with an understanding that it relates to peoples ancestral to the historic Beothuk and Innu (Wallace 2006).

As is the case with much of the other archaeological remains at the site, cultural attribution of some features to the later Recent Period has been made based on radiocarbon dating. Certain features have also been assigned to the later Recent Period by stratigraphic association or similarity in form. For instance, several hearths in House D overlying the Norse layer were attributed to later Recent Period occupation, in this manner (Eldjárn 1985; Petré 1985; Wallace 1989). Wallace (1989) also speculated some of the hearth features from the palimpsest on the southern shore could date to this time (Wallace 1989).

Amongst the features attributed to the later Recent Period at LAM are a number of probable habitation structures—including what has been interpreted as a tent or hut floor around 30m west of House F (Wallace 1989). A hearth within this feature contained a piece of oak charcoal, and it has been suggested that the oak came from barrel staves

from the whaling station at Red Bay, Labrador (Wallace 2006). The date assigning this feature to the later Recent Period is somewhat suspect since it was obtained on mixed charcoal (Wallace 1989). A feature (Operation 60) consisting of a series of humps forming a low ridge with three associated postholes about 5m east of House D, and attributed to the later Recent Period (Wallace 1989), has been interpreted as the potential remains of a wigwam or *mamateek* (Wallace 1989, 2006). Operation 60 is located in proximity to where archaeological work was undertaken in the bog in 2018 and 2019 (Forbes et al. 2022; Ledger et al. 2019b).

There are a number of hearths across the site that contain Norse boat nails (Curtis 2011; Kristensen and Renouf 2009; Wallace 2003b), which has been interpreted as indicating the scavenging of wood (that had been used by the Norse for building structures or boats) for fuel and, therefore, the Indigenous use of the site quite soon after Norse abandonment (Curtis 2011; Holly 2013). A side-notched projectile point lodged in the wall of Hall A was also interpreted as being shot there by the same, or a related, group of people (Wallace 2006, 1989). However, it may have ended up in the wall through variable means, including as an inadvertent inclusion in cut sod (for examples of such instances see Auger 1993; Knecht and Jordan 1985; Milek 2006).

There is also probable evidence for later Recent Period use of the lower peat bog. A layer of worked wood was attributed to this time period through radiocarbon dating and based on its stratigraphic position, as well as a nearby pile of twigs (Wallace 1989, 2006). Interestingly, many of the contexts interpreted as being from this period have yielded bird bones including goose/duck, cormorant, and black guillemot as well as bear and other

mammals (Wallace 1989, 2006). Wallace (2012) places the later Recent Period peoples at the site between approximately 1200 and 1600 CE.

3.3.8 Later Site Inhabitants

Permanent Euro-Canadian settlement at the village of LAM dates from at least the early 1800s (Ingstad 2013; Wallace 2012). There was also a historically attested occupation by Innu from Labrador who stayed there on a yearly basis; however, there is no definite archaeological evidence of this (Wallace 2006). Inuit are also known from historical documents to have visited the Northern Peninsula during the 17th to 18th centuries (Pope 2015).

3.4 Palaeoecology

3.4.1 Brief History of Research

Over the years there have been a wide range of projects that have analyzed environmental data from the site and employed a diversity of specialists from various disciplines. Much of this work was carried out in the 1970s and later by Parks Canada, but some began early in the research program. Notably, there have been a few important palaeoecological studies using plants (mostly microfossils). Kari Henningsmoen (1985) conducted palynological research as a member of the Ingstad expedition in the 1960s. The goal of her work was to discern Norse impact, but in practice took the form of a much broader palaeoecological landscape reconstruction, as she tested diverse areas mostly at some distance from the Norse site itself—including both peatlands and ponds. Mott (1975) also conducted palynological work at the site, with a focus on the lower bog area. Davis and McAndrews (1978) undertook a palynological study of three monolith cores from the lower bog with the goal of reconstructing the local vegetation over the last 2500 years. Further palynology was done by Davis (1985). Davis et al. (1988) then retested the lower bog, undertaking palynological research on cores retrieved from this area—with the goal of refining an understanding of human-environmental impacts.

Macrofossils have not been studied in a high temporal resolution way at the site before, (i.e., through employing small increment subsamples to discern palaeoecological processes on a finer scale sensu Joosten and de Klerk 2007). However, Kuc (1975) did make some use of macrofossils in his work on discerning biostratigraphic trends in the lower bog-analyzing a massive amount of material in the process-by gluing some dried macrofossils to boards to recreate the monoliths they came from and microscopically analyzing others. He then produced highly detailed but rather confusing diagrams reconstructing and defining the biostratigraphy and lithology in the lower bog, on both the horizontal and vertical planes. Robertson (1978) also analyzed macrofossils (in the closest fashion to this thesis) in his botanical-chemical analysis of the lower sedge bog. He broke the macroremain assemblages into broad categories, which were ultimately assigned to two soil groups (feno-fibrisols and silvo-fibrosols) based on the 1972 Canadian soil classification system. This was further supplemented with chemical testing, with the goal of discerning successional trends and anthropogenic influence. Additionally, palaeoethnobotanical analysis was conducted by Mike Deal and students from MUNL on soil samples obtained in 2008 from the site (Marche and Wilson 2008).

There have also been a wide range of palaeoenvironmental studies undertaken by Parks Canada, including on ecofacts and worked and unworked wood from the bog, but also geological, chemical, biological and faunal studies, among others. These are too numerous to list and summarize here but can be found listed in Wallace (2000), with much of the work summarized in Gimbarzevsky (1977). Later analyses have also tried to discern how LAM might be impacted by rising sea levels and erosion due to climate change (e.g., Pollard-Belsheim et al. 2014; Westley et al. 2011).

3.4.2 Summary of Key Findings and Re-Evaluation in Light of Advances in North Atlantic Palaeoecology

Prior palaeoecological work at the site, mostly of a palynological nature, failed to discern any major anthropogenic impacts upon vegetation or site ecology (Bell et al. 2000). Speaking about the Norse, Davis et al. (1988: 62) stated, "The pollen record indicates no large scale or long-term impact on the local and regional vegetation." Likewise, Henningsmoen (1985: 348) found no *landnám* signal, such as in Greenland or Iceland, and stated, "Obviously the Norse settlement was too small and short lived to leave its mark on the vegetation." Henningsmoen's assessment was based on a number of pollen diagrams constructed from cores taken at various locations at the site and its environs, including the same bog where samples analyzed for this thesis came from. One of these sampling points was a good distance away (in the centre of the so-called *palsa* bog); however, one was much closer (30m east of House F). Despite being close to the settlement terrace, Henningsmoen (1985) employed a very low temporal resolution in her work, averaging around 10cm per sample. It is unsurprising then that no Norse signal was

discerned. Not enough samples were analyzed to pick out any subtleties within the profile, and charcoal was all but missed or ignored, as was common for the time. Similarly, Davis et al. (1988) did not quantify charcoal either, instead relying on radiocarbon dates taken on bulk peat (which as noted can confound results) to correlate biostratigraphic layers with cultures. However, they did have the benefit of a layer of worked wood, which they attributed to the Norse. While Davis et al. (1988) appear to have employed a finer resolution analysis than Henningsmoen (1985), their study was ultimately compromised by choosing to look at the lower bog. By their own admission, this area "is subject to ... occasional flooding by Black Duck Brook" (Davis et al. 1988: 56), which probably would have been even more prevalent in the past before extensive peat buildup. This is significant because it likely indicates the influx of secondary pollen from the catchment, which became mixed with local pollen, confusing the signal—giving an indication of the broader environment rather than localized trends. It is unfortunate that other palaeoecological studies have also focused on this area (e.g., Davis 1985; Mott 1975). Furthermore, Davis et al. (1988) and Henningsmoen (1985) both searched for European introductions and major shifts in plant abundance, which turned out to be elusive targets.

Macrofossil analysis is generally well suited to understanding *in situ* succession and disturbance as it directly studies the remains of plants that lived and died on the bog (Birks and Birks 2000). It is notable, then, that no one has undertaken a macrofossil study of the upper bog prior to this one. The macrofossil analyses undertaken on the lower bog (Kuc 1975; Robertson 1978) are also of a much lower resolution, despite studying multiple monoliths and using bigger sample volumes (over 1000 pounds of wet material in Kuc's case). Both Kuc (1975) and Robertson (1978) were focused on landscape-scale reconstructions using coarse-grained methodologies, which were in keeping with the standards of the time. Given when they were conducted, neither of these studies had the benefit of age-depth modelling (Bayliss et al. 2007). Instead, both studies made use of a handful of dates on dispersed deposits, obtained either by themselves or others, to make chronological estimates of peat formation. Charcoal, if present, was also not considered and, therefore, successional changes could not be correlated with anthropogenic events (although, Robertson 1978 does make some interpretations on the Norse use of the bog).

Unfortunately, the upper bog as a site of activity has been mostly overlooked until recently. If a detailed macrofossil analysis targeting this area had been applied before, there surely would have been a prior recognition of how the bog ecology shifted in response to people. Furthermore, most Indigenous influence on the site environment has been overlooked in the past. Admittedly, it is only recently that there has been widespread recognition of a hunter-gatherer (i.e., Indigenous) impact on local ecology (e.g., Ledger 2018; Lightfoot et al. 2013; Loughlin et al. 2018), but it is now apparent that Indigenous peoples have had an influence upon many if not all ecosystems, especially if such impacts were long term. Their presence may even result in increases in biodiversity (Oberndorfer et al. 2020). As discussed in chapter 2, Indigenous peoples treated peat bogs as components of the cultural landscape, living on, utilizing, and influencing these environments in the process (Speller and Forbes 2022). Therefore, Indigenous peoples

must rightly be considered as active agents of influence on the landscape at LAM, just as much as the Norse.

3.4.3 Overview of Ongoing Research

The ongoing research at LAM initially began as a post-doctoral research project undertaken by Paul Ledger, in association with Edward Schofield, Kevin Edwards and Birgitta Wallace. The initial goal was to study pre- and post-Norse period landscape changes at LAM, and contextualize it within the results of recent palaeoecological research undertaken on the North Atlantic Islands (Edwards et al. 2012; Ledger et al. 2013, 2014, 2015, 2017; Schofield et al. 2013; Schofield and Edwards 2011). During summer 2018, small-scale fieldwork targeting the upper peat bog at the site was undertaken by Paul Ledger, Véronique Forbes and Linus Girdland-Flink, with the goal to retrieve samples for palaeoenvironmental analysis (pollen, non-pollen palynomorph, plant macrofossil and insect). One trench (4A800B) was excavated (Ledger et al. 2019b). During the digging of this trench a compressed layer containing laminated surfaces, charred materials, insects, wood and patches of charcoal was inadvertently encountered. It was initially suspected that this was a Norse landnám layer, similar to those on other Norse sites in the North Atlantic and relating to the first period of settlement (Ledger et al. 2018). However, subsequent radiometric dating of the layer showed that it was actually deposited between the 12th to 13th centuries and could, therefore, potentially be associated with a later Indigenous site use (Ledger et al. 2019b). Water ingress into the unit, and the unexpectedness of this discovery, hampered detailed investigation in 2018, but it was clear that the layer would need to be investigated further (Ledger et al. 2018).

Due to the discovery of the layer, an expanded research program began in 2019 that was more archaeologically focused, but also integrated researchers from diverse backgrounds and using varied methodologies to better understand both the archaeology and the environment at the site. These include: geoarchaeology/micromorphology, palynology, archaeobotany, archaeoentomology, geophysics, tephrochronology, aDNA, among others. Fieldwork, including both archaeological excavation and sampling were also undertaken in 2019, headed by Véronique Forbes (PI). The goals of the 2019 field season were to investigate the extent of the new cultural horizon identified in 2018 and collect peat samples for paleoenvironmental analysis (Forbes et al. 2022). Five 1m x 1m units were opened in the upper bog area: 4A800B, 4A800D, 4A800E, 4A800F and 4A800G. The work in 2019 established that the cultural layer encountered in 2018 was not very thick, and that it extended northward and eastward (as shown by excavations in these areas) but that it was not present to the south or west (Forbes et al. 2022).

Beginning in 2020, the project was yet again expanded when the Biocultural and Archaeological Legacies at L'Anse aux Meadows (BALL) Project received funding from SSHRC. Unfortunately, fieldwork planned for the summer of 2020 had to be cancelled due to the COVID-19 Pandemic. However, outreach and experiential survey work was undertaken in 2021. Further work is planned from 2022 onwards, and the results presented in this thesis informed the planning of the 2022 field season.

Chapter 4. Analysis of Plant Macrofossils from Monolith 4A800B3-6

4.1 Methodology

4.1.1 Fieldwork and Sampling

The monolith (4A800B3-6) that this study is based upon was obtained during the August 2019 field season at LAM from Unit 4A800B (Forbes et al. 2022). The monolith captured the peat strata from 22cm to 62cm below ground level (bgl). The monolith tin itself consisted of a stainless steel box, which was hammered into the profile and carefully extracted using a cake knife, spade and trowel (Forbes et al. 2022). Following field extraction, the monolith was transported back to St. John's and kept in refrigerated storage in the Archaeology Department at Queen's College, Memorial University.

Monolith 4A800B3-6 was subsampled in the Palaeoecology, Environmental Archaeology and Timescales (PEAT) Laboratory by Paul Ledger. A single, contiguous 1cm increment sample was taken from between 23cm and 24cm bgl. The rest of the tin was sampled in half centimetre increments from the top (22cm bgl) to the bottom (62cm bgl), in order to obtain peat samples in known stratigraphic order for subsequent palaeoenvironmental and chronological analyses. Samples were obtained with the aid of a ruler, cake knife, and scalpels and were placed into labelled plastic bags. The monolith was also photographed in the lab prior to sampling (fig 3).



Figure 3. 4A800B3-6 monolith in the lab prior to sampling. Sample was extracted from the left side. Image by Paul Ledger.

4.1.2 Plant Macrofossil Analysis

Plant macrofossil analysis was performed following the method laid out by Mauquoy et al. (2010). For each sample analyzed, 3ml of peat was used. This was measured through volumetric displacement using a 25ml graduated cylinder. Following this, the contents of the cylinder were poured into a lab beaker and disaggregated by adding a small amount of a solution composed of 2% Sodium Hydroxide (NaOH) and water. This mixture was left underneath a fume hood for 10 minutes, which allowed the mildly caustic NaOH to break apart the intertwined peat. The resulting mixture was poured through a fine mesh (125 μ m) screen and washed under cold tap water in order to
separate the discarded fine section (micro-remains and sediment) from the retained coarse section (macroremains, charcoal and mineral grains). The material that remained in the screen was placed into a labelled pot with some tap water. The process was repeated until disaggregated material had been acquired from every selected sample.

Abundance counting of plant macrofossils was performed following the quadrat method outlined by Barber et al. (2004). For this stage of analysis, using a plastic pipette, a small amount of material was placed in a shallow glass petri dish (enough to allow one to see the constituent parts of the sample). A Colusa Science brand grid reticle (10mm total, 100 SQ., 1mm per square, 25mm diameter) was placed in the right eyepiece of a Nikon SMZ800N stereomicroscope, so that the field of vision was divided into 100 squares of equal size (1mm x 1mm) contained within a 10mm x 10mm square. A location within the petri dish was randomly selected as a starting point. Using the reticle grid as a sampling area or quadrat, all the plant macrofossils contained within it were counted. The number of voids or empty squares was noted as well. This process was repeated ten times for each petri dish, in order to give an averaged count. An Excel spreadsheet was used to record the count information. The totals for each category were then tallied in order to obtain an average across the ten subsamples. At this point, given that they had no interpretive value, the voids were corrected for, to remove them and proportionately increase all the other categories. If this was done correctly, the sum of all the categories would equal 1000. Each spreadsheet was kept separate at this stage in preparation for combination into a master spreadsheet later on.

Plant identifications were made by making comparisons against a reference collection containing common subarctic flora, which had partly been collected locally in Newfoundland by myself and partly in Alaska by Paul Ledger. Several published sources were also used to make identifications, including: Birks 2007, Lévesque et al. 1988, and Mauquoy and Van Geel 2007. Using this methodology, it was sometimes possible to make identifications down to the family or even species level. However, given the overarching goal of discerning trends in local ecological change through time, it was deemed adequate initially to identify to order level. For this reason, high-ranking taxonomic categories such as "monocots," "Ericales," and "brown moss" were used. However, where distinct species were identifiable, these were noted during the counting process and added into the Excel spreadsheet as necessary.

Once the ten abundance counts had been done, peculiar, enigmatic, or notably abundant macroremains were also pulled out and set aside for later detailed analysis when time could be devoted to their identification. The results of these identifications were not added into the abundance data but were instead kept separate and noted as a simple *presence* where these materials occurred. Seeds and fungal sclerotia were also pulled out, set aside and identified using the Digital Seed Atlas of the Netherlands (Digital Plant Atlas 2021). The counts for these were included in the final diagram, listed by the number of individuals. The entire pot from which each sample was drawn was visually sorted through to make sure that any and all plant macroremains of interest were captured, as well as charcoal.

4.1.3 Charcoal and Sediment Analysis

Charcoal, which was usually first apparent during the initial count, was counted for abundance per size class (<0.5mm, 0.5-1mm, 1-1.5mm, 1.5-2mm, >2mm), per number of individuals within each of those classes. Count information was recorded on paper to facilitate ease of recording and then later transferred onto the same Excel spreadsheet as the plant macrofossil abundance information. The number of charcoal pieces per millilitre was calculated by dividing the number of pieces of charcoal in each size category by three. Charcoal peaks, where they occurred were presumed to indicate a human presence.

Where they were present, mineral grains were also counted by number of individuals; however, no formal effort was made to measure their size. Mineral grain information was also tallied to allow comparison across the profile and against loss on ignition (LOI), which was calculated by taking sequential, weighed peat samples at half centimetre increments and burning them to determine the percentage of organics and carbonates (Dean 1974). The plant macroremains and associated materials (including insects) from the sorted pots was retained for later archaeoentomological analysis by Véronique Forbes.

4.1.4 Numerical Analysis

Once all the macroremain counts had been done, all the separate, completed Excel count sheets were combined into a final Excel spreadsheet. The counts were double checked and the totals out of 1000 were converted to a percentage out of 100 for each

category within a sample. This information was then exported into Tilia/TGView software (Grimm 1993, 2013), which was used to make a final percentage/summary diagram. Constrained incremental sums of squares cluster analysis (CONISS) (Grimm 1987) was then applied in the plant macroremain dataset to discern biostratigraphic zones.

4.1.5 Radiocarbon Dating and Age-Depth Modelling

While several radiocarbon dates had already been obtained for 4A800B3-6, further dates were necessary to refine the chronological sequence. Therefore, a series of samples from between 23cm to 50cm bgl were visually surveyed to discern the degree of *Sphagnum* present—*Sphagnum* being preferable for radiocarbon dating due to its short lifespan and presumed non-movement within the profile (Nilsson et al. 2001; Rydin and Jeglum 2013). No samples were surveyed below 50cm bgl due to the visible degree of humification, which signalled the unlikelihood that any datable *Sphagnum* would be obtained from these levels.

The selected samples (23cm – 50cm bgl) were disaggregated, washed and stored in pots following the same method described above and outlined by Mauquoy et al. (2010). The only difference being that a random amount of peat was used, as volume standardization was not necessary. Ten samples were selected for their abundance of *Sphagnum*: 23-24, 25-25.5, 26.5-27, 31.5-32, 32-32.5, 32.5-33.0, 33.5-34.0, 34.5-35.0, 36.0-36.5, 37.5-38cm bgl. Each of these samples was then sorted through under magnification, using forceps to obtain *Sphagnum* leaves and branches for dating purposes. Given the imperative to keep these samples clean, in order to derive accurate radiocarbon dates, scrupulous cleanliness principles were observed. Using plastic

pipettes, the extracted *Sphagnum* leaves and branches (100 mg by weight) were placed in plastic vials, which were then sent to the Lalonde AMS facility in Ottawa, Canada for radiocarbon dating.

All received radiocarbon dates were calibrated with OXCAL 4.4 calibration software (Ramsey 2009), using the IntCal20 calibration curve (Reimer et al. 2020). The chronology was also refined further through Bayesian modelling using *Bacon* software (Blaauw and Christen 2013). Through this, an age-depth model was produced for 4A800B3-6.

4.2 Results and Interpretation

4.2.1 Lithostratigraphy

LOI values are generally high throughout, displaying a trend of increasing upwards through time (fig 4). Between 24.0cm and 38.0cm bgl, they never fall below 97% percent and are generally higher (>98%). Lower down, between 38.0cm and 47.50cm bgl, they range from >94% to >99%, with a general trend of decreasing downwards slightly. The lowest LOI value (<92%) occurs at 38.75cm bgl.

Mineral grains were also counted during analysis and tallied for each layer that was analyzed (fig 4). Predictably, there is a correlation between an increase in the number of mineral grains and lower LOI values (i.e., the lowest LOI value corresponds with the highest mineral grain value). It is tempting to associate the high values of mineral grains and LOI low values directly with humans, and indeed this may be the case as grains might be tracked into the bog on feet or brought in other ways. Certainly, low LOI values

are associated with anthropogenic erosion (Edwards et al. 2008), which has been associated with the Norse in Greenland (Fredskild 1992). However, it is also possible that there is a natural origin for the large mineral grains in the bog as they also occur in great abundance at the base of the section analyzed (101 grains in 47.25cm bgl and 28 grains in 46.75cm bgl, respectively). One possibility is that these grains were carried into the bog as a result of flooding, which can deposit natural silt and sand in peat bogs (Szopa et al. 2020). Henningsmoen (1985) speculated that the sand which had accrued in House A was the result of flooding of the Black Duck Brook, and there is even evidence that the Norse may have built a wall to try and prevent water incursion onto the terrace (Ingstad 1985: 191). Indeed, it is possible that humans had a hand in initiating this hypothesized flooding as deforestation can result in increased freshets (Cronon 2011). Peat cutting for sods could also have altered the bog's hydrology and increased erosion potential. However, it might be considered that natural cycles of flooding periodically charged the upper bog area with freshwater and sediment. The grains may also have been deposited as a result of extremely severe marine storms (Hotes et al. 2001), potentially having an aeolian origin (Vandel et al. 2019). Henningsmoen (1985) observed that there was sand in many of the house sods and underlying the walls, so there was certainly some sand around nearby. This is, of course, all quite speculative but could be explored in more depth using other proxies and sedimentological analysis.



Figure 4. Loss on Ignition, lithology and sedimentary data.

4.2.2 Charcoal

Charcoal has long been used as an important and interpretable indicator of fire where it occurs in sedimentary deposits (Mooney and Tinner 2011). Where defined charcoal layers occur, they can be considered indicative of fire events and separable from the regular influx of background charcoal. However, inputs of charcoal may continue for some time after a fire event (Whitlock and Millspaugh 1996). There is some debate regarding the size class threshold for discerning localized fires (Cui et al. 2020). Largescale conflagrations can send macrocharcoal 5 km or more (Tinner et al. 2006) through being transported by thermal buoyancy associated with the smoke plume (Fisher 2020; Pisaric 2002). Microcharcoal (c. $10-200 \mu m$), owing to its small size, can be borne by wind for incredibly long distances, even up to thousands of kilometres (Conedera et al. 2009). However, it is usually useful in discerning fire events at the regional scale of 20-100 km (Mooney and Tinner 2011). Generally speaking, macroscopic charcoal, like the plant macrofossils to which it has an affinity, will not be transported far from its point of origin (Birks 2002; Pisaric 2002). Studies that look at the distribution of charcoal from documented fires have discerned that macroscopic charcoal (c. >100-200 µm) will usually only be deposited within a few hundred metres (Clark and Royall 1995; Conedera et al. 2009 Pitkänen et al. 1999; Whitlock and Millspaugh 1996). For this reason, macroscopic charcoal is useful for discerning fire events at the local scale. Mooney and Maltby (2006) found that charcoal particles over 250 µm should reflect fire at small spatial scales. Indeed, large charcoal fragments (>1-2mm) generally derive from an area of a few hundred to a few thousand square metres in size (Conedera et al. 2009; Tinner et al. 2006). Peatlands act as important repositories of charcoal, and macroscopic charcoal layers in peat bogs can generally be considered indicative of *in situ* or nearby fire activity (Pitkänen et al. 2001; Sillasoo et al. 2011; Zaccone et al. 2014). Importantly, charcoal layers in peat can often be linked with human activity by employing multiple lines of evidence (Bal et al. 2011). As is argued below, the charcoal deposits that occur in the peat sequence can be seen to be linked with a human presence in the area, and likely on the bog itself, and therefore with disturbance.

There are three major charcoal peaks. These peaks are easily separable from the irregular occurrence of background charcoal—sporadic, small pieces (<1mm) of macrocharcoal—as they occur as significant contiguous concentrations within the monolith. Unlike individual pieces of background charcoal, which may be redeposited long after a fire event or be carried some distance by wind or water (Whitlock and Millspaugh 1996), the charcoal concentrations (peaks) are interpreted as representing localized fire activity, either on the bog surface or nearby as they contain large pieces, in concentration, which cannot travel far (Finsinger et al. 2014). The nature of these fires and their disturbance impacts are greatly expanded upon in chapter 5. While it is certainly possible that these concentrations result from natural fires (i.e., forest fires) in the catchment area, as natural fires can produce similar charcoal concentrations (Kuhry 1994), it is unlikely. The assignment of a cultural origin for these peaks rests squarely on several lines of evidence. The area from which the monolith was obtained (4A800B) was excavated in 2018 and then again in 2019, during which time a cultural layer (4A800B7) consisting of "finely laminated...apparently trampled surfaces containing charcoal, wood debitage, and charred plant remains" was identified (Ledger et al. 2019b:15341). Below this was a "poorly humified peat deposit of laminated structure, containing occasional charcoal and frequent twigs and rootlets oriented horizontally" (Forbes et al. 2022: 9), indicating trampling. It is not possible to say what caused this trampling; however, such lamination of deposits as observed in the field would not happen in natural peat. For this reason, the excavators confidently term 4A800B7 a "cultural deposit" (Forbes et al. 2022: 9) and have published on it as such (Ledger et al. 2019b). The charcoal peaks are not separate from but instead correlate with the trampled deposits identified in the field

(Forbes et al. 2022). This suggests an anthropogenic origin for the peaks. Furthermore, while this thesis focuses exclusively on the plant macrofossils data, this interpretation is supported by the study of pollen and associated proxies and beetle remains from the same samples. These analyses are currently underway but almost complete, and the results of the plant macrofossil analyses will be integrated with them in a future publication.

The lowermost charcoal deposit, which is termed the Lower Charcoal Peak, occurs between 43.75cm bgl and 46.25cm bgl, with the greatest concentration between 44.25cm bgl and 44.75cm bgl. There is a very small amount of charcoal below this. It is possible, but unlikely, that the Lower Charcoal Peak represents *in situ* fire activity.

The middle charcoal deposit, called the Middle Charcoal Peak, extends from 39.25cm bgl to 40.75cm bgl, with the greatest concentration of charcoal between 39.75cm bgl and 40.25cm bgl. There are also minor amounts of charcoal between the two lower peaks (except for 41.75cm bgl and 42.75cm bgl where there is none). Given the intensive usage of the site (Kristensen and Curtis 2012) some of this charcoal is surely the result of fires elsewhere, having been deposited in the bog through being carried there by wind or runoff. It is possible that charcoal may have migrated upwards or downwards in the profile as well. Charcoal may also have been deposited some years after fire events elsewhere in the catchment area (Whitlock and Millspaugh 1996). There is no charcoal above 39.25cm bgl until the uppermost peak in the sequence. It is thought that the Middle Charcoal Peak represents *in situ* fire activity.

The top charcoal peak is referred to as the Upper Charcoal Peak and extends across one contiguous centimetre (98 pieces total of macrocharcoal in 32.75cm bgl and 16

total in 32.25cm bgl). This peak contains much less charcoal than those below it. However, no samples were analyzed for one centimetre underneath, so the charcoal may extend lower (with potential implications for the understanding of shifts in bog ecology as well). It is possible, but probably unlikely, that the Upper Charcoal Peak represents *in situ* fire activity.

Due to the nature of these deposits and their ambiguous relationship with the cultural chronology of the site (that based on previous work and described in section 3.3), the charcoal peaks have not immediately been assigned to particular cultural groups. Instead, they are simply referred to by their Lower, Middle and Upper Charcoal Peak monikers below. However, the potential relationship of these peaks to specific cultural groups, the anthropogenic use of fire, and *in situ* fire activity is discussed in chapter 5. Age-depth modelling of radiocarbon data was also used to discern approximate time of deposition of the charcoal concentrations, which is described directly below.

4.2.3 Chronology

The results of radiocarbon dating are presented in table 1. All dates fall within the last two millennia and, therefore, within the "CE" range. Overall, the results appear to demonstrate an accurate time series. Only one date demonstrates a potential reversal, 34.5-35cm (UOC-14541; cal 890-1020 AD). However, the range for this date does overlap with those above and below, and it may be that it is not congruent at 95.4% probability. For this reason, it has not been excluded. As noted, sampling depths were chosen for the abundance of datable material and not for association with charcoal peaks (which are believed to be cultural). Therefore, since abundant *Sphagnum* was available in

association with the Upper Charcoal Peak, several dates were taken for it—securely dating it. The Middle Charcoal Peak could not be directly dated; however, one date, 37.5-38.0cm (UOC-14543; cal 1028 to 1198 AD), sits directly above it. Similarly, no dateable material was found in direct association with the Lower Charcoal Peak. While this is not ideal, enough dates exist for the profile to give an idea of the chronostratigraphic position of the deposits of interest and provide a secure time sequence.

Bayesian age-depth modelling using *Bacon* (Blaauw and Christen 2013) was used to further refine the chronology (fig 5). Estimates (95.4% probability) were also produced for the ages of the sediment in 1cm increments between 34cm bgl and 45cm bgl (table 2). Included within this range is the Middle Charcoal Peak (39.25cm to 40.75cm bgl) as well as the main (highest concentration) part of the Lower Charcoal Peak (44.0cm to 45.0cm bgl).

Depth	Lab code	Material	14C	Error $(\pm 1\sigma)$	Cal AD $(2\pm\sigma)$
(cm)			year BP		
23.0-24.0	UOC-14534	Sphagnum	595	36	1299 - 1414
25.0-25.5	UOC-14535	Sphagnum	502	46	1321 - 1471
25.5-26.0	UOC-11524	?	593	23	1305 - 1407
26.5-27.0	UOC-14536	Sphagnum	572	42	1301 - 1430
31.5-32.0	UOC-14537	Sphagnum	925	33	1033 - 1208
32.0-32.5	UOC-14538	Sphagnum	898	40	1040 - 1220
32.5-33.0	UOC-14539	Sphagnum	873	42	1044 - 1263
33.5-34.0	UOC-14540	Sphagnum	895	32	1042 - 1221
34.5-35.0	UOC-14541	Sphagnum	1090	32	890 - 1020
36.0-36.5	UOC-14542	Sphagnum	1002	33	991 – 1157
37.5-38	UOC-14543	Sphagnum	938	33	1028 - 1198
55.0-56.0	UOC-11525	Bark fragments, <i>E. nigrum</i> twigs	1742	25	245 - 401
58.5-60.0	UOC-11526	<i>Sphagnum,</i> bark, <i>E.</i> <i>nigrum</i> leaf frags	1801	22	210-330

Table 1. Radiocarbon dates from 4A800B3-6



Figure 5. Age-depth model for 4A800B3-6. The grey shaded area represents all possible age-depth models, and the dotted lines indicate the possible age range at 95.4% probability. The darker areas indicate increased certainty, and the dashed red line indicates the weighted mean of the model.

Depth (cm)	Oldest	Median	Mean	Youngest
34	1021	1106	1103	1159
35	966	1071	1066	1135
36	957	1059	1051	1110
37	944	1046	1037	1090
38	925	1032	1022	1074
39	904	1018	1007	1065
40	884	1005	992	1058
41	845	971	965	1036
42	802	939	937	1022
43	764	914	910	1011
44	709	890	882	1001
45	639	868	855	994

Table 2. 95.4% probability estimates of select sediment ages in 4A800B3-6.

4.2.4 Plant Macrofossil Analysis

Within this section plant macrofossils are described by abundance and organized by zone and subzone (as identified by CONISS), beginning at the bottom of the profile and moving upwards. CONISS revealed four distinct Zones (1, 2, 3, 4). Zone 1 extends from 47.5cm bgl to 38.0cm bgl. It is divided into two subzones: 1A (47.5cm bgl to 42.5cm bgl) and 1B (42.5cm bgl to 38.0cm bgl). Above this are Zone 2 (38.0cm bgl to 33.5cm bgl), Zone 3 (33.5cm bgl to 27.25cm bgl), and Zone 4 (26.5cm bgl to 24.0cm bgl). Interpretation is also given on what the presence (and preservation condition) of particular plant macrofossils implies about the succession history of the bog area, and disturbance. Images are provided for pertinent plant macrofossils in order to show what they look like. The overview of all plant macrofossils identified in monolith 4A800B3-6 is shown directly below in the summary diagram (fig 6).



Figure 6. Summary diagram showing plant macrossil and charcoal abundance.

4.2.4.1 Zone 1

Zone 1 (47.5cm bgl to 38.0cm bgl) consists of a relatively to considerably humified monocot peat containing Ericales and woody plant remains in variable quantities. It also contains the Lower and Middle Charcoal Peaks. Zone 1 might be classified as a fen peat (monocots with woody plants). Given the relative similarity between subzones 1A and 1B, they will be described as one lithostratigraphic unit with reference to specific features, events, and changes.

Zone 1 is characterized by the presence of monocots (fig 7a), with a greater abundance lower down and a general decrease in abundance going upwards. In 1A they are especially prevalent (33.6% to 73.4% per sample). There is a reduction in 1B (3.5% to 56.8% per sample), but they are still quite common. Plant macroremains belonging to the sedge genus Carex (Lévesque et al. 1988) were identified throughout Zone 1, but not above (fig 7b). One *Carex* seed was identified from 47.25cm bgl (fig 7c). A translucent elongated celled tissue (figs 7d, 8) that was abundant in this zone but could not be identified, may be a monocotyledon as well. Prevalent monocots, and especially sedges, are often indicative of fen environments (Bauer and Vitt 2011; Väliranta et al. 2017). Compared to bog peats, fen peats are often more decomposed due to differing ecohydrological conditions and more effective humification processes (Ronkainen et al. 2014). Accordingly, Zone 1 displays a relatively high degree of humification as shown through abundant unidentifiable organic matter (UOM), which demonstrates a general trend of increasing abundance upwards through time (up to 40.25cm bgl, after which point it plateaus and then decreases rapidly). Within 1A, UOM varies between 9.2% to

38.4% per sample. In 1B, there is an overall increase in UOM (12.2% to 66.7% per sample). Beyond an autogenic (internally stimulated) origin, some of the UOM may stem from anthropogenically-mediated processes related to the two periods of occupation within this zone (see discussion). The presence of high UOM, abundant monocots and Ericales can be equated with drier conditions (Barber et al. 2003). Henningsmoen (1985) also interpreted the lower sections of this bog as being more minerotrophic indicating a fen, albeit at greater depth and thus age.



Figure 7. (a) Monocot sheath x20. (b) *Carex* rhizome x10.5. (c) *Carex* seed x10.5. (d) Unidentified, elongated-celled tissue x30.



Figure 8. Elongated-celled tissue under light microscope (x200).

Woody plants occur throughout Zone 1. Wood/bark from woody plants is slightly more abundant in subzone 1A (1.8% to 12.4%) than 1B (0.4% to 3.6%). However, when all categories of woody plant macrofossils (bark, leaves, rootlets etc.) are added together, they are more prevalent in 1B. Regardless, they are present throughout, showing that woody shrubs were a consistent feature of the fen. Interestingly, the abundance of Ericales/woody plant rootlets appears relatively uniform throughout (5.1% to 30.7%). However, Ericales/woody plant rootlets abundance spikes twice, first at 42.25cm bgl (53%) and then again at 38.25cm bgl (74%). Each spike occurs above a large charcoal peak thought to be associated with human site occupation. Increases in Ericales (which constitute the bulk of the rootlets category) have been observed elsewhere post-fire disturbance (Boiffin et al. 2015; Pearson 2001) and may also be correlated with surface dryness (Hall and Mauquoy 2005). However, since some vascular plants can root deeply in bogs (Rydin and Jeglum 2013), some of these rootlets may also be related to plants growing above.

There is an increase in particular woody plant taxa in 1B. *Vaccinium* (unidentified leaves and stems) go from occurring in one sample (0.5%) in 1A to 5 out of 9 samples (0.3% to 1.1%) in 1B. *Vaccinium oxycoccos* (wood) also becomes slightly more prevalent—but is still rare (fig 9a). There is also an exponential increase in *Myrica gale* (figs 9b, 9c), from (0.1% to 0.3%) in three samples in 1A, to (3.0% to 21.9%) in four samples in 1B. This may be related to a shift in wetness at this time since *M. gale* often occurs in boggier conditions (Skene et al. 2000). Their presence may also have cultural implications. One *Empetrum nigrum* seed (fig 9d) was identified at 39.75cm bgl, and another one at 38.75cm bgl. Two *Vaccinium* seeds (species unknown) were identified at 38.75cm bgl (fig 9e). An unidentifiable berry was also found in 38.25 (fig 9f).



Figure 9. (a) *V. oxycoccos* wood and leaf x20. (b) *M. gale* leaf base x30. (c) *M. gale* leaf, (note glands) x40. (d) *E. nigrum* seed x60. (e) Cf. *Vaccinium* seeds x50. (f) Unidentified berry x30.

In Zone 1, a hair-like material (fig 10) believed to be fungal hyphae (mycelium) was identified. It occurs between 47.25cm bgl and 40.25cm bgl, but not above. It differs in abundance from 0.3% to 1.1% per sample and occurs in 11 out of 15 samples, with an increase in abundance upwards. There also appears to be some association with plant tissues. Given these characteristics, it is probable that it is *Cenococcum geophilum*, a globally distributed ectomycorrhizal fungus with a wide habitat range. It is found both within arid and wet poorly drained soils (Fernández-Toirán and Águeda 2007), including within peatlands (Mauquoy et al. 2020; Van Geel 1978). However, there does appear to be some association between the growth of C. geophilum and drier conditions, such as those which are often found in fens (Hughes 2000; Van der Linden and Van Geel 2006). The fungus has been found to colonize many different plant species, especially woody plants but also Cyperaceae (Obase et al. 2017), both of which occur in Zone 1. Ectomycorrhizal fungi form symbiotic relationships with plant species. They produce a hyphal mantle over root tips in order to form an extracellular connection between the plant cells, soil/sediment and fungus (Pena et al. 2014). In C. geophilum the fungal mantle is darkly melanized (Fernández-Toirán and Águeda 2007). One such (probable) fungal mantle was photographed during analysis (fig 11), and similar melanized tissue were seen sporadically throughout Zone 1 (but not counted).

A number of fungal sclerotia (the dormant resting body of the fungus) were also noted in Zone 1 (fig 12). These took the form of small black spherical bodies roughly 1.5mm in diameter, which meet the morphological criteria for *C. geophilum* sclerotia (Obase et al. 2017). *C. geophilum* sclerotia have been observed in peatlands (Van Geel 1978; Mauquoy et al. 2020). They were also identified elsewhere at LAM in two locations, one in an Indigenous hearth feature on the shore of Epaves Bay and from an area northwest of House F (Marche and Wilson 2008). The sclerotia occur in Zone 1 between 47.25cm bgl and 40.75cm bgl, disappearing around the same time as the probable fungal mycelium (40.25cm bgl). As such, it would appear that they are related and, therefore, both likely *C. geophilum*. Since fungal sclerotia are formed under dry conditions, Van der Linden and Van Geel (2006) interpreted the presence of *C. geophilum* sclerotia in a Swedish peat bog as evidence of secondary decomposition linked to an (anthropogenically-mediated) lowering of the local water table. It could be that something similar is occurring here.

Alternatively, the hair-like material may be dark septate endophytes (DSE), another septate fungus known to grow in peatlands (Thormann et al. 1999; Weishampel and Bedford 2006). Regardless, it is evident there is fungal activity within Zone 1 and that it ends at 40.25cm bgl to 40.75cm bgl. Indeed, fungal activity is only seen in Zone 1. Interestingly, it has been discerned that *Sphagnum* colonization inhibits mycorrhizal colonization of Ericaceae through the release of phenolics (Binet et al. 2017; Chiapusio et al. 2018), demonstrating one potential reason why fungi may disappear here, as *Sphagnum* begins to proliferate. Anthropogenic processes can also impact upon fungi in peatlands (Sun et al. 2016). Given the abrupt cessation of fungal activity where the Middle Charcoal Peak occurs, it is possible that humans had a direct hand in this. Fire has been found to sharply reduce fungal biomass and abundance (Andersen et al. 2013; Bergner et al. 2004). Because the Middle Charcoal Peak is thought to represent *in situ* fire

(see chapter 5), this could be why fungal activity ceases here. Water table draw down (which can be human-mediated) may also impact upon fungal communities and can lead to a reduction in density of some species, although it may also benefit others (Andersen et al. 2013). Further proxies should be applied in future to understand water table fluctuation, its cause, and impact upon fungal communities in the lower part of the bog.



Figure 10. Dark septate strands underneath the light microscope (x400). Note branching (green arrow) and segmentation (yellow arrow).



Figure 11. Cenococcum geophilum mantle? x60.



Figure 12. Fungal Sclerotia x30.

In the middle of Zone 1, there is evidence for site abandonment or at least nonusage of the bog area. 42.75cm bgl contains no charcoal (and there is very little directly above or below it). Importantly, in 1A, Sphagnum only occurs above and below the Lower Charcoal Peak, it is present at 46.25cm bgl (0.5% of the sample) and in 42.75cm bgl (3% of the sample). In 1B, Sphagnum (fig 13a) is present at 38.75cm bgl (1.5% of the sample) and directly above at 38.25cm bgl (5.2% of the sample), occurring after the Middle Charcoal Peak. Sphagnum moss is intolerant of trampling (Studlar 1980), making it a good indicator of site abandonment. The presence of Sphagnum can also be seen to correlate with wetter surface conditions (Schouwenaars and Gosen 2007). Brown moss (fig 13b) also occurs in 38.25cm and 38.75cm bgl, in amounts under 1% per sample. It is also found below at 45.75cm bgl (0.1% of the sample). *Polytrichum* moss (fig 13c, 13d) is another indicator of site non-usage since it emerges in recently disturbed areas (Groeneveld et al. 2007). It is only present within Zone 1 in 42.75cm bgl at (0.4% of the sample). Interestingly, at LAM in 2021 Polytrichum was observed colonizing areas disturbed during archaeological fieldwork in 2019.



Figure 13. (a) *Sphagnum* (example) x40. (b) Brown moss (example) x30. (c) *Polytrichum* x30. (d) *Polytrichum* leaf x40.

Within Zone 1 there is the notable occurrence of wood fragments, some of which appear to be anthropogenically modified (fig 14a). Some are even partially burned (fig 14b). Generally, these seem to occur in association with the charcoal peaks. In relation to the uppermost charcoal peak, wood fragments occur at 39.25cm bgl (1.3% of the sample) and at 39.57cm bgl (1.7% of the sample). In association with the underlying peak, they occur at 44.25cm bgl (2.8% of the sample) and at 45.25cm bgl (3.6% of the sample). Two significant concentrations are also found above and below the charcoal peaks at 42.25cm bgl (4.3% of the sample) and at 46.75 (8.0% of the sample), respectively. These pieces of wood are quite large in size and may be the biproduct of anthropogenic wood working on

the bog surface or nearby. This is supported by the large amount of worked wood debris that has been recovered in the lower bog at LAM (Wallace 1989, 2005). Material identified as conifer wood (fig 14c) and conifer bark (fig 14d) has also been identified sporadically throughout Zone 1. In subzone 1A conifer wood is only found between 44.25cm bgl and 45.75cm bgl (2.2% to 0.1% per sample). Conifer bark occurs at 45.75cm bgl and below at 46.75cm bgl. There is a small amount of conifer bark associated with the Middle Charcoal Peak (2.1% of the sample) at 39.25cm bgl. Conifer bark also occurs at 38.25cm bgl (0.8% of the sample). While most of this conifer bark and wood is likely the result of human processing of wood, some may also be from locally growing conifers. Conifers are known to grow locally on peat deposits (Davis 1980), and their presence at LAM in the past has been speculated on (Davis et al. 1988; Mott 1975).



Figure 14. (a) Cut wood? x30. (b) Partially burned wood chip x30. (c) Conifer wood x20. (d) Conifer bark x80.

There is a notable change in the uppermost layers of Zone 1 (38.25cm bgl and 38.75cm bgl) likely indicating a transition to ombrotrophic conditions. Monocots decrease significantly, as does UOM. Importantly, both brown moss and *Sphagnum* are present in small quantities, indicating the beginning of a shift in the plant community composition of the fen, demonstrating a successional trend towards acidic bog conditions and an increase in surface moisture. Brown mosses can co-occur with *Sphagnum* during early succession (Lavoie et al. 2009) but once acidification increases *Sphagnum* will predominate (Granath et al. 2010), as demonstrated here. Many northern peatlands begin as fens before turning into ombrotrophic peat bogs later on (Frolking et al. 2001), including elsewhere in Newfoundland (Hughes et al. 2006) and at LAM (Davis 1984).

Indeed, both Robertson (n.d.) and Henningsmoen (1985) believed the lower part of the upper bog showed a successional change from minerogenic fen to ombrotrophic bog. Ombrotrophication may arise autogenically, through shifts in hydrology and peat accumulation, which raise the bog surface above the water table and permits ombrotrophy to take over, thus allowing Sphagna the ability to dominate, which causes the bog to acidify to the detriment of many plant species (Davies et al. 2021; Zobel 1988). It may also occur through allogenic (external) factors, both natural and anthropogenic (Tsyganov et al. 2019). Shifts between fens and bogs can occur rapidly (Granath et al. 2010). Hughes (2000) suggested that in sedge-dominated fens, a shift in hydrology caused by an allogenic factor can cause rapid ombrotrophication. Such factors could include shifts in catchment hydrology, river channel changes or anthropogenic influence-all of which can quickly lower the local water table. One salient anthropogenic influence is peat extraction, which can impact upon hydrology even if it is carried out elsewhere in the peatland (Van der Linden and Van Geel 2006). Local deforestation can as well (Speranza et al. 2000), among other human impacts. The shift between fen and peat bog here is rapid, and given its association with a charcoal peak, it is possible that the change is human-mediated. Regardless of cause, the border between Zone 1 and Zone 2 marks the transition between a fen into a bog and a shift from dry to wet conditions (Barber et al. 2003).

4.2.4.2 Zones 2, 3, 4

Together, Zones 2, 3 and 4 extend from 38.0cm bgl to 24.0cm bgl. Despite differences in composition, all samples contain *Sphagnum* moss in varying amounts. There are also other constituents: woody plants, monocots, brown moss and *Polytrichum*. This suggests that the upper part of the sequence reflects peat formation in an ombrotrophic setting (Rydin and Jeglum 2013). However, the composition of plants on the bog does shift, sometimes markedly, through time, likely indicating shifts in moisture regime (Swindles et al. 2007). These shifts resulted in changes to the plant communities present and thus the composition of the peat layers. Therefore, owing to biostratigraphic differences, the upper part of the sequence is divided into three distinct zones and described separately. Zone 3 contains the Upper Charcoal Peak, which is the only charcoal peak found in this zone.

4.2.4.3 Zone 2

Zone 2 (38.0cm bgl to 33.5cm bgl) is described as a very slightly humified *Sphagnum* peat. Accordingly, Zone 2 is characterized by the prevalence of *Sphagnum* moss, indicating the fulfillment of the *Sphagnum* colonization and ombrotrophication process seen to begin at the very end of subzone 1B. *Sphagnum* makes up 64.4% of the sample in 37.75cm bgl, but otherwise it constitutes between 88.2% (35.75cm bgl) to 95.4% (36.25cm bgl) of each sample. Brown moss is also found in very minor amounts in Zone 2 (0.9% in 37.75cm bgl and 0.3% in 36.75cm bgl). As noted above brown moss can co-occur with *Sphagnum* under particular conditions (Granath et al. 2010). Where brown moss occurs in Zone 2, *Polytrichum* occurs as well in minor

amounts (0.6% in 37.75cm bgl and 2.0% in 36.75cm bgl). There is also an associated (slight) drop in Sphagnum (64.4% in 37.75cm bgl, 90.0% in 36.75cm bgl) compared to the samples between (91.6% in 37.25cm bgl) and above (95.4% in 36.25cm bgl), suggesting potential shifts in moisture conditions in the bog (Granath et al. 2010; Skre and Oechel 1981) or an allogenic factor such as nutrient availability (Paulissen et al. 2004). However, some Polytrichum species will grow in Sphagnum hummocks (Bauer and Vitt 2011; Šoltés and Školek 2010). 37.75cm bgl contains both conifer bark and Myrica gale, thus concluding a pattern begun in Zone 1 (neither of these occur again within Zone 2). In Zone 2, monocots occur in varied abundances (ranging from 10.2% at 37.75cm bgl, to 1.9% at 36.25cm bgl). As expected, the plant macroremains are well preserved in Zone 2 as demonstrated by very little UOM. There are also small amounts of wood/bark from woody plants throughout, which peaks at 3.5% at 35.75cm bgl. Ericales/woody plant rootlets are present in low abundance in Zone 2 (1.9% to 5.3% per sample). Vaccinium oxycoccos wood is present in one sample (34.25cm bgl at 0.1%). A single seed identified as being from *Rumex aquaticus* (fig 15) was found at 34.25cm bgl showing the presence of open shallow water nearby, such as a pool (Gould et al. 2013). Abundant Sphagnum and low UOM show wetter conditions within this subzone (Barber et al. 2003).



Figure 15. Rumex aquaticus seed x30.

4.2.4.4 Zone 3

Zone 3 (33.5cm bgl to 27.25cm bgl) appears to represent another rapid shift in the plant community in the bog area, as this zone is dominated by woody plants and monocots. It is described as a slightly to medium humified woody plant peat with monocots. With Zone 3, Ericales/woody rootlets range from 78.5% to 19.8% per sample, while woody plant wood/bark occurs in concentrations between 2.7% and 12.8% per sample. A wide range of woody plants are present to some degree within this zone. These include, *Vaccinium oxycoccos* (leaf) 1.5% at 32.75cm bgl and 1.1% at 31.75cm bgl. *Empetrum nigrum* (leaf) also appears at 31.75cm bgl, at 0.4% of the sample (fig 16a) and at 28.25cm bgl (1.0% of the sample) where five seeds were also present. *Rhododendron groenlandicum* (leaf) is present at 31.75cm bgl at 1.5% of the sample (fig 16b) and at 28.25cm bgl (1.0%). *Vaccinium* (unidentified leaf and stem) comprise 0.8% of 28.25cm bgl, and also, *Vaccinium uliginosum* (0.4% at 31.75cm bgl). *Myrica gale* (leaf) occurs

here as well (2.6% at 32.75cm bgl; 1.6% at 32.25cm bgl and 3.0% at 31.75cm bgl), but not above or directly below. Monocots range between 5.0% and 26.4% per sample, with a greater prevenance lower down in the zone. Barber et al. (1994) state that the cooccurrence of Ericaceae, high amounts of monocots and very little Sphagnum can indicate drier surface conditions. Zone 3 does contain relatively little *Sphagnum*, with levels varying between 13.5% and 2.1% (with a reduction in the upper part of the zone). Conversely, brown mosses increase (0.2% in 31.75cm bgl, 0.7% in 28.25cm bgl, and 1.8% in 30.25cm). *Polytrichum* is also present, which appears at 1.7% of the sample at 32.75cm bgl, and in decreased amounts in the upper part of the zone (0.1%) per sample in 30.25cm bgl and 28.25cm bgl). Overall, the decrease in Sphagnum and increase in brown mosses (and the reappearance of *Polytrichum*) can potentially be seen to signal drier conditions moving upwards (Daley and Barber 2012; Potvin et al. 2015). It is not unusual for bryophytes to occur in small amounts with vascular plants during dry shifts (Barber et al. 2003), such as is the case here. The co-occurrence of monocots, Ericales and high UOM have also been found elsewhere to indicate shifts towards dry conditions (Barber et al. 2004).

However, in Zone 3 UOM actually decreases in the top of the zone ranging from 5.9% to 8.5%, whereas it occurs between 23.1% and 30.1% per sample in the lower part. A shift towards low UOM is traditionally associated with increasingly wet conditions (Charman et al. 1999; Langdon et al. 2003). Similarly, monocots also decrease towards the top of the zone (5.0% to 8.9%) as opposed to 24.3% to 26.4% per sample below. Reductions in monocots are also associated with wetter conditions (Barber et al. 2003). A

single seed of *Rumex aquaticus* was found at 28.25cm bgl likely signalling that there is standing water nearby (Gould et al. 2013). Interestingly, *R. aquaticus* is of uncertain status in Newfoundland and could potentially be an anthropogenic introduction (Ledger et al. 2019b). It is difficult to reconcile the difference between the wet and dry indicators in Zone 3. It may be that variable wet/dry conditions prevail here. However, to clarify this conclusively, *Sphagnum* would need to be identified to species (since specific species can inform on moisture conditions) and likely other proxies applied as well (Rydin and Jeglum 2013).



Figure 16. (a) E. nigrum leaf x50. (b) R. groenlandicum leaf x20.

Alternatively, it could be that Zone 3 only appears to be indicative of a successional shift in the peatland but is actually an anthropogenic deposit. If this is the case, then the variety of wet and dry adapted plant taxa found here could represent the intentional (or unintentional) addition of organic material to the bog, which is possible, as they appear in association with charcoal (the Upper Charcoal Peak), indicating a probable human presence at this point. Schönbäck (1974) thought that material had also been added to the lower bog to try and dry the surface. Fire may have been set to the bog surface as well. This could help to explain the presence of Polytrichum (Bauer and Vitt 2011; Sillasoo et al. 2011) and potentially the abundance of Ericales rootlets seen higher up in the zone (Boiffin et al. 2015; Mann and Plug 1999). A burned seed, possibly Apiaceae (see fig 19), recovered from 31-32cm bgl, hints at the landscape's modification with fire but could equally indicate the dumping of burned material on the bog surface perhaps during winter. It is argued below that human trampling had a significant effect on this deposit as well. Another issue plaguing the interpretation of Zone 3 is low resolution. Only five half centimetre samples were analyzed for Zone 3 (which extends across 6.25cm). This is a very low resolution compared to that employed underneath. Therefore, it may be difficult to discern what is going on in this zone based on the available data.

4.2.4.5 Zone 4

Zone 4 (26.5cm bgl to 24.0cm bgl) is described as a slightly humified *Sphagnum* peat. It is characterized by a move towards *Sphagnum* domination and thus a definite shift towards wetness (Barber et al. 2003; Swindles et al. 2007). Within Zone 4, *Sphagnum* occurs at 86.5% in 26.25cm bgl and at 95.1% at 24.25cm bgl. There are small amounts of brown moss in both 26.25cm bgl (0.3%) and 24.25cm bgl (0.5%). Brown moss and *Sphagnum* can survive together under specific conditions (Lavoie et al. 2009). There is a precipitous drop in Ericales/woody rootlets from the previous subzone. Here they occur in concentrations between 1.7% and 4.3%. There is a small amount of woody plant wood/bark, which decreases upwards (3.0% in 26.25cm bgl to 0.2% in 24.24cm bgl). UOM is present in small amounts (5.7% in 26.25cm bgl to 1.5% in 24.25cm bgl) and decreases upwards as well. There is a small amount of monocots present (0.2% to 1.0%). High amounts of *Sphagnum*, few monocots, little Ericales/woody plants and low amounts of UOM point towards this being a wet phase (Swindles et al. 2007).
Chapter 5. Discussion

In this thesis I have sought to discern how a peat bog sequence at LAM formed as a result of natural successional processes and anthropogenic disturbance. To do this, a high temporal resolution macrofossil analysis and radiocarbon age-depth modelling have been employed. The application of this approach has revealed broad successional trends and hydrological shifts as evidenced by the plant macrofossils present within the peat sequence. Additionally, the presence of three charcoal peaks thought to be indicative of past human site occupation have been discerned. Within this section, I build upon the results and interpretations presented in the previous chapter in order to answer the research questions posed in chapter 1. First, I discuss whether the charcoal peaks can be assigned to particular cultures through a combined approach using age-depth radiocarbon modelling and plant macrofossils. Second, the influence of disturbance and biophysical drivers on the succession history of the peat sequence is discussed.

5.1 Discerning Episodes of Human Activity

Can radiocarbon age-depth modelling and analysis of plant macrofossils help identify discrete episodes of human activity in the peat bog sequence, and attribute them to specific cultural group(s) known to have used the site?

Radiocarbon age-depth modelling and plant macrofossil analysis can be used to give some indication of who was responsible for indicators of human activity being deposited within the peat deposits. Within this section, the age-depth model for the sequence (see fig 5) is compared against the standard cultural radiocarbon chronology for LAM (fig 17), and the results of the plant macrofossil analysis are compared against the

review of cultural uses of bog plants undertaken in chapter 2, in order to make inferences about which cultural groups were responsible for the production of the charcoal peaks. However, as discussed below, these methods are only tools for making inferences; they provide lines of evidence, not definitive answers.

5.1.1 Radiocarbon Age-Depth Modelling

When working with a number of calibrated radiocarbon dates derived from a sedimentary sequence, age-depth modelling can be used to provide a relatively precise chronology, which can give a timescale for events and processes (Blaauw and Heegaard 2012). It is a powerful tool as it allows the assignment of age to deposits that have not been directly dated and, as such, has found application in various disciplines concerned with the assigning of age to stratigraphy (Ferbrache 2019). In palaeoecological investigation, age-depth modelling can be used to discern the chronostratigraphic and spatiotemporal relationship between different strata and proxies and thus provide a more stable foundation for the building of inferences (Lovelace et al. 2022). Archaeologists have used age-depth modelling to discern the age of cultural deposits (e.g., Levchenko 2013). It has also been used on peat-bearing sites to identify the relationship between deposits and the impacts of human occupation in the area (e.g., Albert et al. 2021). Importantly, it has been employed as a tool in making comparisons between site deposits, including those composed of macrofossils, and known regional archaeological chronologies (Schlütz and Bittmann 2016; Tarasov et al. 2021). It is used towards this end here, whereby the age-depth model produced for the sequence (see fig 5) is utilized as a

guide in discerning the ages of particular deposits—which are then compared against the known Indigenous site chronology (fig 17).



Figure 17. Multiplot showing radiocarbon dates for site occupation by Indigenous cultures at LAM (Wallace 2012) during the time the peat sequence was forming. Dates were obtained from Wallace (1989), Kristensen and Curtis (2012) and from a spreadsheet compiled by Paul Ledger. Some dates assigned to cultures in the past have been excluded here based on the materials dated (bulk peat, whale bone), provenience, or because they were far outside of the range for the stated culture. The Maritime Archaic culture have been excluded as too early for the purpose of this thesis. The two Cow Head complex dates represent the two cooking pits (Kristensen and Curtis 2012). Dates were plotted and calibrated in OxCal (Ramsey 2009) using the Reimer (2020) calibration curve.

5.1.2 Lower Charcoal Peak

The Lower Charcoal Peak occurs in 1A between 43.75cm bgl and 46.25cm bgl, with the greatest concentration of charcoal between 44.25cm bgl and 44.75cm bgl. Based on the age-depth model (see fig 5), it was likely deposited at some point during the 8th to 9th centuries CE. Probability estimates (95.4%) for the ages of the main part of the peak (44cm bgl to 45cm bgl) indicate that deposition probably occurred in the late 9th century CE (table 2), with the underlying charcoal concentrations, evidently, being of greater age. A Norse origin of this peak can be excluded, given that the Norse did not settle Greenland until around 985 CE (Fitzhugh 2000). It was deposited during a time associated with Indigenous site usage (Kristensen and Curtis 2012; Wallace 2012) and is, therefore, likely Indigenous in origin. However, to which particular Indigenous group (or groups) it relates is somewhat ambiguous. While a Groswater culture origin can be dismissed, it was deposited during a time when both the Dorset people and the Cow Head complex or other Recent Period groups could have been using the site based on the conventional radiocarbon chronology (fig 17). However, the Dorset culture dates for the site (fig 17) do extend somewhat beyond the currently accepted terminus of Dorset Palaeo-Inuit occupation on the island of Newfoundland (c. 780 CE, Bell and Renouf 2008), thus indicating that a Recent Period origin for the peak may be more likely. As discussed in chapter 2, there is some precedent for Recent Period usage of peat bogs in the province, as they are thought to have used the top of the bog at the Gould Site near Port au Choix as an occupation surface—leaving a deposit of charcoal there as well (Renouf et al. 2000, 2009; Teal 2001). The Cow Head people also used the peat bog at the Peat Garden site for

the same purpose (Hartery 2007; Hartery and Rast 2001). However, Palaeo-Inuit groups may have used peat bogs as well (Bell et al. 2005). Unfortunately, unlike some artifacts, charcoal in and of itself is not indicative of any one culture. Partially burned wood chips are likewise not informative in this regard. Cultural attribution of deposits must always follow multiple lines of evidence. Since the evidence is insufficient here to distinguish one group from another as the creators of this deposit, it is simply seen to be an Indigenous accumulation related to site usage prior to the Norse and thus referred to as the Lower Charcoal Peak.

5.1.3 Middle Charcoal Peak

The Middle Charcoal Peak occurs in 1B and extends from 39.25cm bgl to 40.75cm bgl, with the greatest concentration of charcoal between 39.75cm bgl and 40.25cm bgl. Based on the age-depth model, the Middle Charcoal Peak was deposited during the early 11th century (see fig 5), around the time when the Norse are known to have been at the site (Kuitems et al. 2021; Ledger et al. 2019b). The median (95.4% estimate) date for 40cm bgl of 1018 CE (table 2) is actually quite close to the 1021 CE date proposed by Kuitems et al. (2021) for Norse site occupation. However, based on the model, it is possible that it was deposited somewhat earlier or later (see fig 5). It is also likely that it is, at least in part, the result of *in situ* fire, which bears similarities to other Norse *landnám* layers seen in the North Atlantic (McGovern et al. 1988). Based on the Indigenous site chronology (fig 17), the Middle Charcoal Peak was also deposited during a time when Recent Period groups could have been at the site. As noted in chapter 3, hearths containing boat nails have been interpreted as the Indigenous scavenging of Norse

wood for fuel after they had abandoned LAM (Curtis 2011; Kristensen and Renouf 2009; Wallace 2003b). It is also possible that Indigenous Recent Period people were at the site directly before the Norse occupation and set fire to the bog then. They certainly would have had cause to, in order to promote the growth of particular plants or facilitate hunting (Cronon 2011; Holly 2013; Stewart 2002). Based on the dates, they may have even been there at the same time as the Norse—although there is no other evidence for this (Lewis-Simpson 2020; Wallace 2012). The Middle Charcoal Peak also bears similarities to deposits seen in the lower bog attributed to the Norse (Davis et al. 1988; Schönbäck 1974; Schönbäck et al. 1976) but also to Indigenous groups (Wallace 1989). Therefore, it is hard to say precisely which group the Middle Charcoal Peak belongs to. However, its deposition during a time when Norse occupation was known to have taken place at LAM does point towards the Norse as those responsible for it, but an Indigenous origin cannot be completely ruled out based on the data presented here. Further study employing additional proxies and alternate methods could help to clarify this conclusively.

5.1.4 Upper Charcoal Peak

Zone 3 contains the only charcoal peak in the upper part of the peat sequence (above Zone 1). It is referred to as the Upper Charcoal Peak and extends across one contiguous centimetre (98 pieces total of macrocharcoal in 32.75cm bgl and 16 total in 32.25cm bgl). Based on the age-depth model, it was likely deposited between the 12th and 13th centuries (see fig 5). Ledger et al. (2019) hypothesized that the layer (4A800B7) they identified in the bog, which corresponds with this peak, was likely related to Recent Period Indigenous activity. Given the date, this seems entirely plausible, as the Upper

Charcoal Peak would have been deposited during a time when Recent Period peoples could have been at the site (fig 17). Wallace (1989, 2012) certainly felt that the later Indigenous presence at LAM encompassed this time period. However, Ledger et al. (2019) also hypothesized that, while unlikely, the Norse could have been responsible for layer 4A800B7. Given that the Norse were in Greenland until the 15th century (Dugmore et al. 2007) and that later voyages to an area the Norse referred to as Markland (likely Labrador) for the purposes of wood harvesting were noted as occurring into the 14th century (Guðmundsdóttir 2021; Price 2020), it is possible. Schönbäck et al. (1976) did speculate that a twig pile in the lower bog could have been related to a later Norse wood gathering expedition. It is also likely that knowledge of Vínland lived on in social memory for some time (Price 2020). A probable reference to Markland was even recently found in a 14th century (circa 1340 CE) Italian document, showing just how far knowledge of North America may have extended through time and space (Chiesa 2021). However, given the available evidence, the Upper Charcoal Peak cannot definitively be assigned to a particular culture at this time, although it is likely that it is Indigenous in origin given the later intensive usage of the site and the Northern Peninsula by Recent Period Indigenous groups (Hull 2002; Kristensen and Curtis 2012).

5.1.5 Plant Macrofossils

Beyond their application in radiocarbon dating (Strunk et al. 2020), macrofossils can also be employed as an interpretative tool in discerning which cultural groups were at the site and responsible for the charcoal peaks in the peat bog. Many plants had cultural uses, and their presence (as macroremains) may hint at how the bog was used and by

whom. This is especially true when plant macrofossils can be correlated with charcoal, thus linking the two cultural signals together. Therefore, plant macrofossils, which occur in association with the charcoal peaks, are considered here.

5.1.5.1 Berries

Analysis has revealed ample evidence of the presence of berries, and it is quite likely this resource was made use of by all groups to inhabit the site. A crowberry seed (*Empetrum nigrum*) was identified in association with the Middle Charcoal Peak, which is thought to potentially constitute the Norse horizon. Given what is known about their crowberry usage (Arneborg et al. 2012; McGovern et al. 1983), Empetrum nigrum may very well have been a utilized resource at LAM. Indigenous groups are known to have used crowberry as well (Zutter 2009). Vaccinium oxycoccos occurs in relation to the Lower and Upper Charcoal Peaks, which are thought potentially to be Indigenous. V. Oxycoccos was known to be used by a variety of different Indigenous groups (Anderson 2009; Boulanger-Lapointe et al. 2019; Norton 1981; Oswalt 1957; Turner and Bell 1973). The additional presence of *Vaccinium* seeds occurring at 43.75cm bgl, atop the Lower Charcoal Peak, certainly attests to the availability of berries for the Indigenous group (or groups) inhabiting the site at this point. Interestingly, there is some association between the anthropogenic use of fire and the propagation of berries (Anderson 2009; Biggs 1976). However, this may or may not be the case here.

5.1.5.2 Myrica gale

Myrica gale was utilized extensively in medieval brewing (Verberg 2018; Zimmerman 2018). It occurs in some concentration in several places in the profile but is especially prevalent around the Middle Charcoal Peak, during a period when, based on the age-depth model, the Norse would have been at the site. There is no evidence at LAM for the use of *M. gale* for brewing, but it is tempting to think of it in this capacity, especially since it is abundant around the time of Norse presence. As noted, *M. gale* may have had Indigenous uses as well (Guedon 2000; Kari 2020; Porter 2007), and it does occur in association with the Upper Charcoal Peak in some quantity—perhaps having been intentionally added to the deposit with other organic materials by humans.

5.1.5.3 Cyperaceae and Monocots

The bog would also have provided the Norse with sods for building. It has generally been assumed that sods were taken from the lower sedge bog (Wallace 2012: 50), likely owing to the presence of sedge pollen in some of them, although it was also found that they may have come from several different locations at the site since the composition of wall sods varied (Henningsmoen 1985). Some of the sods in House A were found to be quite similar in composition to Zone 1 as they lacked *Sphagnum* and contained Cyperaceae and Gramineae (Henningsmoen 1985), which both occur in this zone. While the sequence within 4A800B3-6 does not contain evidence for truncation as would be expected with sod stripping (Ledger 2018), it is possible that sedge sods were gathered in the upper bog—something which has not been considered before.

The Norse are known to have had cattle, sheep, goats, pigs, dogs and horses in Iceland and Greenland (Campana et al. 2014; Dugmore et al. 2007; Mainland and Halstead 2005). According to the Vínland sagas (Kunz and Sigurðsson 2008), the Karlsefni expedition brought livestock with them to Vínland, which would have required fodder and grazing pasture—perhaps only pasturage as well since the sagas mention that the animals were kept out all winter. The lower "sedge bog," as the name implies (Wallace 2012: 31), would have been amenable grazing territory. As demonstrated here, Zone 1, which would have been the exposed land surface in the upper bog at the time of Norse arrival (regardless of who created the Middle Charcoal Peak), would have as well. A relatively dry surface and the presence of monocots (including Cyperaceae), likely improved somewhat by fire, would have made this ideal for grazing. Some grazing may certainly have taken place in the upper bog, albeit later on and perhaps by caribou, as Sporormiella-type fungal spores (coprophilous fungi associated with grazing herbivores) were discerned higher up in the peatland (Ledger et al. 2019b). It is also evident that cows were grazed widely on the site area in the more recent past, as their presence was noted by Anne Stine (Ingstad 2013).

Finally, Indigenous groups are also known to have made use of Cyperaceae. As noted, the Labrador Inuit, in particular, used *Carex* to make mats (Zutter 2009); *Carex* being particularly prevalent in Zone 1. There is no evidence of an Inuit occupation at the site, but they could have been employed to this end. Similarly, *Sphagnum* is known to have been well used by Indigenous groups (Kimmerer

2003) and is present in quantity in the monolith, but it does not mean it was used to that end here.

5.1.6 Macrofossils and Charcoal: Summarizing Evidence Associated with Human Activity

Together, macrofossils and charcoal provide lines of evidence through which the identity of those who were responsible for the formation of anthropogenic deposits in the bog at LAM might be inferred. Charcoal Concentrations, or peaks (Upper, Middle, Lower) as they have been referred to here, act as biostratigraphic markers thought to be indicative of human activity. Using the age-depth model, these peaks have been interpreted as events and given a chronological position, which has been compared against the standard site chronology in order to interpret which groups might be behind their formation. However, what has emerged from this analysis are only *possibilities*; they are not definite answers about which cultures were responsible for the peaks in the bog or used the site area in the past. One reason for this is the nature of the methods employed and, consequently, data generated. While age-depth modelling is undoubtedly a powerful tool for producing informed estimates of the ages of deposits (Blaauw and Heegaard 2012), it is not free of issues, some of which are inherent within the method itself (Lacourse and Gajewski 2020; Telford et al. 2004; Trachsel and Telford 2017). Further, while there is precedent for it (e.g., Schlütz and Bittmann 2016; Tarasov et al. 2021), comparison and correlation against a standard radiocarbon chronology, as has been employed here, is also somewhat problematic—especially considering some of the concerns that have been raised for the site chronology (Ledger et al. 2019b). Similarly,

the macrofossils discussed here were not recovered in direct archaeological contexts, such as structures, as would be preferable (Celant et al. 2015), but rather occurred in association with the charcoal peaks. Given this context, they may or may not have had cultural uses—although their presence is still intriguing and potentially informative. Agedepth modelling and plant macrofossils are also only two lines of evidence; more could and should be applied to discerning who created the deposits, with the observations generated here acting as guides for further (more refined) interpretation. Indeed, what has really been generated here are *possibilities* or potential *realities*. One *possibility* is that the Lower Charcoal Peak is Indigenous, the Middle Charcoal Peak Norse and the Upper Charcoal Peak also Indigenous in origin. This has been the probable *reality* put forth here, but it is only one of a few possible scenarios. Just as more than one radiocarbon model may be applied to a sequence (Blockley et al. 2007), there may also be more than one interpretive scenario. Furthermore, it may be alright to be *unsure* about whom the peaks relate to. Gavin Lucas (2017: 189) argued that we should "preserve an element of ignorance about the past" so as not to make interpretations derived from our privileged position, which affords us the ability of hindsight—of being able to look backwards and knowing what should happen where and when. Such an ability can actually cloud interpretation by creating expectation. According to Lucas (2017), we should be open to unpredictability and randomness and thus move beyond expectation. This is sage wisdom which might find application here, for while we know there are charcoal peaks and there are groups known to have used the site at particular times, whether these correlate with each other remains unknown. Instead, we are left with *possibilities*, which are entirely

adequate from an interpretative standpoint, even if we are still ultimately unsure about the identity of those responsible for the charcoal peaks.

5.2 Factors Governing Successional Changes in The Bog

What are the discernable influences of disturbance and biophysical drivers on the formation of the peat bog sequence, as revealed through a study of plant macrofossils and charcoal?

While there are several theories behind peatland succession (i.e., how exactly peatlands form and change through time), in a simple sense, they might be seen to form through the combined influence of autogenic (internal) and allogenic (external) forces (Rydin and Jeglum 2013). Allogenic influences are of particular interest, as these include both disturbance, which may be natural or anthropogenic (Andersen et al. 2013) and biophysical drivers, which are 'natural' (e.g., Jouffray et al. 2019). In peatlands, a disturbance such as fire can be impactful enough that it can override autogenic succession and other strong allogenic influences alike (Väliranta et al. 2007). Trampling is a further significant disturbance in some peat bogs, which along with fire, may be humanmediated. Amongst biophysical drivers, climate can be seen as an important allogenic driver of change in ombrotrophic peatlands (Charman et al. 2002; Rydin and Jeglum 2013). There is an extensive body of literature discussing the influence of fire, trampling, and climate on peatland succession, some of which has been drawn upon in this thesis (e.g., Barber et al. 2000; Barber and Langdon 2007; Pellerin et al. 2006; Ronkainen et al. 2013; Ryberg et al. 2022; Sillasoo et al. 2011; Sjögren et al. 2007; Spitale 2021; Studlar 1980; Tuittila et al. 2007; Väliranta et al. 2017). How these three influences (fire,

trampling, climate) contributed to the successional history of the peat sequence captured within 4A800B3-6 is discussed below.

5.2.1 Fire

Fire is an important disturbance factor in many northern peatlands (Turetsky et al. 2002). Fire can even dictate when wet and dry shifts occur by altering the bog hydrology and shaping successional plant communities (Sillasoo et al. 2011). Given that wet and dry shifts are seen within the profile (as demonstrated by the particular plant microfossils present), and charcoal peaks also occur (with a potential association between the two), it does need to be considered as an influence on peatland succession—and one that is human-mediated. Fires that occur on or near peatlands will generally leave distinct charcoal layers within the peat strata (Couillard et al. 2019; Pitkänen et al. 2001). However, the most definitive signal of *in situ* fire is charred vegetation (Markgraf and Huber 2010). Three charcoal peaks occur in the profile, yet charred vegetation does not always occur in association with them. Therefore, it must be considered whether they are indicative of fire disturbance or else another disturbance associated with the human presence they imply (for instance, trampling). Both occur in the profile, albeit not for all deposits.

5.2.1.1 Middle Charcoal Peak

The greatest evidence for *in situ* fire in the profile is associated with the Middle Charcoal Peak and occurs between 39.0 and 41.0cm bgl. There are 191 pieces of charcoal over 1mm in size (per millilitre) within these two consecutive centimetres. 179 of these

pieces are located within 39.75 and 40.25cm bgl. Given the high number of large charcoal pieces, it is probable that the bog surface was set fire to directly. This is further evidenced by a burned twig (fig 18) recovered from 40-40.5cm bgl and tentatively identified as being from Rhododendron groenlandicum. The charcoal peak was also visible in the monolith prior to sampling, and slightly charred plant matter was observed during analysis but not quantified—both of which lend credence to the proposition that this was an in situ fire (Leifeld et al. 2018; Sillasoo et al. 2011; Wallenius et al. 2004). If this charcoal concentration and the prescribed burning it implies was associated with the Norse, then it was evidently a major fire event and certainly comparable with those seen elsewhere in the Norse North Atlantic during landnám (Iversen 1934). They may have used fire to try and stimulate the growth of grasses for grazing animals, as seen in Greenland (Ledger 2013). There is an increase in monocots at 39.75 cm bgl, albeit at proportions well underneath those seen below. As monocots were already well represented in this area, there may have been little incentive or need to try and stimulate their growth. Alternatively, fire may have been used here as a tool for land clearance, which is also found in Greenland (Edwards et al. 2008). Henningsmoen (1985) felt that a small amount of charcoal found in turf samples from the base of the wall in House F could have come from the Norse burning of the landscape to remove shrubby vegetation. There is a slight reduction in woody plants/Ericales rootlets. However, woody plants overall are steady through the presumed Norse period and then increase afterwards, shedding doubt on this theory (or at least its successful execution). Myrica gale actually increases in prevalence where the Middle Charcoal Peak occurs in the sequence. Given its value (Verberg 2018; Zimmerman 2018) and abundance at the site, it is possible that M.

gale was propagated for human use by the Norse. An increase in *M. gale* has been interpreted elsewhere to correlate with the use of fire for landscape management (Dodson and Bradshaw 1987). Notably, in their study of a burned moor in Japan, Tsuda et al. (1989) found a slightly higher number of *M. gale* seedlings in burned over plots than in unburned ones. Therefore, it is possible that fire could have been utilized in the management of this resource. However, the *M. gale* may also be associated with a shift towards increasing wetness at this time since *M. gale* often occurs in boggier conditions (Skene et al. 2000).



Figure 18. Charred twig (likely R. groenlandicum) x40

Alternatively, the Middle Charcoal Peak may also relate to Indigenous use of fire, potentially as a landscape management tool. The presence of ericaceous species in association with this peak may be related to fire, as Ericales will often increase in abundance after a burn (Boiffin et al. 2015; Damman 1978), and fire was used elsewhere to this end by Indigenous groups (e.g., Anderson 2009; Turner 2014). Particular

ericaceous plants, especially those that produce berries, would have been valuable food resources and had medicinal uses as well (Weber 2022). They may also have acted as a draw for some bird species (Davis 2011). Given the high degree of Recent Period bird hunting at the site (Kristensen and Curtis 2012), the landscape may have been intentionally altered to attract birds to the area. This is not without precedent, as in the UK, bogs are often burned in order to manage heath and produce habitats attractive to grouse (Garnett et al. 2000). Other animals might also be attracted to a burned-over landscape, potentially including caribou (Silva et al. 2020). Either Recent Period groups or the Dorset Palaeo-Inuit might have had cause to burn the bog at LAM.

Admittedly, the extremely high degree of UOM associated with the Middle Charcoal Peak complicates the clear understanding of exactly what the effects of fire are on succession since plant remains that might otherwise be preserved are decomposed and unrecognizable (potentially due to taphonomic processes linked to fire or other disturbance factors). However, it is apparent that following the burning episode, there is an increase in Ericales, which is likely related to fire disturbance (Boiffin et al. 2015; Damman 1978; Mann and Plug 1999; Pearson 2001; Yeloff et al. 2006). The *Polytrichum*, which occurs above the Middle Charcoal Peak, can be seen to be as well (Bauer and Vitt 2011). The inferred burning event can also be seen to potentially trigger a wet shift in the bog (*sensu* Sillasso et al. 2011), whereby *Sphagnum* begins to colonize the surface (in subzone 1B) and quickly becomes dominant (in Zone 2). Indeed, at least here, burning might be seen as the catalyst for this change, as it happens rather quickly. However, autogenic factors and other allogenic factors, both natural and

anthropogenic, may have played a role too (see trampling and climate). As noted by Hughes (2000), there is more than one pathway from oligotrophic fen to ombrotrophic bog, even if an anthropogenic cause is ascribed.

5.2.1.2 Upper and Lower Charcoal Peaks

As demonstrated by the presence of two other charcoal peaks (Upper and Lower), fire may also have been applied elsewhere in the sequence with potential attendant impacts upon succession. However, the evidence is far from unequivocal for the occurrence of *in situ* fire events. The Lower Charcoal Peak, which is thought to be Indigenous, extends across multiple centimetres (43.75cm bgl to 46.25cm bgl) and contains ample charcoal (between 44.25cm bgl and 45.75cm bgl there are over 100 pieces of charcoal 1mm or more in size, per millilitre). There is also a spike in monocots at 44.25 (71.3% of the sample), which could be correlated with fire (Hobbs 1984). The increase in Ericales seen at 44.75cm bgl could be as well. The brief appearance of both Sphagnum and Polytrichum at 42.75cm bgl may constitute a "wet pulse" (Barber et al. 1998: 522) or a very brief wet shift stemming from a fire event (Sillassoo et al. 2011). However, this may equally not be the case, as both species can colonize peatlands after many types of disturbance (Groeneveld et al. 2007; Sundberg and Rydin 2002). The appearance of Sphagnum especially may simply be associated with the absence of humans (as implied by the lack of charcoal in 42.75cm bgl). Importantly, no charred plant macrofossils were noted during analysis for this peak, as is considered indicative of localized fire (Markgraf and Huber 2010; Sannel and Kuhry 2008; Tolonen 1985). Without this piece of evidence, it is difficult to say whether fire was set here. Large pieces

of charcoal and partially burned wood chips do imply the nearby use of fire, either on the bog or elsewhere at the site, but it does not provide the necessary evidence for *in situ* fire. Further analysis should be undertaken to discern how this deposit formed.

The Upper Charcoal Peak may also be the result of *in situ* fire; however, this is unlikely. There is a relatively small amount of large charcoal associated with this deposit (only 8 pieces of charcoal 1mm and over per millilitre were recovered). It is possible that this charcoal may have been added to the bog along with plant matter in an effort to dry the surface. This is not without precedent, as Bishop et al. (2013) identified a charcoal layer in Greenland as being the result of the dumping of charcoal and not landscape fire, as would have been assumed otherwise. One charred plant macroremain was identified, this being a charred seed thought to be Apiaceae (fig 19), recovered from 32-32cm bgl. However, no other charred plant material was noted during analysis, and the seed could easily have entered the deposit with other added material. Furthermore, whereas the literature often associates *in situ* fire events with the initiation of wet shifts (Ronkainen et al. 2013; Ryberg et al. 2022; Sillasoo et al. 2011; Tuittila et al. 2007; Väliranta et al. 2017), the Upper Charcoal Peak actually sits atop a wet shift, which appears to be arrested at the time of deposition. It is suggested that this apparent hydrological dry shift was, in fact, the result of another disturbance factor, likely trampling (Spitale 2021), which is discussed in more detail below. Indeed, at 38cm bgl, the bog rapidly transitions from being composed almost entirely of *Sphagnum*, to a mixed assemblage of woody plants, monocots, and minor amounts of bryophytes. While a fire event could be responsible for an increase in Ericales (Yeloff et al. 2006), given the strange mix of plant

taxa present, including both dry and wet adapted species, it is instead likely that this deposit represents the addition of plant material to the bog. Further study should be undertaken to discern how it was deposited.



Figure 19. Possible Apiaceae seed x50.

While an important allogenic disturbance in peatlands, fire can only be directly linked to the Middle Charcoal Peak within the sequence. It may even have spurred a major wet shift and initiated ombrotrophy at this point. Fire could have had an impact elsewhere in the profile as well. However, the evidence is unclear. Instead, influence on the profile might be sought from the allogenic impacts of climate and trampling, which are discussed below.

5.2.2 Trampling

During excavation, laminated and relatively compacted surfaces with horizontally aligned organic materials were noted in the field and associated with cultural occupation layers (Forbes et al. 2022; Ledger et al. 2019a). During peat disaggregation, the peat associated with charcoal peaks (and therefore cultural occupations) was also notably denser. Therefore, it is likely that trampling impacted the site deposits. The spikes in UOM associated with the three charcoal peaks are probably a result of the trampling of the peat surface. Trampling, in association with other disturbance factors, such as burning and shifting moisture regimes, can easily humify peat (Hope and Nanson 2015). This is especially true in regard to the Middle Charcoal Peak, which contains abundant UOM in association with the deposit and below it. If this deposit is, in fact, Norse in origin, the high amount of UOM could be related to the high number of people thought to be on the site and the potential presence of livestock (Wallace 2012).

It is also possible that the biostratigraphic switch (and potential associated dry shift) that is demonstrated in association with the Upper Charcoal Peak is related to trampling, as *Sphagnum* reduces in abundance quite rapidly and then increases afterwards (in Zone 4) when charcoal ceases to be present (indicating abandonment). Similarly, following the underlying Lower Charcoal Peak and before the Middle Charcoal Peak (in 1A), *Sphagnum* makes a brief appearance in the absence of charcoal before disappearing again (when charcoal reappears, indicating a renewed human presence). Further study should be applied to the cultural layers with geoarchaeological analyses and especially micromorphology in order to confirm this, but it does appear that trampling, or its absence, had a distinct impact upon perseveration conditions and the plants present (particularly *Sphagnum*) within the peat sequence.

5.2.3 Climatic Forcing

Some palaeoecologists have associated shifts in climate with successional changes observed in peatlands (e.g., Barber et al. 2000; Barber and Langdon 2007). Therefore, the issue of climate bears discussion here. Interestingly, the time which is seen to coincide with the Medieval Warm Period (MWP) at LAM is also when increased Sphagnum growth appears, a phenomenon usually associated with wetter and sometimes cooler climatic conditions (Jong 2006). This also marks the boundary of where ombrotrophication is hypothesized to have taken place. Based on the chronological understanding of the site, which places the Norse there in the early 11th century and on the chronostratigraphic understanding of the profile based on the age-depth model (see fig 5), it is apparent that while the beginning of these changes might be seen to be coeval with the Norse (in 1B), they accelerate after abandonment (in Zone 2). According to Finkenbinder et al. (2022), lower offshore sea surface temperatures and inferred cooling based on recent oxygen isotope research (δ^{18} O anomalies) from Norman's Pond in westcentral Newfoundland have been detected from around 1000 CE onwards, indicating lower terrestrial temperatures, which would help to explain increased *Sphagnum* growth. Indeed, the Labrador Current, which impacts the temperature of Newfoundland (Bell et al. 2000), was found to be cooler from 1000 to 1350 CE (Sicre et al. 2014), and it is likely that the entire western North Atlantic region was colder during the MWP, with interspersed decadal periods of warming (Young et al. 2015). Finkenbinder et al. (2022) even directly suggest that it was cooler during the time the Norse were at LAM.

The MWP is followed by the Little Ice Age (LIA). Within 4A300B3-6, based on the age-depth model, the start of this cooling trend might be seen to correlate with the possible dry shift that occurs at approximately 33cm bgl (in Zone 3). However, a brief warming trend, which raised the temperature of the Labrador current, is also believed to have occurred around this time (Lapointe and Bradley 2021). Warmer conditions may have persisted up to 1480 CE, followed by a sharp decline in temperatures (Finkenbinder et al. 2022). In some locations, the LIA has been shown to correspond with peatland wet shifts (Anderson 1998; Schofield et al. 2008), and *Sphagnum* domination does return again in the profile (Zone 4), which may potentially indicate some influence.

Without detailed local climate data that covers the site itself, no direct climatic causation should be applied to the peat profile; however, there certainly may have been some contribution. Instead, influence on the formation of the bog area can be more readily sought (and found) in the direct disturbances and autogenic succession factors evidenced by the macrofossils themselves.

5.2.4 Climatic and Anthropogenic Disturbance Considered Together

To understand how the peat sequence formed it is necessary to consider the interaction between the forces of climate and disturbance upon the successional and depositional history of the profile. Considered over the long term, the interaction between these two allogenic forces (and the history of the peat sequence) might have manifested as described below.

The peat deposit in the area probably began as a monocot (likely sedge), and woody plant dominated minerogenic fen. At some point during the 8th to 9th centuries, an Indigenous group (likely either the Recent Period or Dorset peoples) disturbed this environment slightly. Indigenous people were certainly active at the site, or its environs, as shown by the small amounts of background charcoal in the lower part of the sequence (see fig 6). However, what is demonstrated between 44.0cm bgl to 46.0cm bgl constituted a disturbance event. They appear to have worked wood in this area and had localized fires, they may even have set fire to the bog, but this is unclear. Their presence certainly left a charcoal peak in the sequence (Lower Charcoal Peak), and the disturbance they caused likely resulted in brief Sphagnum and Polytrichum growth. This may have constituted a brief wet pulse (sensu Barber et al. 1998), before returning to prior conditions with an increase in Ericaceae. At some point around the start of the 11th century, another group of people, likely the Norse or perhaps people from the Cow Head or another Recent Period Indigenous complex, disturbed the bog again. It may even have been a combination. Regardless, they burned the landscape and influenced it further by intensive trampling, which appears to have impacted upon moisture conditions. They also likely worked wood on the bog surface and created the Middle Charcoal Peak as a consequence of these various actions. The water table in the bog may have been anthropogenically or naturally lowered by other means during this period as well (Van der Linden and Van Geel 2006). For a time, Ericaceae increased again. However, a wet shift was initiated with a discernable switch from fen to Sphagnum bog and thus likely to ombrotrophic conditions. Cooler, wetter climatic conditions are thought to have occurred during this period (Finkenbinder et al. 2022), which may have been an influence as well.

Sphagnum dominated for a while, without any human interference, as shown by an absence of background charcoal (see fig 6). However, at some point during the 11th to 12th centuries, Sphagnum growth was quickly arrested when another group of people disturbed the bog creating the Upper Charcoal Peak. This was likely a Recent Period Indigenous group, although it may also have been a later visit to the site by the Norse. This group trampled the bog surface, compacting the deposit. They may also have dumped plant matter on the bog surface in an effort to dry it. It is also possible but unlikely that they set fire to the bog directly. The increase in Ericales in association with monocots and bryophytes seen during this period (see fig 6) may also be linked to fluctuating hydrological conditions in the peatland or stem from climatic influence. Whatever the cause, the dry shift did not last, nor is there a human presence seen above this deposit as background charcoal disappears again. Sphagnum domination (and wet conditions) then returned, both owing to a lack of human presence and potentially cooler temperatures associated with the LIA. Indeed, ultimately, the sequence as it appears here (24.0cm bgl to 46.0cm bgl) was capped in a layer of *Sphagnum* moss, not to be disturbed again by humans—except by those bearing trowels many centuries on.

Chapter 6. Conclusions and Directions for Future Research

6.1 Conclusions

The upper peat bog at LAM contains a remarkable sequence of cultural layers composed of charcoal, wood, plant macrofossils and other organic and inorganic constituents. However, it has only been recently that the understanding of the cultural use of the upper bog has developed (Ledger et al. 2019b). Unfortunately, much more attention has been paid to the lower bog, and lower resolution methodologies employed in the past. This thesis has instead employed a high temporal resolution macrofossil analysis coupled with radiocarbon age-depth modelling to discern how the peat sequence within monolith 4A800B3-6 developed. It has been shown here to have developed through the combined action of autogenic and allogenic forces, which have both contributed in kind to the successional history of the sequence. Amongst the allogenic forces are biophysical drivers (climate) and disturbance factors (fire and trampling). Importantly, these two disturbances can be considered to be anthropogenic and, as such, humans can be seen to have had an impact on the formation history of the peat sequence and likely the wider cultural landscape at LAM. This is important, as previous studies have found little or no evidence for human impact on the environment at the site (Bell et al. 2000), whereas this thesis, and lager project of which it is a part, has. While the methods employed were unsuccessful at assigning the charcoal peaks (Upper, Middle, Lower) in the sequence to particular cultures, various possibilities have been raised for future appraisal by different methodologies. Importantly, amongst these possibilities are several scenarios implicating Indigenous peoples as important influences on bog ecology. This is something that has

not been much considered at the site before, with most focus instead being on the Norse presence (Crocker 2020; Lewis-Simpson 2020), but should be, given the length of Indigenous tenure at the site compared to the Norse (see fig 17). However, the Norse should be considered as important influences on the bog and landscape at LAM as well. Indeed, it is entirely possible that this was a shared zone of interaction for some time with both cultures contributing (Ledger et al. 2019b). What this study has ultimately revealed is the interplay between natural and anthropogenic factors, which together brought about the formation of the peat sequence seen in monolith 4A800B3-6.

6.2 Future Directions

My research has raised some important areas of consideration to be addressed in subsequent studies. A greater understanding of formation processes is of utmost importance. To this end, charcoal analysis should be employed. An anatomical analysis of charcoal could discern whether it relates to anthropogenically imported wood/driftwood or else to species endemic to the bog or surrounding area (Mooney 2016a, 2016b). This could help clarify the prevalence of *in situ* burning and also give insight into wood use patterns on the site in the past. Further methods, particularly those drawn from geoarchaeology and geochemistry, should be used to identify how the cultural layers in the peat sequence formed. Micromorphology especially should be employed as this method can discern formation and post-depositional processes (Davidson et al. 2002; Macphail and Goldberg 2018) and should be able to identify if fire events occurred on the bog surface (Davidson and Carter 1998; Simpson et al. 2003). The combined use of Attenuated total reflectance (ATR), Fourier Transform Infrared (FTIR) and Raman

spectroscopy (and other spectroscopic techniques) might also be applied to reconstruct the burning intensity of *in situ* peat fires at the site (Constantine IV et al. 2020; Mauquoy et al. 2020). Geochemical analysis should be utilized as a complement to micromorphology in order to identify the chemical makeup of the deposits and how humans may have impacted them, for instance, by increasing phosphorus (Bintliff and Degryse 2022). Lipid biomarker analysis may be used as well to test for the presence of dung and identify it to species (Harrault et al. 2019). Sedimentological analysis might also be undertaken on the mineral grains in the sequence, as such analysis can reveal the source of the grains and discern whether they are wind (Costa et al. 2013) or water transported (Badapalli et al. 2022). In addition to this, further palaeoecological work employing additional proxies should be undertaken as well. In particular, testate amoeba analysis should be applied to the sequence and elsewhere, as this can be used to clarify moisture conditions in the bog and affirm wet/dry shifts (Booth 2002; Hughes et al. 2006) as well as disturbances (Gałka et al. 2017; Marcisz et al. 2019). Any further research employing plant macrofossils should also identify Sphagnum to species as this can inform on moisture as well (Rydin and Jeglum 2013). More precise site-specific palaeoclimatic data is needed for LAM and its environs, some of which should be provided by the palynological and archaeoentomological research that is planned for the near future in association with other methodologies (geoarchaeology/micromorphology, palynology, archaeobotany, archaeoentomology, geophysics, tephrochronology, aDNA etc.). The application of additional proxies and methods, some of which is currently underway, will also further demonstrate that the charcoal peaks discussed in this thesis are cultural in origin.

This thesis is but the first targeted, detailed study in a host of projects planned both for the bog and broader LAM area—including a geoarchaeological analysis to be performed by myself as part of a PhD project. The bog and wider landscape at LAM are an exquisite archive holding marvellous details, which are sure to be revealed as different methods are used. Indeed, further analyses employing multiple lines of evidence may even be able to identify what cultures the charcoal peaks in the sequence belong to and thus discern which of the *possibilities* identified in this thesis are true.

References

Ágústsson, H & Kristjánsdóttir, S, 2003, *The reconstructed medieval farm in Þjórsárdalur and the development of the Icelandic turf house*, National Museum of Iceland, Reykjavík.

Akasofu, S-I, 2010, 'On the recovery from the Little Ice Age', *Natural Science*, vol. 2, no. 11, pp. 1211–1224.

Albert, BM, Innes, JB, & Blackford, JJ, 2021, 'Multi-profile fine-resolution palynology of Late Mesolithic to Bronze Age peat at Cat Stones, Rishworth Moor, Central Pennines, UK', *The Holocene*, vol. 31, no. 3, pp. 483–501.

Andersen, R, Chapman, S, & Artz, R, 2013, 'Microbial communities in natural and disturbed peatlands: a review', *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, vol. 57, pp. 979–994.

Anderson, DE, 1998, 'A reconstruction of Holocene climatic changes from peat bogs in north-west Scotland', *Boreas*, vol. 27, no. 3, pp. 208–224.

Anderson, JP, 1939, 'Plants used by the Eskimo of the northern Bering Sea and arctic regions of Alaska', *American Journal of Botany*, pp. 714–716.

Anderson, K, 2009, *The Ozette prairies of Olympic National Park: their former Indigenous uses and management*, Pacific West Region, National Park Service.

Anderson, RL, Foster, DR, & Motzkin, G, 2003, 'Integrating lateral expansion into models of peatland development in temperate New England', *Journal of Ecology*, vol. 91, no. 1, pp. 68–76.

Andrews, TD & Buggey, S, 2008, 'Authenticity in Aboriginal cultural landscapes', *APT Bulletin*, vol. 39, no. 2/3, pp. 63–71.

Arneborg, J, Lynnerup, N, Heinemeier, J, Møhl, J, Rud, N, & Sveinbjörnsdóttir, ÁE, 2012, 'Norse Greenland dietary economy ca. AD 980-ca. AD 1450: Introduction', *Journal of the North Atlantic*, vol. 2012, no. sp3, pp. 1–39.

Arnold, CD & Hart, EJ, 1992, 'The Mackenzie Inuit winter house', *Arctic*, vol. 45, no. 2, pp. 199–200.

Auger, R, 1993, 'Late-18th-and early-19th-century Inuit and Europeans in Southern Labrador', *Arctic*, pp. 27–34.

Badapalli, PK, Kottala, RB, Rajasekhar, M, Ramachandra, M, & Krupavathi, C, 2022, 'Modeling of comparative studies on surface micro morphology of Aeolian, River, Lake, and Beach sand samples using SEM and EDS/EDAX', *Materials Today: Proceedings*, vol. 50, pp. 655–660. Bal, M-C, Pelachs, A, Perez-Obiol, R, Julia, R, & Cunill, R, 2011, 'Fire history and human activities during the last 3300 cal yr BP in Spain's Central Pyrenees: the case of the Estany de Burg', *Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology*, vol. 300, no. 1–4, pp. 179–190.

Balée, W, 1998, 'Historical ecology: premises and postulates', *Advances in Historical Ecology*, pp. 13–29.

Balée, W, 2006, 'The research program of historical ecology', *Annu. Rev. Anthropol.*, vol. 35, pp. 75–98.

Banfield, CE, 1983, 'Climate', in G. R. South (ed.), *Biogeography and ecology of the Island of Newfoundland*, vol. 48, pp. 37–106, Dr W Junk Publishers, The Hague.

Barbel, H, Bhiry, N, Todisco, D, Desrosiers, P, & Marguerie, D, 2019, 'Paaliup Qarmangit 1 site geoarchaeology: Taphonomy of a Thule-Inuit semi-subterranean dwelling in a periglacial context in northeastern Hudson Bay', *Geoarchaeology*, vol. 34, no. 6, pp. 809–830.

Barber, KE, Chambers, FM, & Maddy, D, 2003, 'Holocene palaeoclimates from peat stratigraphy: macrofossil proxy climate records from three oceanic raised bogs in England and Ireland', *Quaternary Science Reviews*, vol. 22, no. 5–7, pp. 521–539.

Barber, KE, Chambers, FM, & Maddy, D, 2004, 'Late Holocene climatic history of northern Germany and Denmark: peat macrofossil investigations at Dosenmoor, Schleswig-Holstein, and Svanemose, Jutland', *Boreas*, vol. 33, no. 2, pp. 132–144.

Barber, KE, Chambers, FM, Maddy, D, Stoneman, R, & Brew, J, 1994, 'A sensitive high-resolution record of late Holocene climatic change from a raised bog in northern England', *The Holocene*, vol. 4, no. 2, pp. 198–205.

Barber, KE & Langdon, PG, 2007, 'What drives the peat-based palaeoclimate record? A critical test using multi-proxy climate records from northern Britain', *Quaternary Science Reviews*, vol. 26, no. 25–28, pp. 3318–3327.

Barber, KE, Maddy, D, Rose, N, Stevenson, A, Stoneman, R, & Thompson, R, 2000, 'Replicated proxy-climate signals over the last 2000 yr from two distant UK peat bogs: new evidence for regional palaeoclimate teleconnections', *Quaternary Science Reviews*, vol. 19, no. 6, pp. 481–487.

Barber, Keith, Dumayne-Peaty, L, Hughes, P, Mauquoy, D, & Scaife, R, 1998, 'Replicability and variability of the recent macrofossil and proxy-climate record from raised bogs: field stratigraphy and macrofossil data from Bolton Fell Moss and Walton Moss, Cumbria, England', *Journal of Quaternary Science: Published for the Quaternary Research Association*, vol. 13, no. 6, pp. 515–528. Bareis, CJ & Winston, JH, 1985, 'Preliminary Report of the 1963 Archaeological Excavations at L'Anse aux Meadows', in A. S. Ingstad (ed.), *The Norse Discovery of America: Excavations of a Norse Settement at L'Anse aux Meadows, Newfoundland 1961-1968*, vol. 1, pp. 109–119, Norwegian University Press, Oslo.

Bauer, IE & Vitt, DH, 2011, 'Peatland dynamics in a complex landscape: Development of a fen-bog complex in the Sporadic Discontinuous Permafrost zone of northern Alberta, Canada', *Boreas*, vol. 40, no. 4, pp. 714–726.

Bayliss, A, Ramsey, CB, Van der Plicht, J, & Whittle, A, 2007, 'Bradshaw and Bayes: towards a timetable for the Neolithic', *Cambridge Archaeological Journal*, vol. 17, no. S1, pp. 1–28.

Beaton, G, 2004, *A chip off the old block: investigations of a Maritime Archaic lithic workshop/quarry site in Big Brook (EjBa-2), northwestern Newfoundland*, Memorial University of Newfoundland.

Beaudoin, MA, Josephs, RL, & Rankin, LK, 2010, 'Attributing cultural affiliation to sod structures in Labrador: A Labrador métis example from North River', *Canadian Journal of Archaeology/Journal Canadien d'Archéologie*, pp. 148–173.

Bell, T, Macpherson, J, & Renouf, M, 2000, 'Wish you were here..." a thumbnail portrait of the Great Northern Peninsula Environment 1000 AD', in S. Lewis-Simpson (ed.), *Vinland revisited: The Norse World at the turn of the first millennium. Selected Papers from the Viking Millennium International Symposium*, pp. 15–24, Historic Sites Association of Newfoundland and Labrador, St John's.

Bell, Trevor, Macpherson, J, & Renouf, M, 2005, 'Late prehistoric human impact on Bass Pond, Port au Choix', *Newfoundland Studies*, vol. 20, no. 1, pp. 107–129.

Bell, T & Renouf, MP, 2008, 'The domino effect: culture change and environmental change in Newfoundland, 1500-1100 cal BP', *Northern Review*, no. 28, pp. 72–94.

Bell, Trevor & Renouf, M, 2011, 'By land and sea: Landscape and marine environmental perspectives on Port au Choix archaeology', in M. P. Renouf (ed.), *The Cultural Landscapes of Port au Choix: Precontact Hunter-Gatherers of Northwestern Newfoundland*, pp. 21–41, Springer, Boston.

Bergner, B, Johnstone, J, & Treseder, KK, 2004, 'Experimental warming and burn severity alter soil CO2 flux and soil functional groups in a recently burned boreal forest', *Global Change Biology*, vol. 10, no. 12, pp. 1996–2004.

Betts, MW & Hrynick, MG, 2021, *Archaeology of the Atlantic Northeast*, University of Toronto Press, Toronto.

Bhiry, N, Marguerie, D, & Lofthouse, S, 2016, 'Paleoenvironmental reconstruction and timeline of a Dorset-Thule settlement at Quaqtaq (Nunavik, Canada)', *Arctic, Antarctic, and Alpine Research*, vol. 48, no. 2, pp. 293–313.

Biggs, WG, 1976, *An ecological and land use study of Burns bog, Delta, British Columbia*, University of British Columbia.

Binet, P, Rouifed, S, Jassey, VE, Toussaint, M-L, & Chiapusio, G, 2017, 'Experimental climate warming alters the relationship between fungal root symbiosis and Sphagnum litter phenolics in two peatland microhabitats', *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, vol. 105, pp. 153–161.

Bintliff, J & Degryse, P, 2022, 'A review of soil geochemistry in archaeology', *Journal of Archaeological Science: Reports*, vol. 43, p. 103419.

Bird, JB, n.d., *Conservation Work at the L'Anse aux Meadows, Newfoundland, Norse Site*, Retrieved from Provincial Archaeology Office, Newfoundland and Labrador.

Birks, HH, 2007, 'Plant macrofossil introduction', in S. Elias & C. Mock (eds.), *Encyclopedia of quaternary science*, 1st edn, pp. 2266–2288, Elsevier Science, Amsterdam.

Birks, HH, 2002, 'Plant macrofossils', in *Tracking environmental change using lake sediments*, pp. 49–74, Springer.

Birks, HH & Birks, H, 2000, 'Future uses of pollen analysis must include plant macrofossils', *Journal of Biogeography*, pp. 31–35.

Birks, HJB, 2019, 'Contributions of Quaternary botany to modern ecology and biogeography', *Plant Ecology & Diversity*, vol. 12, no. 3–4, pp. 189–385.

Birks, HJB & Berglund, BE, 2018, 'One hundred years of Quaternary pollen analysis 1916–2016', *Vegetation History and Archaeobotany*, vol. 27, no. 2, pp. 271–309.

Bishop, RR, Church, MJ, Dugmore, AJ, Madsen, CK, & Møller, NA, 2013, 'A charcoalrich horizon at Ø69, Greenland: evidence for vegetation burning during the Norse landnám?', *Journal of Archaeological Science*, vol. 40, no. 11, pp. 3890–3902.

Blaauw, M & Christen, JA, 2013, 'Bacon Manual v2. 3.3', Queens University Belfast.

Blaauw, M & Heegaard, E, 2012, 'Estimation of age-depth relationships', in *Tracking* environmental change using lake sediments, pp. 379–413, Springer.

Blockley, SP, Blaauw, M, Ramsey, CB, & van der Plicht, J, 2007, 'Building and testing age models for radiocarbon dates in Lateglacial and Early Holocene sediments', *Quaternary Science Reviews*, vol. 26, no. 15–16, pp. 1915–1926.

Böcher, TW, Holmen, K, Jakobsen, K, & others, 1968, 'The flora of Greenland.', *The Flora of Greenland*.

Boiffin, J, Aubin, I, & Munson, AD, 2015, 'Ecological controls on post-fire vegetation assembly at multiple spatial scales in eastern North American boreal forests', *Journal of Vegetation Science*, vol. 26, no. 2, pp. 360–372.

Boivin, NL, Zeder, MA, Fuller, DQ, Crowther, A, Larson, G, Erlandson, JM, Denham, T, & Petraglia, MD, 2016, 'Ecological consequences of human niche construction: Examining long-term anthropogenic shaping of global species distributions', *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, vol. 113, no. 23, pp. 6388–6396.

Bolender, DJ & Johnson, ED, 2018, 'Reassembling the household for Icelandic archaeology: a contribution to comparative political economy', *Post-Medieval Archaeology*, vol. 52, no. 1, pp. 65–83.

Booth, RK, 2002, 'Testate amoebae as paleoindicators of surface-moisture changes on Michigan peatlands: modern ecology and hydrological calibration', *Journal of Paleolimnology*, vol. 28, no. 3, pp. 329–348.

Boulanger-Lapointe, N, Gérin-Lajoie, J, Siegwart Collier, L, Desrosiers, S, Spiech, C, Henry, GH, Hermanutz, L, Lévesque, E, & Cuerrier, A, 2019, 'Berry plants and berry picking in Inuit Nunangat: Traditions in a changing socio-ecological landscape', *Human Ecology*, vol. 47, no. 1, pp. 81–93.

Bragg, O & Tallis, J, 2001, 'The sensitivity of peat-covered upland landscapes', *Catena*, vol. 42, no. 2–4, pp. 345–360.

Brown, JL, Simpson, IA, Morrison, SJ, Adderley, WP, Tisdall, E, & Vésteinsson, O, 2012, 'Shieling areas: historical grazing pressures and landscape responses in northern Iceland', *Human Ecology*, vol. 40, no. 1, pp. 81–99.

Byock, JL, 2001, Viking Age Iceland, Penguin UK.

Campana, M, McGovern, T, & Disotell, T, 2014, 'Evidence for differential ancient DNA survival in human and pig bones from the Norse North Atlantic', *International Journal of Osteoarchaeology*, vol. 24, no. 6, pp. 704–708.

Catlin, KA, 2021, 'Small Dwelling Sites in the Medieval Settlement of Iceland', *Medieval Archaeology*, vol. 65, no. 1, pp. 66–97.

Celant, A, Magri, D, & Stasolla, FR, 2015, 'Collection of plant remains from archaeological contexts', in *Plant Microtechniques and protocols*, pp. 469–485, Springer.

Charman, D & others, 2002, *Peatlands and environmental change.*, John Wiley & Sons Ltd, Hoboken.

Charman, DJ, Hendon, D, & Packman, S, 1999, 'Multiproxy surface wetness records from replicate cores on an ombrotrophic mire: implications for Holocene palaeoclimate records', *Journal of Quaternary Science: Published for the Quaternary Research Association*, vol. 14, no. 5, pp. 451–463.

Chiapusio, G, Jassey, VE, Bellvert, F, Comte, G, Weston, LA, Delarue, F, Buttler, A, Toussaint, ML, & Binet, P, 2018, 'Sphagnum species modulate their phenolic profiles and mycorrhizal colonization of surrounding andromeda polifolia along peatland microhabitats', *Journal of Chemical Ecology*, vol. 44, no. 12, pp. 1146–1157.

Chiesa, P, 2021, 'Marckalada: The First Mention of America in the Mediterranean Area (c. 1340)', *Terrae Incognitae*, vol. 53, no. 2, pp. 88–106.

Christensen, AE, 1985, 'Test Excavation of the Boat-sheds', in A. S. Ingstad (ed.), *The Norse Discovery of America: Excavations of a Norse Settement at L'Anse aux Meadows, Newfoundland 1961-1968*, vol. 1, pp. 121–139, Norwegian University Press, Oslo.

Clark, JS & Royall, PD, 1995, 'Particle-size evidence for source areas of charcoal accumulation in late Holocene sediments of eastern North American lakes', *Quaternary Research*, vol. 43, no. 1, pp. 80–89.

Conedera, M, Tinner, W, Neff, C, Meurer, M, Dickens, AF, & Krebs, P, 2009, 'Reconstructing past fire regimes: methods, applications, and relevance to fire management and conservation', *Quaternary Science Reviews*, vol. 28, no. 5–6, pp. 555– 576.

Constantine IV, M, Mooney, S, Hibbert, B, Marjo, C, Bird, M, Cohen, T, Forbes, M, McBeath, A, Rich, A, & Stride, J, 2021, 'Using charcoal, ATR FTIR and chemometrics to model the intensity of pyrolysis: Exploratory steps towards characterising fire events', *Science of the Total Environment*, vol. 783, p. 147052.

Costa, P, Andrade, C, Mahaney, W, Da Silva, FM, Freire, P, Freitas, M, Janardo, C, Oliveira, M, Silva, T, & Lopes, V, 2013, 'Aeolian microtextures in silica spheres induced in a wind tunnel experiment: Comparison with aeolian quartz', *Geomorphology*, vol. 180, pp. 120–129.

Couillard, P-L, Tremblay, J, Lavoie, M, & Payette, S, 2019, 'Comparative methods for reconstructing fire histories at the stand scale using charcoal records in peat and mineral soils', *Forest Ecology and Management*, vol. 433, pp. 376–385.

Cridland, J, 1998, Late prehistoric Indian subsistence in northeastern Newfoundland: faunal analysis of Little Passage Complex assemblages from the Beaches and Inspector Island sites, Memorial University of Newfoundland.
Crocker, C, 2020, 'What we talk about when we talk about Vinland: History, whiteness, Indigenous erasure, and the early Norse presence in Newfoundland', *Canadian Journal of History*, vol. 55, no. 1–2, pp. 91–122.

Cronon, W, 2011, *Changes in the land: Indians, colonists, and the ecology of New England*, Hill and Wang, New York.

Crum, H & Planisek, S, 1988, *A focus on peatlands and peat mosses*, University of Michigan Press, Ann Arbor.

Crumley, CL, 1994, 'Historical ecology: a multidimensional ecological orientation', in C. L. Crumley (ed.), *Historical ecology: cultural knowledge and changing landscapes*, pp. 1–16, School of American Research Press, Santa Fe.

Crumley, CL & Marquardt, WH, 1990, 'Landscape: a unifying concept in regional analysis', *Interpreting Space: GIS and Archaeology*, pp. 73–79.

Crutzen, P, 2006, 'The "anthropocene".', in E. Ehlers & T. Krafft (eds.), *Earth system science in the anthropocene*, pp. 13–18, Springer, Heidelberg.

Cui, Q-Y, Gaillard, M-J, Vanniere, B, Colombaroli, D, Lemdahl, G, Olsson, F, Benito, B, & Zhao, Y, 2020, 'Evaluating fossil charcoal representation in small peat bogs: Detailed Holocene fire records from southern Sweden', *The Holocene*, vol. 30, no. 11, pp. 1540–1551.

Cumming, L, 1975, 'Geology of the L'anse aux Meadows National Historic Park, Northern Newfoundland', *Geological Survey of Canada Paper*, vol. 75, no. 1, pp. 411–412.

Curtin, L, D'Andrea, WJ, Balascio, NL, Shirazi, S, Shapiro, B, de Wet, GA, Bradley, RS, & Bakke, J, 2021, 'Sedimentary DNA and molecular evidence for early human occupation of the Faroe Islands', *Communications Earth & Environment*, vol. 2, no. 1, pp. 1–7.

Curtis, JE, 2007, *AM-2007-1079 Progress Report L'Anse aux Meadows Aboriginal Archaeology Project*, Parks Canada, Retrieved from Provincial Archaeology Office, Newfoundland and Labrador.

Curtis, JE, 2009, *L'Anse aux Meadows Aboriginal Archaeology Project 2008 Permit #: AM-2008-1828 Final Report*, Parks Canada, Retrieved from Provincial Archaeology Office, Newfoundland and Labrador.

Curtis, JE, 2011, AM-2010-5513 Final Report Impact Assessment and Excavation at L'Anse aux Meadows National Historic Site, Parks Canada, Retrieved from Provincial Archaeology Office, Newfoundland and Labrador.

Curtis, JE & Wallace, BL, 2008, *L'Anse aux Meadows Aboriginal Archaeology 2007*. *Final Report.*, Parks Canada.

Dagneau, C & Moore, J, 2009, L'Anse Aux Meadows National Historic Site of Canada: Submerged Cultural Resource Inventory 2008., Parks Canada, Retrieved from Provincial Archaeology Office, Newfoundland and Labrador.

Dagneau, C & Moore, J, 2010, L'Anse aux Meadows National Historic Site of Canada Submerged Cultural Resource Inventory: 2008 and 2009 Surveys., Parks Canada, Retrieved from Provincial Archaeology Office, Newfoundland and Labrador.

Daley, T & Barber, K, 2012, 'Multi-proxy Holocene palaeoclimate records from Walton Moss, northern England and Dosenmoor, northern Germany, assessed using three statistical approaches', *Quaternary International*, vol. 268, pp. 111–127.

Damman, A, 1978, 'Geographical changes in the vegetation pattern of raised bogs in the Bay of Fundy region of Maine and New Brunswick', in E. Van der Maarel & M. J. Werger, (eds.), *Plant Species and Plant Communities: Proceedings of the International Symposium held at Nijmegen, November 11–12, 1976 in honour of Professor Dr. Victor Westhoff on the occasion of his sixtieth birthday.*, pp. 91–105, Springer Science & Business Media, Dordrecht.

Davidson, DA & Carter, SP, 1998, 'Micromorphological evidence of past agricultural practices in cultivated soils: the impact of a traditional agricultural system on soils in Papa Stour, Shetland', *Journal of Archaeological Science*, vol. 25, no. 9, pp. 827–838.

Davidson, DA, Carter, SP, & Quine, TA, 1992, 'An evaluation of micromorphology as an aid to archaeological interpretation', *Geoarchaeology*, vol. 7, no. 1, pp. 55–65.

Davies, MA, Blewett, J, Naafs, BDA, & Finkelstein, SA, 2021, 'Ecohydrological controls on apparent rates of peat carbon accumulation in a boreal bog record from the Hudson Bay Lowlands, northern Ontario, Canada', *Quaternary Research*, vol. 104, pp. 14–27.

Davis, AM, 1980, 'Modern pollen spectra from the tundra-boreal forest transition in northern Newfoundland, Canada', *Boreas*, vol. 9, no. 2, pp. 89–100.

Davis, AM, 1984, 'Ombrotrophic peatlands in Newfoundland, Canada: Their origins, development and trans-Atlantic affinities', *Chemical Geology*, vol. 44, no. 1–3, pp. 287–309.

Davis, AM, 1985, *Historical Biogeography and Archaeology: Reconstructing Past Environments at the L'Anse aux Meadows Site.*

Davis, AM, & McAndrews, J, 1978, *Pollen Analysis at the L'Anse aux Meadows Norse Site*, Archaeological Research Section, Canadian Parks Service, Environment Canada, Retrieved from Provincial Archaeology Office, Newfoundland and Labrador.

Davis, AM, McAndrews, JH, & Wallace, B, 1988, 'Paleoenvironment and the archaeological record at the L'Anse aux Meadows Site, Newfoundland', *Geoarchaeology*, vol. 3, no. 1, pp. 53–64.

Davis, JD & Banack, SA, 2012, 'Ethnobotany of the Kiluhikturmiut Inuinnait of Kugluktuk, Nunavut, Canada', *Ethnobiology Letters*, vol. 3, pp. 78–90.

Davis, M, 2011, 'Do native birds care whether their berries are native or exotic? No.', *BioScience*, vol. 61, no. 7, pp. 501–502.

Davis, RB, 2016, Bogs & Fens: A Guide to the Peatland Plants of the Northeastern United States and Adjacent Canada, University Press of New England, Lebanon.

Dean, WE, 1974, 'Determination of carbonate and organic matter in calcareous sediments and sedimentary rocks by loss on ignition; comparison with other methods', *Journal of Sedimentary Research*, vol. 44, no. 1, pp. 242–248.

Digital Plant Atlas, 2021, 'Digital Plant Atlas', Digital Plant Atlast, https://www.plantatlas.eu/.

Dincauze, DF, 2000, *Environmental archaeology: principles and practice*, Cambridge Univ Press, Cambridge.

Dodson, JR & Bradshaw, RH, 1987, 'A history of vegetation and fire, 6,600 BP to present, County Sligo, western Ireland', *Boreas*, vol. 16, no. 2, pp. 113–123.

Dugmore, AJ, Church, MJ, Buckland, PC, Edwards, KJ, Lawson, I, McGovern, TH, Panagiotakopulu, E, Simpson, IA, Skidmore, P, & Sveinbjarnardóttir, G, 2005, 'The Norse landnám on the North Atlantic islands: an environmental impact assessment', *Polar Record*, vol. 41, no. 1, pp. 21–37.

Dugmore, AJ, Keller, C, & McGovern, TH, 2007, 'Norse Greenland settlement: reflections on climate change, trade, and the contrasting fates of human settlements in the North Atlantic islands', *Arctic Anthropology*, vol. 44, no. 1, pp. 12–36.

Dugmore, AJ, McGovern, TH, Vésteinsson, O, Arneborg, J, Streeter, R, & Keller, C, 2012, 'Cultural adaptation, compounding vulnerabilities and conjunctures in Norse Greenland', *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, vol. 109, no. 10, pp. 3658–3663.

Dussault, F, Bell, TJ, & Grimes, V, 2016, 'Archaeoentomological Perspectives on Dorset Occupations in Newfoundland', *Arctic*, vol. 69, pp. 1–15.

Edwards, KJ, Gauthier, E, Ledger, P, & Schofield, JE, 2012, '114 Coprophilous fungal spores and selected non-pollen palynomorphs (NPPs) in lake and peat deposits from Greenland', *Japanese Journal of Palynology*, vol. 58, no. Special, p. 53.

Edwards, KJ, Schofield, JE, & Mauquoy, D, 2008, 'High resolution paleoenvironmental and chronological investigations of Norselandnámat Tasiusaq, Eastern Settlement, Greenland', *Quaternary Research*, vol. 69, no. 1, pp. 1–15.

Eldjárn, K, 1985, 'Investigations', in A. S. Ingstad (ed.), *The Norse Discovery of America: Excavations of a Norse Settement at L'Anse aux Meadows, Newfoundland 1961-1968*, vol. 1, pp. 97–107, Norwegian University Press, Oslo.

Ellis, EC, Gauthier, N, Goldewijk, KK, Bird, RB, Boivin, N, Díaz, S, Fuller, DQ, Gill, JL, Kaplan, JO, Kingston, N, & others, 2021, 'People have shaped most of terrestrial nature for at least 12,000 years', *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, vol. 118, no. 17.

Ellison, AM, Buckley, HL, Miller, TE, & Gotelli, NJ, 2004, 'Morphological variation in Sarracenia purpurea (Sarraceniaceae): geographic, environmental, and taxonomic correlates', *American Journal of Botany*, vol. 91, no. 11, pp. 1930–1935.

Evans, EE, 1948, 'Strange Iron Objects from Co. Fermanagh', *Ulster Journal of Archaeology*, pp. 58–64.

Evans, JG, 1978, An introduction to environmental archaeology, Elek, London.

Ferbrache, CE, 2019, *Finding the Time: Age-Depth Models in Rockshelters and Their Paleoenvironmental Implications*, Utah State University.

Fernández-Toirán, L & Águeda, B, 2007, 'Fruitbodies of Cenococcum geophilum', *Mycotaxon*, vol. 100, pp. 109–114.

Fife, W, 2004, 'Penetrating types: Conflating modernist and postmodernist tourism on the Great Northern Peninsula of Newfoundland', *Journal of American Folklore*, vol. 117, no. 464, pp. 147–167.

Finkenbinder, MS, Steinman, BA, Bird, BW, Heilman, EC, Aspey, AR, Mark, SZ, Stansell, ND, Fernandez, A, Halsor, SP, & Abbott, MB, 2022, 'A 5000-year lacustrine sediment oxygen isotope record of late Holocene climate change in Newfoundland, Canada', *Quaternary Science Reviews*, vol. 278, p. 107376.

Finsinger, W, Kelly, R, Fevre, J, & Magyari, EK, 2014, 'A guide to screening charcoal peaks in macrocharcoal-area records for fire-episode reconstructions', *The Holocene*, vol. 24, no. 8, pp. 1002–1008.

Fisher, MLG, 2020, *Fire Activity in Northeast Ontario During the Holocene as Inferred by Sedimentary Macrocharcoal*, Queen's University (Canada).

Fitzhugh, WW, 2000, 'Puffins, ringed pins, and runestones: the Viking passage to America', in W. W. Fitzhugh & E. I. Ward (eds.), *Vikings: The North Atlantic Saga*, pp. 11–25, Smithsonian Books, Washington.

Fitzhugh, WW, 2019, 'Paradise Gained, Lost, and Regained: Pulse Migration and the Inuit Archaeology of the Quebec Lower North Shore', *Arctic Anthropology*, vol. 56, no. 1, pp. 52–76.

Florescu, G, Vannière, B, & Feurdean, A, 2018, 'Exploring the influence of local controls on fire activity using multiple charcoal records from northern Romanian Carpathians', *Quaternary International*, vol. 488, pp. 41–57.

Forbes, V, Ledger, P, Mooney, DE, Tapper, B & Wolfrum, A, 2022, *Final Report on Archaeological and Palaeoecological Fieldwork at L'Anse aux Meadows National Historic Site, August 2019.*, Memorial University of Newfoundland.

Forbes, V, Dussault, F, & Bain, A, 2014, 'Archaeoentomological Research in the North Atlantic', *Journal of the North Atlantic*, no. 26, pp. 1–24.

Fowler, C & Konopik, E, 2007, 'The history of fire in the southern United States', *Human Ecology Review*, pp. 165–176.

Fredskild, B, 1992, 'Erosion and vegetational changes in South Greenland caused by agriculture', *Geografisk Tidsskrift-Danish Journal of Geography*, vol. 92, no. 1, pp. 14–21.

Frolking, S, Roulet, NT, Moore, TR, Richard, PJ, Lavoie, M, & Muller, SD, 2001, 'Modeling northern peatland decomposition and peat accumulation', *Ecosystems*, vol. 4, no. 5, pp. 479–498.

Gałka, M, Tobolski, K, Górska, A, & Lamentowicz, M, 2017, 'Resilience of plant and testate amoeba communities after climatic and anthropogenic disturbances in a Baltic bog in Northern Poland: implications for ecological restoration', *The Holocene*, vol. 27, no. 1, pp. 130–141.

Garnett, M, Ineson, P, & Stevenson, A, 2000, 'Effects of burning and grazing on carbon sequestration in a Pennine blanket bog, UK', *The Holocene*, vol. 10, no. 6, pp. 729–736.

Gearey, B, Bermingham, N, Chapman, H, Charman, D, Fletcher, W, Fyfe, R, Quartermaine, J, & Van de Noort, R, 2010, *Peatlands and the historic environment*, International Union for the Conservation of Nature., Edinburgh.

Gearey, B & Fyfe, R, 2016, 'Peatlands as Knowledge Archives: Intellectual Services.', in A. Bonn, T. Allott, M. Evans, H. Joosten, & R. Stoneman (eds.), *Investing in Peatlands: Delivering Multiple Benefits.*, pp. 95–114, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

Giblett, RJ, 2014, Canadian wetlands: Places and people, Intellect Ltd, Bristol.

Gimbarzevsky, P, 1977, L'Anse aux Meadows National Historic Park Integrated Survey of Biophysical Resources, Forest Management Institute, Environment Canada.

Gleeson, P, 1979, Study of Wood Material from L'Anse aux Meadows, Parks Canada.

Godwin, H, 1981, *The archives of the peat bogs*, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

Gould, K, Smreciu, A, & Wood, S, 2013, *Rumex aquaticus: western dock*, , https://era.library.ualberta.ca/items/192fb74a-fce2-4860-a4b0-51395d5b8e9c/view/ec846965-d012-44d5-aec5-df2cc080b9b0/Rumex-20aquaticus.pdf.

Granath, G, Strengbom, J, & Rydin, H, 2010, 'Rapid ecosystem shifts in peatlands: linking plant physiology and succession', *Ecology*, vol. 91, no. 10, pp. 3047–3056.

Grant, DR, 1992, *Quaternary Geology of St. Anthony-Blanc-Sablon Area, Newfoundland and Quebec*, vol. 427, Geological Survey of Canada.

Grimm, E, 1993, 'TILIA: a pollen program for analysis and display', *Illinois State Museum, Springfield.*

Grimm, EC, 1987, 'CONISS: a FORTRAN 77 program for stratigraphically constrained cluster analysis by the method of incremental sum of squares', *Computers & Geosciences*, vol. 13, no. 1, pp. 13–35.

Grimm, EC, 2013, *TGView Version 2.0.2.*, Retrieved from http://intra.museum.state.il.us/pub/grimm/.

Groeneveld, EV, Masse, A, & Rochefort, L, 2007, 'Polytrichum strictum as a nurse-plant in peatland restoration', *Restoration Ecology*, vol. 15, no. 4, pp. 709–719.

Guðmundsdóttir, L, 2021, 'Wood procurement in Norse Greenland (11th to 15th c. AD)', *Journal of Archaeological Science*, vol. 134, p. 105469.

Guedon, M-F, 2000, 'Sacred Smokes in Circumboreal Countries: An Ethnobotanical Exploration', *Northern Review*, no. 22.

Hall, V & Mauquoy, D, 2005, 'Tephra-dated climate-and human-impact studies during the last 1500 years from a raised bog in central Ireland', *The Holocene*, vol. 15, no. 7, pp. 1086–1093.

Harrault, L, Milek, K, Jardé, E, Jeanneau, L, Derrien, M, & Anderson, DG, 2019, 'Faecal biomarkers can distinguish specific mammalian species in modern and past environments', *PLoS One*, vol. 14, no. 2, p. e0211119.

Harris, ES, 2008, 'Ethnobryology: traditional uses and folk classification of bryophytes', *The Bryologist*, pp. 169–217.

Hartery, L, 2007, *The Cow Head Complex and the Recent Indian Period in Newfoundland, Labrador and the Quebec Lower North Shore*, Copetown Press, St John's. Hartery, L & Rast, T, 2001, *Bird Cove Archaeology Project 2000 Field Season: Final Report*, Retrieved from Provincial Archaeology Office, Newfoundland and Labrador.

Heaney, S, 1969, 'Bogland', Door into the Dark, pp. 56-57.

Henningsmoen, KE, 1985, 'Pollen-analytical investigations in the L'Anse aux Meadows area, Newfoundland', in A. S. Ingstad (ed.), *The Discovery of a Norse Settlement in America: Excavations at L'Anse Aux Meadows, Newfoundland 1961-1968*, vol. 1, pp. 309–362, Norwegian University Press, Oslo.

Hobbs, RJ, 1984, 'Length of burning rotation and community composition in high-level Calluna-Eriophorum bog in N England', *Vegetation*, vol. 57, no. 2, pp. 129–136.

Holly Jr, DH, 2013, *History in the making: the archaeology of the eastern subarctic*, Rowman & Littlefield, Lanham.

Holly Jr, DH & Erwin, JC, 2009, 'Terra Incognita, still: Archaeological investigations in the interior of the Island of Newfoundland', *Archaeology of Eastern North America*, pp. 65–84.

Hope, G & Nanson, R, 2015, 'Peatland carbon stores and fluxes in the Snowy Mountains, New South Wales, Australia', *Mires and Peat*, vol. 15, pp. 1–23.

Hotes, S, Poschlod, P, Sakai, H, & Inoue, T, 2001, 'Vegetation, hydrology, and development of a coastal mire in Hokkaido, Japan, affected by flooding and tephra deposition', *Canadian Journal of Botany*, vol. 79, no. 3, pp. 341–361.

Hughes, P, 2000, 'A reappraisal of the mechanisms leading to ombrotrophy in British raised mires', *Ecology Letters*, vol. 3, no. 1, pp. 7–9.

Hughes, PD, Blundell, A, Charman, DJ, Bartlett, S, Daniell, JR, Wojatschke, A, & Chambers, FM, 2006, 'An 8500 cal. year multi-proxy climate record from a bog in eastern Newfoundland: contributions of meltwater discharge and solar forcing', *Quaternary Science Reviews*, vol. 25, no. 11–12, pp. 1208–1227.

Hull, SH, 2002, *Tanite uet tshinauetamin?: a Trail to Labrador: Recent Indians and the North Cove site*, Memorial University of Newfoundland.

Huston, M & Smith, T, 1987, 'Plant succession: life history and competition', *The American Naturalist*, vol. 130, no. 2, pp. 168–198.

Ingstad, AS, 1977, *The Discovery of a Norse Settlement in America: Excavations at L'Anse aux Meadows, Newfoundland, 1961-1968*, 1st edn, Universitetsforlaget, Oslo.

Ingstad, AS, 1985, *The Norse Discovery of America: Vol. 1: Excavations at L'Anse Aux Meadows, Newfoundland 1961-1968*, Norwegian University Press.

Ingstad, AS, 2013, *The new land with the green meadows*, National Historic Sites Association of Newfoundland and Labrador, St John's.

Ingstad, AS & Ingstad, H, 2001, *The Viking discovery of America: the excavation of a Norse settlement in L'Anse aux Meadows, Newfoundland*, Checkmark Books, New York.

Ingstad, B, 2017, A grand adventure: the lives of Helge and Anne Stine Ingstad and their discovery of a Viking settlement in North America, McGill-Queen's Press-MQUP.

Ismail-Meyer, K, Rentzel, P, & Wiemann, P, 2013, 'Neolithic lakeshore settlements in Switzerland: new insights on site formation processes from micromorphology', *Geoarchaeology*, vol. 28, no. 4, pp. 317–339.

Iversen, J, 1934, 'Moorgeologische untersuchungen auf Grönland', *Meddelelser Fra Dansk Geologisk Forening*, vol. 8, no. 4, pp. 341–358.

Johnson, CW, 1985, Bogs of the Northeast, University Press of New England, Hanover.

Jong, R de, Björck, S, Björkman, L, & Clemmensen, LB, 2006, 'Storminess variation during the last 6500 years as reconstructed from an ombrotrophic peat bog in Halland, southwest Sweden', *Journal of Quaternary Science: Published for the Quaternary Research Association*, vol. 21, no. 8, pp. 905–919.

Joosten, H & de Klerk, P, 2007, 'DAMOCLES: a Dashing Monolith Cutter for fine sectioning of peats and sediments into Large Slices', *Boreas*, vol. 36, no. 1, pp. 76–81.

Jouffray, J-B, Wedding, LM, Norström, AV, Donovan, MK, Williams, GJ, Crowder, LB, Erickson, AL, Friedlander, AM, Graham, NA, Gove, JM, & others, 2019, 'Parsing human and biophysical drivers of coral reef regimes', *Proceedings of the Royal Society B*, vol. 286, no. 1896, p. 20182544.

Kaplan, SA & Woollett, JM, 2000, 'Challenges and Chokes: Exploring the Interplay of Climate, History, and Culture on Canada's Labrador Coast', *Arctic, Antarctic, and Alpine Research*, vol. 32, no. 3, pp. 351–359.

Kareiva, P, Watts, S, McDonald, R, & Boucher, T, 2007, 'Domesticated nature: shaping landscapes and ecosystems for human welfare', *Science*, vol. 316, no. 5833, pp. 1866–1869.

Kari, PR, 2020, Den'ina K'et'una/Tanaina Plantlore: An Ethnobotany of the Dena'ina People of Southcentral Alaska, University of Alaska Press.

Karst, AL, Antos, JA, & Allen, GA, 2008, 'Sex ratio, flowering and fruit set in dioecious Rubus chamaemorus (Rosaceae) in Labrador', *Botany*, vol. 86, no. 2, pp. 204–212.

Kay, JE, 2012, Norse in Newfoundland: A critical examination of archaeological research at the Norse site at L'Anse aux Meadows, Newfoundland, BAR Publishing, Oxford.

Kimmerer, RW, 2003, *Gathering moss: A natural and cultural history of mosses*, Oregon State University Press, Corvallis.

King, MR, 2020, 'One approach for downscaling climate change data towards regional implications in climate change scenarios: the case for Newfoundland and Labrador, Canada', *SN Applied Sciences*, vol. 2, no. 12, pp. 1–15.

Knecht, RA & Jordan, RH, 1985, 'Nunakakhnak: An Historic Period Koniag Village in Karluk, Kodiak Island, Alaska', *Arctic Anthropology*, pp. 17–35.

Knudson, KJ & Frink, L, 2010, 'Soil chemical signatures of a historic sod house: activity area analysis of an arctic semisubterranean structure on Nelson Island, Alaska', *Archaeological and Anthropological Sciences*, vol. 2, no. 4, pp. 265–282.

Kristensen, TJ & Curtis, JE, 2012, 'Late Holocene hunter-gatherers at L'Anse aux Meadows and the dynamics of bird and mammal hunting in Newfoundland', *Arctic Anthropology*, vol. 49, no. 1, pp. 68–87.

Kristensen, TJ & Renouf, MAP, 2009, *Final Report on the 2008 Excavations at L'Anse aux Meadows National Historic Site, Newfoundland (EjAv-01)Permit Number AM-2008-1827.*, Historic Resources Branch, Altantic Region, Parks Canada, Retrieved from Provincial Archaeology Office, Newfoundland and Labrador.

Kuc, M, 1975, *Paleoecological Investigations of the Norse Settlement site at L'Anse aux Meadows, Newfoundland.*, pp. 445–450, Terrain Science Division.

Kuhry, P, 1994, 'The role of fire in the development of Sphagnum-dominated peatlands in western boreal Canada', *Journal of Ecology*, pp. 899–910.

Kuitems, M, Wallace, BL, Lindsay, C, Scifo, A, Doeve, P, Jenkins, K, Lindauer, S, Erdil, P, Ledger, PM, Forbes, V, & others, 2022, 'Evidence for European presence in the Americas in ad 1021', *Nature*, vol. 601, no. 7893, pp. 388–391.

Kunz, K & Sigurðsson, G, 2008, *The Vinland Sagas: The Icelandic Sagas about the First Documented Voyages Across the North Atlantic*, Penguin Classics, London.

Lacourse, T & Davies, MA, 2015, 'A multi-proxy peat study of Holocene vegetation history, bog development, and carbon accumulation on northern Vancouver Island, Pacific coast of Canada', *The Holocene*, vol. 25, no. 7, pp. 1165–1178.

Lacourse, T & Gajewski, K, 2020, 'Current practices in building and reporting age-depth models', *Quaternary Research*, vol. 96, pp. 28–38.

Laland, K, Matthews, B, & Feldman, MW, 2016, 'An introduction to niche construction theory', *Evolutionary Ecology*, vol. 30, no. 2, pp. 191–202.

Laland, KN & O'Brien, MJ, 2010, 'Niche construction theory and archaeology', *Journal of Archaeological Method and Theory*, vol. 17, no. 4, pp. 303–322.

Langdon, P, Barber, K, & Hughes, P, 2003, 'A 7500-year peat-based palaeoclimatic reconstruction and evidence for an 1100-year cyclicity in bog surface wetness from Temple Hill Moss, Pentland Hills, southeast Scotland', *Quaternary Science Reviews*, vol. 22, no. 2–4, pp. 259–274.

Lantis, M, 1946, 'The social culture of the Nunivak Eskimo', *Transactions of the American Philosophical Society*, vol. 35, no. 3, pp. 153–323.

Lapointe, F & Bradley, RS, 2021, 'Little Ice Age abruptly triggered by intrusion of Atlantic waters into the Nordic Seas', *Science Advances*, vol. 7, no. 51, p. eabi8230.

Lavoie, C & Pellerin, S, 2007, 'Fires in temperate peatlands (southern Quebec): past and recent trends', *Botany*, vol. 85, no. 3, pp. 263–272.

Lavoie, M, Filion, L, & Robert, ÉC, 2009, 'Boreal peatland margins as repository sites of long-term natural disturbances of balsam fir/spruce forests', *Quaternary Research*, vol. 71, no. 3, pp. 295–306.

Lavoie, M, Paré, D, Fenton, N, Groot, A, & Taylor, K, 2005, 'Paludification and management of forested peatlands in Canada: a literature review', *Environmental Reviews*, vol. 13, no. 2, pp. 21–50.

Lazarus, B & Aullas, A, 1992, 'The flora of Nunavik: Edible plants', *Tumivut Winter*, vol. 1992, pp. 45–49.

Le Stum-Boivin, É, Magnan, G, Garneau, M, Fenton, NJ, Grondin, P, & Bergeron, Y, 2019, 'Spatiotemporal evolution of paludification associated with autogenic and allogenic factors in the black spruce–moss boreal forest of Québec, Canada', *Quaternary Research*, vol. 91, no. 2, pp. 650–664.

LeBlanc, S, 2010, *Middle Dorset Variability and Regional Cultural Traditions: A Case Study from Newfoundland and Saint-Pierre and Miquelon*, BAR Publishing, Oxford.

Ledger, PM, 2013, Norse landnám and its impact on the vegetation of Vatnahverfi, Eastern Settlement, Greenland, Aberdeen.

Ledger, PM, 2018, 'Are circumpolar hunter-gatherers visible in the palaeoenvironmental record? Pollen-analytical evidence from Nunalleq, southwestern Alaska', *The Holocene*, vol. 28, no. 3, pp. 415–426.

Ledger, PM, Edwards, KJ, & Schofield, JE, 2013, 'Shieling activity in the Norse eastern settlement: Palaeoenvironment of the "Mountain farm", Vatnahverfi, Greenland', *The Holocene*, vol. 23, no. 6, pp. 810–822.

Ledger, PM, Edwards, KJ, & Schofield, JE, 2014, 'A multiple profile approach to the palynological reconstruction of Norse landscapes in Greenland's Eastern Settlement', *Quaternary Research*, vol. 82, no. 1, pp. 22–37.

Ledger, PM, Edwards, KJ, & Schofield, JE, 2015, 'Taphonomy or signal sensitivity in palaeoecological investigations of Norse landnám in Vatnahverfi, southern Greenland?', *Boreas*, vol. 44, no. 1, pp. 197–215.

Ledger, PM, Edwards, KJ, & Schofield, JE, 2017, 'Competing hypotheses, ordination and pollen preservation: landscape impacts of Norse landnám in southern Greenland', *Review of Palaeobotany and Palynology*, vol. 236, pp. 1–11.

Ledger, PM & Forbes, V, 2019, 'Paleoenvironmental Analyses from Nunalleq, Alaska illustrate a novel means to date pre-Inuit and Inuit archaeology', *Arctic Anthropology*, vol. 56, no. 2, pp. 39–51.

Ledger, PM, Forbes, V, & Girdland-Flink, L, 2018, *Progress report on fieldwork at L'Anse aux Meadows National Historic Site, 6th – 11th of August 2018*, Parks Canada.

Ledger, PM, Forbes, V, Masson-MacLean, E, & Knecht, RA, 2016, 'Dating and digging stratified archaeology in circumpolar North America: A view from Nunalleq, southwestern Alaska', *Arctic*, pp. 378–390.

Ledger, PM, Forbes, V, & Girdland-Flink, L, 2019a, *Final Report on Palaeoenvironmental Fieldwork at L'Anse aux Meadows National Historic Site, 6th August to 11th August 2018*, Memorial University of Newfoundland.

Ledger, PM, Girdland-Flink, L, & Forbes, V, 2019b, 'New horizons at L'Anse aux Meadows', *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, vol. 116, no. 31, pp. 15341–15343.

Lee, M & Reinhardt, GA, 2003, *Eskimo architecture: Dwelling and structure in the early historic period*, University of Alaska, Fairbanks.

Leifeld, J, Alewell, C, Bader, C, Krüger, JP, Mueller, CW, Sommer, M, Steffens, M, & Szidat, S, 2018, 'Pyrogenic carbon contributes substantially to carbon storage in intact and degraded northern peatlands', *Land Degradation & Development*, vol. 29, no. 7, pp. 2082–2091.

Lemieux, A-M, Bhiry, N, & Desrosiers, PM, 2011, 'The geoarchaeology and traditional knowledge of winter sod houses in eastern Hudson Bay, Canadian Low Arctic', *Geoarchaeology*, vol. 26, no. 4, pp. 479–500.

Levchenko, VA & Sungatov, FA, 2013, 'Building the radiocarbon chronology for the archaeological site Ufa-II, Bashkortostan, Russia: is this the elusive "Bashkort" of medieval sources?', *Radiocarbon*, vol. 55, no. 3, pp. 1278–1285.

Lévesque, PEM, Dinel, H, & Larouche, A, 1988, *Guide to the identification of plant macrofossils in Canadian peatlands*, Agriculture Canada, Ottawa.

Lewis, HT & Ferguson, TA, 1988, 'Yards, corridors, and mosaics: how to burn a boreal forest', *Human Ecology*, vol. 16, no. 1, pp. 57–77.

Lewis-Simpson, S, 2020, 'Vinland Revisited, Again: On "theories, scuttlebutt, crossed fingers", and next steps in Viking encounters', in A. Pedersen & S. M. Sindbæk (eds.), *Proceedings of the Eighteenth Viking Congress*, pp. 565–583, Aarhus University Press, Aarhus.

Lightfoot, KG, Cuthrell, RQ, Striplen, CJ, & Hylkema, MG, 2013, 'Rethinking the study of landscape management practices among hunter-gatherers in North America', *American Antiquity*, vol. 78, no. 2, pp. 285–301.

Lindsay, C, 1975, *A Preliminary Report on the 1974 Excavations of Norse Buildings D and E at L'Anse aux Meadows.*, Parks Canada, Retrieved from Provincial Archaeology Office, Newfoundland and Labrador.

Llano, GA, 1956, 'Utilization of lichens in the arctic and subarctic', *Economic Botany*, vol. 10, no. 4, pp. 367–392.

Loughlin, NJ, Gosling, WD, Mothes, P, & Montoya, E, 2018, 'Ecological consequences of post-Columbian indigenous depopulation in the Andean–Amazonian corridor', *Nature Ecology & Evolution*, vol. 2, no. 8, pp. 1233–1236.

Lovelace, DM, Redman, CM, Minckley, TA, Schubert, BW, Mahan, S, Wood, JR, McGuire, JL, Laden, J, Bitterman, K, Heiniger, H, & others, 2022, 'An age-depth model and revised stratigraphy of vertebrate-bearing units in Natural Trap Cave, Wyoming', *Quaternary International*.

Lucas, G, 2017, 'Variations on a theme: Assemblage archaeology', *Cambridge Archaeological Journal*, vol. 27, no. 1, pp. 187–190.

Lyngstad, A, Øien, D-I, Moen, A, & Fandrem, M, 2016, 'Slåttemyr in Norway. Knowledge status and input to action plan', *NTNU Science Museum Natural History Report*.

Macphail, RI & Goldberg, P, 2018, *Applied soils and micromorphology in archaeology*, Cambridge University Press.

Madsen, CK, 2019, 'Marine shielings in medieval Norse Greenland', *Arctic Anthropology*, vol. 56, no. 1, pp. 119–159.

Magnan, G, van Bellen, S, Davies, L, Froese, D, Garneau, M, Mullan-Boudreau, G, Zaccone, C, & Shotyk, W, 2018, 'Impact of the Little Ice Age cooling and 20th century climate change on peatland vegetation dynamics in central and northern Alberta using a multi-proxy approach and high-resolution peat chronologies', *Quaternary Science Reviews*, vol. 185, pp. 230–243.

Mainland, I & Halstead, P, 2005, 'The economics of sheep and goat husbandry in Norse Greenland', *Arctic Anthropology*, vol. 42, no. 1, pp. 103–120.

Mann, DH, & Plug, LJ, 1999, Vegetation and soil development at an upland taiga site, Alaska. *Ecoscience*, vol. 6, no. 2, pp. 272–285.

Marche, J & Wilson, M, 2008, L'Anse Aux Meadows Paleoethnobotanical Analysis, Memorial University.

Marcisz, K, Lamentowicz, M, Ga\lka, M, Colombaroli, D, Adolf, C, & Tinner, W, 2019, 'Responses of vegetation and testate amoeba trait composition to fire disturbances in and around a bog in central European lowlands (northern Poland)', *Quaternary Science Reviews*, vol. 208, pp. 129–139.

Markgraf, V & Huber, UM, 2010, 'Late and postglacial vegetation and fire history in Southern Patagonia and Tierra del Fuego', *Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology*, vol. 297, no. 2, pp. 351–366.

Marshall, I, 1996, *History and Ethnography of the Beothuk*, McGill-Queen's University Press, Montreal.

Mauquoy, D, Hughes, P, Van Geel, B, & others, 2010, 'A protocol for plant macrofossil analysis of peat deposits', *Mires and Peat*, vol. 7, no. 6, pp. 1–5.

Mauquoy, Dmitri, Payne, RJ, Babeshko, KV, Bartlett, R, Boomer, I, Bowey, H, Evans, CD, Ring-Hrubesh, F, Muirhead, D, O'Callaghan, M, & others, 2020, 'Falkland Island peatland development processes and the pervasive presence of fire', *Quaternary Science Reviews*, vol. 240, p. 106391.

Mauquoy, Dmitri & Van Geel, B, 2007, 'Plant macrofossil methods and studies: mire and peat macros', in S. Elias & C. Mock (eds.), *Encyclopedia of quaternary science*, 1st edn, pp. 2315–2336, Elsevier Science, Amsterdam.

McGovern, TH, Bigelow, G, Amorosi, T, & Russell, D, 1988, 'Northern islands, human error, and environmental degradation: A view of social and ecological change in the medieval North Atlantic', *Human Ecology*, vol. 16, no. 3, pp. 225–270.

McGovern, TH, Buckland, PC, Savory, D, Sveinbjarnardottir, G, Andreason, C, & Skidmore, P, 1983, 'A study of the faunal and floral remains from two Norse farms in the Western Settlement, Greenland', *Arctic Anthropology*, pp. 93–120.

McGovern, TH, Perdikaris, S, Einarsson, A, & Sidell, J, 2006, 'Coastal connections, local fishing, and sustainable egg harvesting: patterns of Viking Age inland wild resource use in Myvatn district, Northern Iceland', *Environmental Archaeology*, vol. 11, no. 2, pp. 187–205.

Melnik, ME, 2007, Salmon Net (EfAx-25): an investigation of Groswater material culture stylistic variability in Newfoundland, Memorial University of Newfoundland.

Meussdoerffer, FG, 2009, 'A comprehensive history of beer brewing', *Handbook of Brewing: Processes, Technology, Markets*, pp. 1–42.

Michaelis, D, 2019, *The Sphagnum species of the world*, Schweizerbart Science Publishers, Stuttgart.

Milek, K, 2006, *Houses and Households in Early Icelandic Society: Geoarchaeology and the Interpretation of Social Space*, Cambridge, Cambridge.

Milek, KB, 2012, 'Floor formation processes and the interpretation of site activity areas: an ethnoarchaeological study of turf buildings at Thverá, northeast Iceland', *Journal of Anthropological Archaeology*, vol. 31, no. 2, pp. 119–137.

Mooney, DE, 2016a, 'A 'North Atlantic island signature' of timber exploitation: Evidence from wooden artefact assemblages from Viking Age and Medieval Iceland', *Journal of Archaeological Science: Reports*, vol. 7, pp. 280–289.

Mooney, DE, 2016b, 'Examining possible driftwood use in Viking Age Icelandic boats', *Norwegian Archaeological Review*, vol. 49, no. 2, pp. 156–176.

Mooney, SD & Maltby, EL, 2006, 'Two proxy records revealing the late Holocene fire history at a site on the central coast of New South Wales, Australia', *Austral Ecology*, vol. 31, no. 6, pp. 682–695.

Mooney, SD & Tinner, W, 2011, 'The analysis of charcoal in peat and organic sediments', *Mires and Peat*, vol. 7, no. 9, pp. 1–18.

Moore, PD, 2002, 'The future of cool temperate bogs', *Environmental Conservation*, vol. 29, no. 1, pp. 3–20.

Morris, CD, 1989, 'The Norse Discovery of America, vol. I. excavations of a norse settlement at l'anse aux meadows, newfoundland 1961–1968. By Anne Stine Ingstad', Taylor & Francis.

Mott, R, 1975, 'Palynological Studies of Peat Monoliths from L'Anse aux Meadows Norse Site', *Geological Survey of Canada*, vol. Part A, no. Paper 75–1, pp. 451-454.

Nelson, JL, Zavaleta, ES, & Chapin, FS, 2008, 'Boreal fire effects on subsistence resources in Alaska and adjacent Canada', *Ecosystems*, vol. 11, no. 1, pp. 156–171.

Nicholas, GP, 1998, 'Wetlands and hunter-gatherers: A global perspective', *Current Anthropology*, vol. 39, no. 5, pp. 720–731.

Nicholas, GP, 2006, 'Decolonizing the archaeological landscape: The practice and politics of archaeology in British Columbia', *American Indian Quarterly*, vol. 30, no. 3/4, pp. 350–380.

Nilsson, M, Klarqvist, M, Bohlin, E, & Possnert, G, 2001, 'Variation in 14C age of macrofossils and different fractions of minute peat samples dated by AMS', *The Holocene*, vol. 11, no. 5, pp. 579–586.

Norton, HH, 1981, 'Plant use in Kaigani Haida culture: correction of an ethnohistorical oversight', *Economic Botany*, vol. 35, no. 4, pp. 434–449.

Nydal, R, 1989, 'A Critical Review of Radiocarbon Dating of a Norse Settlement at L'Anse Aux Meadows, Newfoundland Canada', *Radiocarbon*, vol. 31, no. 3, pp. 976–985.

Obase, K, Douhan, GW, Matsuda, Y, & Smith, ME, 2017, 'Progress and challenges in understanding the biology, diversity, and biogeography of Cenococcum geophilum', in L. Tedersoo (ed.), *Biogeography of mycorrhizal symbiosis*, vol. 820, Springer, Tartu.

Oberndorfer, E, Broomfield, T, Lundholm, J, & Ljubicic, G, 2020, 'Inuit cultural practices increase local-scale biodiversity and create novel vegetation communities in Nunatsiavut (Labrador, Canada)', *Biodiversity and Conservation*, vol. 29, no. 4, pp. 1205–1240.

Odling-Smee, FJ, Laland, KN, & Feldman, MW, 2003, *Niche construction*, Princeton University Press.

Odling-Smee, J, Erwin, DH, Palkovacs, EP, Feldman, MW, & Laland, KN, 2013, 'Niche construction theory: a practical guide for ecologists', *The Quarterly Review of Biology*, vol. 88, no. 1, pp. 3–28.

O'Rourke, MJ, 2018, 'Risk and value: Grounded visualization methods and the assessment of cultural landscape vulnerability in the Canadian Arctic', *World Archaeology*, vol. 50, no. 4, pp. 620–638.

Oswalt, WH, 1957, 'A western Eskimo ethnobotany', *Anthropological Papers of the University of Alaska*, vol. 6, no. 1, pp. 16–36.

Park, RW, 1988, "Winter Houses" and Qarmat in Thule and Historic Inuit Settlement Patterns: Some Implications for Thule Studies', *Canadian Journal of Archaeology/Journal Canadien d'Archéologie*, pp. 163–175.

Parks Canada, 2019, L'Anse aux Meadows National Historic Site of Canada A UNESCO World Heritage Site, Parks Canada. Paulissen, MP, Van Der Ven, PJ, Dees, AJ, & Bobbink, R, 2004, 'Differential effects of nitrate and ammonium on three fen bryophyte species in relation to pollutant nitrogen input', *New Phytologist*, vol. 164, no. 3, pp. 451–458.

Pearson, FR, 2001, *Recent vegetational changes on blanket mire at Mynydd Llangatwg, South Wales*, University of Gloucestershire.

Pellerin, S, Huot, J, & Co^té, SD, 2006, 'Long-term effects of deer browsing and trampling on the vegetation of peatlands', *Biological Conservation*, vol. 128, no. 3, pp. 316–326.

Pena, R, Lang, C, Naumann, A, & Polle, A, 2014, 'Ectomycorrhizal identification in environmental samples of tree roots by Fourier-transform infrared (FTIR) spectroscopy', *Frontiers in Plant Science*, vol. 5, p. 229.

Petré, R, 1985, 'Investigations 18th-27th July 1962', in A. S. Ingstad (ed.), *The Norse Discovery of America*, vol. 1, pp. 59–71, Norwegian University Press, Oslo.

Pigford, A-AE & Zutter, C, 2014, 'Reconstructing historic Labrador Inuit plant use: an exploratory phytolith analysis of soapstone-vessel residues', *Arctic Anthropology*, vol. 51, no. 2, pp. 81–96.

Pisaric, MF, 2002, 'Long-distance transport of terrestrial plant material by convection resulting from forest fires', *Journal of Paleolimnology*, vol. 28, no. 3, pp. 349–354.

Pitkänen, A, Lehtonen, H, & Huttunen, P, 1999, 'Comparison of sedimentary microscopic charcoal particle records in a small lake with dendrochronological data: evidence for the local origin of microscopic charcoal produced by forest fires of low intensity in eastern Finland', *The Holocene*, vol. 9, no. 5, pp. 559–567.

Pitkänen, A, Tolonen, K, & Jungner, H, 2001, 'A basin-based approach to the long-term history of forest fires as determined from peat strata', *The Holocene*, vol. 11, no. 5, pp. 599–605.

Pollard-Belsheim, A, Storey, M, Robinson, C, & Bell, T, 2014, 'The CARRA project: Developing tools to help heritage managers identify and respond to coastal hazard impacts on archaeological resources', in *2014 Oceans-St. John's*, pp. 1–5, IEEE.

Pope, P, 2015, 'Bretons, Basques, and Inuit in Labrador and northern Newfoundland: The control of maritime resources in the 16th and 17th centuries', *Études/Inuit/Studies*, vol. 39, no. 1, pp. 15–36.

Porter, E, 2007, 'Ethnobotany of the Iroquois with an Emphasis on the Seneca of the Upper Allegheny', *Environmental Studies, Capstone Projects. University of Pittsburgh at Bradford*.

Potvin, LR, Kane, ES, Chimner, RA, Kolka, RK, & Lilleskov, EA, 2015, 'Effects of water table position and plant functional group on plant community, aboveground production, and peat properties in a peatland mesocosm experiment (PEATcosm)', *Plant and Soil*, vol. 387, no. 1, pp. 277–294.

Price, N, 2020, *The Children of Ash and Elm: A History of the Vikings*, Basic Books, New York.

Ramsey, CB, 2009, 'OxCal 4.4.', ORAU > OxCal, https://c14.arch.ox.ac.uk/oxcal.html.

Reimer, PJ, Austin, WE, Bard, E, Bayliss, A, Blackwell, PG, Ramsey, CB, Butzin, M, Cheng, H, Edwards, RL, Friedrich, M, & others, 2020, 'The IntCal20 Northern Hemisphere radiocarbon age calibration curve (0–55 cal kBP)', *Radiocarbon*, vol. 62, no. 4, pp. 725–757.

Reitz, EJ, Newsom, LA, Scudder, SJ, & Scarry, MC, 2012, 'Introduction to environmental archaeology', in E. J. Reitz & M. Shackley (eds.), *Environmental Archaeology*, pp. 1–39, Springer, Boston.

Renouf, MA, 2003, 'A review of Palaeoeskimo dwelling structures in Newfoundland and Labrador', *Études/Inuit/Studies*, vol. 27, no. 1–2, pp. 375–416.

Renouf, MP, 2006, 'Maritime Archaic site locations on the island of Newfoundland', in D. Sanger & M. P. Renouf (eds.), *The Archaic of the far northeast*, pp. 1–46, University of Maine Press, Orono.

Renouf, MAP, Bell, T, & Macpherson, J, 2009, 'Hunter-gatherer impact on Subarctic vegetation: Amerindian and Palaeoeskimo occupations of Port au Choix, northwestern Newfoundland', *Arctic Anthropology*, vol. 46, no. 1–2, pp. 176–190.

Renouf, MP, Bell, T, & Teal, MA, 2000, 'Making contact: Recent Indians and Palaeoeskimos on the island of Newfoundland', in M. Appelt, J. Berglund, & H. C. Gulløv, (eds.), *Identities and cultural contacts in the Arctic*, pp. 106–119, National Museum of Denmark and Danish Polar Center, Danish Polar Center Publication, Copenhagen.

Renouf, MP, Teal, MA, & Bell, TJ, 2011, 'In the Woods: The Cow Head Complex Occupation of the Gould Site, Port au Choix', in *The Cultural Landscapes of Port au Choix: Precontact Hunter-Gatherers of Northwestern Newfoundland*, pp. 251–269, Springer, Boston.

Rentzel, P, Nicosia, C, Gebhardt, A, Brönnimann, D, Pümpin, C, & Ismail-Meyer, K, 2017, 'Trampling, poaching and the effect of traffic', in C. Nicosia & G. Stoops (eds.), *Archaeological soil and sediment micromorphology*, p. 476, John Wiley & Sons, London.

Ritchey, MM, 2019, *Regional Variation in Grass, Sedge, and Cereal Cultivation During the Viking Age in Skagafjörður, North Iceland*, University of Massachusetts Boston.

Robertson, A, 1978, *BOTANICAL-CHEMICAL ANALYSIS OF PEAT MONOLITHS FROM THE ARCHEOLOGICAL SITE AT L'ANSE AUX MEADOWS NATIONAL HISTORIC SITE*, , https://s3-eu-west-

1.amazonaws.com/s3.spanglefish.com/s/3643/documents/newfoundland/lanse%20au%20 meadows.pdf.

Robertson, A, n.d., *Peatlands and Archaeology: With Special Reference to the Norse Site at L'Anse aux Meadows*, Canadian Forestry Service, Environment Canada,.

Robinson, D, Kristensen, HK, & Boldsen, I, 1992, 'Botanical analyses from Viborg Søndersø: A waterlogged urban site from the viking period', *Acta Archaeologica*, vol. 62, pp. 59–87.

Roebroeks, W, MacDonald, K, Scherjon, F, Bakels, C, Kindler, L, Nikulina, A, Pop, E, & Gaudzinski-Windheuser, S, 2021, 'Landscape modification by Last Interglacial Neanderthals', *Science Advances*, vol. 7, no. 51, p. eabj5567.

Ronkainen, T, McClymont, EL, Tuittila, E-S, & Väliranta, M, 2014, 'Plant macrofossil and biomarker evidence of fen–bog transition and associated changes in vegetation in two Finnish peatlands', *The Holocene*, vol. 24, no. 7, pp. 828–841.

Ronkainen, T, Väliranta, M, & Tuittila, E-S, 2013, 'Fire pattern in a drainage-affected boreal bog', *Boreal Environment Research*, vol. 18, pp. 309–316.

Ross, JM & Zutter, C, 2007, 'Comparing Norse animal husbandry practices: paleoethnobotanical analyses from Iceland and Greenland', *Arctic Anthropology*, vol. 44, no. 1, pp. 62–85.

Roy, N, Bhiry, N, & Woollett, J, 2012, 'Environmental Change and Terrestrial Resource Use by the Thule and Inuit of Labrador, Canada', *Geoarchaeology*, vol. 27, no. 1, pp. 18–33.

Roy, N, Woollett, J, & Bhiry, N, 2015, 'Paleoecological perspectives on landscape history and anthropogenic impacts at Uivak Point, Labrador, since AD 1400', *The Holocene*, vol. 25, no. 11, pp. 1742–1755.

Roy, N, Woollett, J, Bhiry, N, Haemmerli, G, Forbes, V, & Pienitz, R, 2018, 'Perspective of landscape change following early settlement (landnám) in Svalbarðstunga, northeastern Iceland', *Boreas*, vol. 47, no. 2, pp. 671–686.

Ryberg, EE, Väliranta, M, Martinez-Cortizas, A, Ehrlén, J, Sjöström, JK, & Kylander, ME, 2022, 'Postglacial peatland vegetation succession in Store Mosse bog, south-central Sweden: An exploration of factors driving species change', *Boreas*.

Rydin, H & Jeglum, JK, 2013, *The biology of peatlands*, 2nd edn, Oxford university press, Oxford.

Sannel, ABK & Kuhry, P, 2008, 'Long-term stability of permafrost in subarctic peat plateaus, west-central Canada', *The Holocene*, vol. 18, no. 4, pp. 589–601.

Schlütz, F & Bittmann, F, 2016, 'Dating archaeological cultures by their moats? A case study from the Early Bronze Age settlement Fidvár near Vráble, SW Slovakia', *Radiocarbon*, vol. 58, no. 2, pp. 331–343.

Schofield, JE & Edwards, KJ, 2011, 'Grazing impacts and woodland management in Eriksfjord: Betula, coprophilous fungi and the Norse settlement of Greenland', *Vegetation History and Archaeobotany*, vol. 20, no. 3, pp. 181–197.

Schofield, JE, Edwards, KJ, & Christensen, C, 2008, 'Environmental impacts around the time of Norse landnám in the Qorlortoq valley, Eastern Settlement, Greenland', *Journal of Archaeological Science*, vol. 35, no. 6, pp. 1643–1657.

Schofield, JE, Edwards, KJ, Erlendsson, E, & Ledger, PM, 2013, 'Palynology supports "Old Norse" introductions to the flora of Greenland', *Journal of Biogeography*, vol. 40, no. 6, pp. 1119–1130.

Schönbäck, B, 1974, *Progress Report on Archaeological Fieldwork at L'Anse aux Meadows, June to September, 1974.*, Parks Canada, Retrieved from Provincial Archaeology Office, Newfoundland and Labrador.

Schönbäck, B, Wallace, B, & Lindsay, C, 1976, *Progress Report on Field Work at L'Anse aux Meadows, June to October, 1975*, Parks Canada, Retrieved from Provincial Archaeology Office, Newfoundland and Labrador.

Schouwenaars, J & Gosen, A, 2007, 'The sensitivity of Sphagnum to surface layer conditions in a re-wetted bog: a simulation study of water stress', *Mires and Peat*, vol. 2, no. 2, p. np-np.

Sicre, M-A, Weckström, K, Seidenkrantz, M-S, Kuijpers, A, Benetti, M, Massé, G, Ezat, U, Schmidt, S, Bouloubassi, I, Olsen, J, & others, 2014, 'Labrador current variability over the last 2000 years', *Earth and Planetary Science Letters*, vol. 400, pp. 26–32.

Sillasoo, Ü, Väliranta, M, & Tuittila, E-S, 2011, 'Fire history and vegetation recovery in two raised bogs at the Baltic Sea', *Journal of Vegetation Science*, vol. 22, no. 6, pp. 1084–1093.

Silva, JA, Nielsen, S, McLoughlin, PD, Rodgers, AR, Hague, C, & Boutin, S, 2020, 'Comparison of pre-fire and post-fire space use reveals varied responses by woodland caribou (Rangifer tarandus caribou) in the Boreal Shield', *Canadian Journal of Zoology*, vol. 98, no. 11, pp. 751–760. Simpson, IA, Vésteinsson, O, Adderley, WP, & McGovern, TH, 2003, 'Fuel resource utilisation in landscapes of settlement', *Journal of Archaeological Science*, vol. 30, no. 11, pp. 1401–1420.

Simpson, MJ, Macintosh, DF, Cloughley, JB, & Stuart, AE, 1996, 'Past, present and future utilisation of Myrica gale (Myricaceae)', *Economic Botany*, vol. 50, no. 1, pp. 122–129.

Sjögren, P, Van der Knaap, W, Van Leeuwen, J, Andrič, M, Grünig, A, & others, 2007, 'The occurrence of an upper decomposed peat layer, or "kultureller Trockenhorizont", in the Alps and Jura Mountains', *Mires and Peat*, vol. 2, no. 5, pp. 1–14.

Sjögren, Per, van der Knaap, W, van Leeuwen, JF, & Andrič, M, 2005, 'Resumed peat growth in high-altitude mires across the Alps and the Jura Mountains during the 19th and 20th centuries', in *Palaeoecological investigations of pasture woodland in Combe des Amburnex, Swiss Jura Mountains*, University of Bern, Bern.

Skene, KR, Sprent, JI, Raven, JA, & Herdman, L, 2000, 'Myrica gale L.', *Journal of Ecology*, vol. 88, no. 6, pp. 1079–1094.

Skre, O & Oechel, W, 1981, 'Moss functioning in different taiga ecosystems in interior Alaska', *Oecologia*, vol. 48, no. 1, pp. 50–59.

Small, E & Cayouette, J, 2016, '50. Sedges-the key sustainable resource for Arctic biodiversity', *Biodiversity*, vol. 17, no. 1–2, pp. 60–69.

Šoltés, R & Školek, J, 2010, 'Sphagnum–Polytrichum turf hummocks in the Western Carpathians', *Oecologia Montana*, vol. 19, no. 1–2, pp. 1–14.

Speller, J & Forbes, V, 2022, 'On the Role of Peat Bogs as Components of Indigenous Cultural Landscapes in Northern North America', *Arctic, Antarctic, and Alpine Research*, doi: 10.1080/15230430.2022.2049957.

Speranza, A, Hanke, J, van Geel, B, & Fanta, J, 2000, 'Late-Holocene human impact and peat development in the Černá Hora bog, Krkonoše Mountains, Czech Republic', *The Holocene*, vol. 10, no. 5, pp. 575–585.

Spitale, D, 2021, 'A warning call from mires of the Southern Alps (Italy): Impacts which are changing the bryophyte composition', *Journal for Nature Conservation*, vol. 61, p. 125994.

Stefánsson, H, 2019, From Earth: Earth Architecture in Iceland, Gullinsnið, Reykjavík.

Steinberg, JM, 2004, 'Note on organic content of turf walls in Skagafjörður, Iceland', *Archaeologia Islandica*, vol. 3, pp. 60–70.

Stewart, OC, 2002, *Forgotten fires: Native Americans and the transient wilderness*, University of Oklahoma Press.

Strunk, A, Olsen, J, Sanei, H, Rudra, A, & Larsen, NK, 2020, 'Improving the reliability of bulk sediment radiocarbon dating', *Quaternary Science Reviews*, vol. 242, p. 106442.

Studlar, SM, 1980, 'Trampling effects on bryophytes: trail surveys and experiments', *Bryologist*, pp. 301–313.

Sun, H, Terhonen, E, Kovalchuk, A, Tuovila, H, Chen, H, Oghenekaro, AO, Heinonsalo, J, Kohler, A, Kasanen, R, Vasander, H, & others, 2016, 'Dominant tree species and soil type affect the fungal community structure in a boreal peatland forest', *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, vol. 82, no. 9, pp. 2632–2643.

Sundberg, S & Rydin, H, 2002, 'Habitat requirements for establishment of Sphagnum from spores', *Journal of Ecology*, vol. 90, no. 2, pp. 268–278.

Suttles, W, 1955, *Katzie ethnographic notes. Anthropology in British Columbia, memoir no. 2.*, British Columbia Provincial Museum, Victoria.

Svanberg, I, 1998, 'The use of rush (Juncus) and cotton-grass (Eriophorum) as wicks', *Svenska Landsmål Ock Svenskt Folkliv*, vol. 120, no. 323, p. 145.

Svanberg, I & Ægisson, S, 2012, 'Edible wild plant use in the Faroe Islands and Iceland', *Acta Societatis Botanicorum Poloniae*, vol. 81, no. 4.

Sveinbjarnardóttir, G, Snæsdóttir, M, Buckland, PC, Gerrard, A, Grieg, J, Perry, D, & Savory, D, 1981, *Excavations at Stóraborg, a palaeoecological approach*, , https://www.academia.edu/4086494/Buckland_P_C_Panagiotakopulu_E_Skidmore_P_Sn %C3%A6sd%C3%B3ttir_M_and_Buckland_P_I_2004_Insect_faunas_from_St%C3%B3 raborg_a_farm_mound_in_Southern_Iceland_National_Museum_of_Iceland.

Swindles, GT & Plunkett, G, 2010, 'Testing the palaeoclimatic significance of the Northern Irish bog oak record', *The Holocene*, vol. 20, no. 2, pp. 155–159.

Swindles, GT, Plunkett, G, & Roe, HM, 2007, 'A multiproxy climate record from a raised bog in County Fermanagh, Northern Ireland: a critical examination of the link between bog surface wetness and solar variability', *Journal of Quaternary Science*, vol. 22, no. 7, pp. 667–679.

Szopa, K, Skreczko, S, Chew, D, Krzykawski, T, & Szymczyk, A, 2019, 'Multi-Tool (LA-ICPMS, EMPA and XRD) investigation on heavy minerals from selected Holocene peat-bog deposits from the Upper Vistula River Valley, Poland', *Minerals*, vol. 10, no. 1, p. 9.

Tantaquidgeon, G, 1932, 'Notes on the origin and uses of plants of the Lake St. John Montagnais', *The Journal of American Folklore*, vol. 45, no. 176, pp. 265–267.

Tarasov, PE, Savelieva, LA, Kobe, F, Korotkevich, BS, Long, T, Kostromina, NA, & Leipe, C, 2021, 'Lateglacial and Holocene changes in vegetation and human subsistence around Lake Zhizhitskoye, East European midlatitudes, derived from radiocarbon-dated pollen and archaeological records', *Quaternary International*.

Teal, MA, 2001, An archaeological investigation of the Gould site (EeBi-42) in Port au Choix, northwestern Newfoundland: new insight into the recent indian Cow Head complex, Memorial University of Newfoundland.

Telford, RJ, Heegaard, E, & Birks, HJB, 2004, 'All age–depth models are wrong: but how badly?', *Quaternary Science Reviews*, vol. 23, no. 1–2, pp. 1–5.

Thelemann, M, Bebermeier, W, Hoelzmann, P, & Lehnhardt, E, 2017, 'Bog iron ore as a resource for prehistoric iron production in Central Europe—A case study of the Widawa catchment area in eastern Silesia, Poland', *Catena*, vol. 149, pp. 474–490.

Thiem, B, 2003, 'Rubus chamaemorus L.- a boreal plant rich in biologically active metabolites: a review', *Biological Letters*, vol. 40, no. 1, pp. 3–13.

Thieret, JW, 1956, 'Bryophytes as economic plants', *Economic Botany*, vol. 10, no. 1, pp. 75–91.

Thompson, JC, Wright, DK, & Ivory, SJ, 2021, 'The emergence and intensification of early hunter-gatherer niche construction', *Evolutionary Anthropology: Issues, News, and Reviews*, vol. 30, no. 1, pp. 17–27.

Thompson, V, 2013, 'Whispers in the landscape', in V. Thompson & J. Waggoner Jr (eds.), *The archaeology and historical ecology of small scale economies*, pp. 1–13, University Press of Florida, Gainesville.

Thormann, MN, Currah, RS, & Bayley, SE, 1999, 'The mycorrhizal status of the dominant vegetation along a peatland gradient in southern boreal Alberta, Canada', *Wetlands*, vol. 19, no. 2, pp. 438–450.

Tinner, W, Hofstetter, S, Zeugin, F, Conedera, M, Wohlgemuth, T, Zimmermann, L, & Zweifel, R, 2006, 'Long-distance transport of macroscopic charcoal by an intensive crown fire in the Swiss Alps-implications for fire history reconstruction', *The Holocene*, vol. 16, no. 2, pp. 287–292.

Tolonen, M, 1985, 'Palaeoecological record of local fire history from a peat deposit in SW Finland', in *Annales Botanici Fennici*, pp. 15–29, JSTOR.

Trachsel, M & Telford, RJ, 2017, 'All age-depth models are wrong, but are getting better', *The Holocene*, vol. 27, no. 6, pp. 860–869.

Tsuda, S, Kikuchi, T, & Fujita, H, 1989, 'First year vegetation recovery after a moor fire in the Hakkoda Mountains of northeastern Japan', *Ecological Review= Seitaigaku Kenyku*, vol. 21, no. 4, p. 297.

Tsyganov, AN, Kupriyanov, DA, Babeshko, KV, Borisova, TV, Chernyshov, VA, Volkova, EM, Chekova, DA, Mazei, YA, & Novenko, EY, 2019, 'Autogenic and allogenic factors affecting development of a floating Sphagnum-dominated peat mat in a karst pond basin', *The Holocene*, vol. 29, no. 1, pp. 120–129.

Tuck, JA, 1976, Ancient people of Port au Choix: the excavation of an Archaic Indian cemetery in Newfoundland, Institute of Social and Economic Research Memorial University, St John's.

Tuittila, E-S, Väliranta, M, Laine, J, & Korhola, A, 2007, 'Quantifying patterns and controls of mire vegetation succession in a southern boreal bog in Finland using partial ordinations', *Journal of Vegetation Science*, vol. 18, no. 6, pp. 891–902.

Turetsky, M, Wieder, K, Halsey, L, & Vitt, D, 2002, 'Current disturbance and the diminishing peatland carbon sink', *Geophysical Research Letters*, vol. 29, no. 11, pp. 21–1.

Turner, N. J., 2004, *Plants of Haida Gwaii. Xaadaa Gwaay guud gina k'aws (Skidegate), Xaadaa Gwaayee guu giin k'aws (Massett).*, Sono Nis Press, Winlaw.

Turner, Nancy J, 1998, *Plant technology of first peoples in British Columbia*, UBC Press, Vancouver.

Turner, Nancy J, 2014, Ancient pathways, ancestral knowledge: ethnobotany and ecological wisdom of indigenous peoples of northwestern North America, vol. 2, McGill-Queen's University Press, Montreal.

Turner, NC & Bell, MA, 1971, 'The ethnobotany of the coast Salish Indians of Vancouver Island', *Economic Botany*, vol. 25, no. 1, pp. 63–99.

Turner, NC & Bell, MA, 1973, 'The ethnobotany of the southern Kwakiutl Indians of British Columbia', *Economic Botany*, vol. 27, no. 3, pp. 257–310.

Turner, V, 2013, 'Living off the Land?', in D. Mahler (ed.), *The Border of Farming – Shetland and Scandinavia Neolithic and Bronze Age Farming*, pp. 24–34, The National Museum of Denmark, Copenhagen.

Väliranta, M, Korhola, A, Seppä, H, Tuittila, E-S, Sarmaja-Korjonen, K, Laine, J, & Alm, J, 2007, 'High-resolution reconstruction of wetness dynamics in a southern boreal raised bog, Finland, during the late Holocene: a quantitative approach', *The Holocene*, vol. 17, no. 8, pp. 1093–1107.

Väliranta, M, Salojärvi, N, Vuorsalo, A, Juutinen, S, Korhola, A, Luoto, M, & Tuittila, E-S, 2017, 'Holocene fen–bog transitions, current status in Finland and future perspectives', *The Holocene*, vol. 27, no. 5, pp. 752–764.

Van der Linden, M & Van Geel, B, 2006, 'Late Holocene climate change and human impact recorded in a south Swedish ombrotrophic peat bog', *Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology*, vol. 240, no. 3–4, pp. 649–667.

Van Geel, B, 1978, 'A palaeoecological study of Holocene peat bog sections in Germany and the Netherlands, based on the analysis of pollen, spores and macro-and microscopic remains of fungi, algae, cormophytes and animals', *Review of Palaeobotany and Palynology*, vol. 25, no. 1, pp. 1–120.

Van Hoof, J & Van Dijken, F, 2008, 'The historical turf farms of Iceland: Architecture, building technology and the indoor environment', *Building and Environment*, vol. 43, no. 6, pp. 1023–1030.

Vandel, E, Vaasma, T, Sugita, S, Tõnisson, H, Jaagus, J, Vilumaa, K, Anderson, A, & Kont, A, 2019, 'Reconstruction of past storminess: Evaluation of an indicator approach using aeolian mineral grains buried in peat deposits, Estonia', *Quaternary Science Reviews*, vol. 218, pp. 215–227.

Verberg, S, 2018, 'The Rise and Fall of Gruit', Brewery History, vol. 174, pp. 46–79.

Vésteinsson, O, 2007, 'A divided society: Peasants and the aristocracy in medieval Iceland', *Viking and Medieval Scandinavia*, vol. 3, pp. 117–139.

Vickers, K, Erlendsson, E, Church, MJ, Edwards, KJ, & Bending, J, 2011, '1000 years of environmental change and human impact at Stóra-Mörk, southern Iceland: a multiproxy study of a dynamic and vulnerable landscape', *The Holocene*, vol. 21, no. 6, pp. 979–995.

Vijūnas, A, 2007, 'Old Icelandic gaglviðr', Quidditas, vol. 28, no. 1, p. 9.

Wallace, BL, 1977, The 1976 Excavations at L'Anse aux Meadows., Parks Canada.

Wallace, BL, 1989, *Native Occupations L'Anse aux Meadows*, National Historic Parks and Sites, Environment Canada - Canadian Parks Service.

Wallace, BL, 2000a, 'The viking settlement at L'Anse aux meadows', in W. W. Fitzhugh & E. I. Ward (eds.), *Vikings: The North Atlantic Saga*, pp. 208–216, Smithsonian Books, Washington.

Wallace, BL, 2000b, 'Vinland and the death of Þorvaldr', in S. Lewis-Simpson (ed.), *Vinland Revisited: The Norse World at the Turn of the First Millennium*, pp. 377–390, Historic Sites Association of Newfoundland and Labrador, St. John's.

Wallace, BL, 2000c, 'Vinland's place in the Viking world', in K. McAleese (ed.), *Full circle, first contact: Vikings and Skraelings in Newfoundland and Labrador*, pp. 51–55, Newfoundland Museum, St. John's.

Wallace, BL, 2003a, 'The Norse in Newfoundland: L'Anse aux Meadows and Vinland', *Newfoundland Studies*, vol. 19, no. 1, pp. 5–43.

Wallace, BL, 2003b, *An Old Ship Plank and Other Lessons Learnt from Archaeology: Report on the Excavation at L'Anse aux Meadows National Historic Site, September 3-8, 2002.*, Parks Canada, Retrieved from Provincial Archaeology Office, Newfoundland and Labrador.

Wallace, BL, 2005, 'The Later excavations at L'Anse aux Meadows', in S. Lewis-Simpson (ed.), *Vinland Revisited: The Norse World at the Turn of the First Millennium*, pp. 165–180, Historic Sites Association of Newfoundland and Labrador, St. John's.

Wallace, BL, 2006, *Westward vikings: the saga of L'Anse aux Meadows*, Historic Sites Association of Newfoundland and Labrador, St John's.

Wallace, BL, 2012, *Westward Vikings: the saga of L'Anse aux Meadows*, second, Historic Sites Association of Newfoundland and Labrador, St. John's ..., St John's.

Wallenius, TH, Kuuluvainen, T, & Vanha-Majamaa, I, 2004, 'Fire history in relation to site type and vegetation in Vienansalo wilderness in eastern Fennoscandia, Russia', *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, vol. 34, no. 7, pp. 1400–1409.

Watling, J, Mayle, FE, & Schaan, D, 2018, 'Historical ecology, human niche construction and landscape in pre-Columbian Amazonia: A case study of the geoglyph builders of Acre, Brazil', *Journal of Anthropological Archaeology*, vol. 50, pp. 128–139.

Weber, JT, 2022, 'Traditional uses and beneficial effects of various species of berryproducing plants in eastern Canada', *Botany*, vol. 100, no. 2, pp. 175–182.

Weishampel, PA & Bedford, BL, 2006, 'Wetland dicots and monocots differ in colonization by arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi and dark septate endophytes', *Mycorrhiza*, vol. 16, no. 7, pp. 495–502.

Wells, DE & Pollett, FC, 1983, 'Peatlands', in G. R. South (ed.), *Biogeography and Ecology of the Island of Newfoundland*, vol. 48, pp. 207–265, Dr W Junk Publishers, The Hague.

Wessels, T, 1999, *Reading the forested landscape: A natural history of New England*, Countryman Press, New York.

Westley, K, Bell, T, Renouf, M, & Tarasov, L, 2011, 'Impact assessment of current and future sea-level change on coastal archaeological resources—illustrated examples from northern Newfoundland', *The Journal of Island and Coastal Archaeology*, vol. 6, no. 3, pp. 351–374.

Whitlock, C & Millspaugh, SH, 1996, 'Testing the assumptions of fire-history studies: an examination of modern charcoal accumulation in Yellowstone National Park, USA', *The Holocene*, vol. 6, no. 1, pp. 7–15.

Wolff, CB & Holly Jr, DH, 2019, 'Sea Ice, Seals and Settlement: On Climate and Culture in Newfoundland and Labrador', in L. Reeder-Meyers, J. A. Turck, & R. C. Torben (eds.), University Press of Florida, Gainesville.

Xu, J, Morris, PJ, Liu, J, & Holden, J, 2018, 'PEATMAP: Refining estimates of global peatland distribution based on a meta-analysis', *Catena*, vol. 160, pp. 134–140.

Yeloff, D, Labadz, J, & Hunt, CO, 2006, 'Causes of degradation and erosion of a blanket mire in the southern Pennines, UK', *Mires and Peat*, vol. 1, pp. 1–18.

Young, NE, Schweinsberg, AD, Briner, JP, & Schaefer, JM, 2015, 'Glacier maxima in Baffin Bay during the Medieval Warm Period coeval with Norse settlement', *Science Advances*, vol. 1, no. 11, p. e1500806.

Zaccone, C, Rein, G, D'Orazio, V, Hadden, RM, Belcher, CM, & Miano, TM, 2014, 'Smouldering fire signatures in peat and their implications for palaeoenvironmental reconstructions', *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, vol. 137, pp. 134–146.

Zimmerman, J, 2018, *Brew Beer Like a Yeti: Traditional Techniques and Recipes for Unconventional Ales, Gruits, and Other Ferments Using Minimal Hops*, Chelsea Green Publishing, White River Junction.

Zobel, M, 1988, 'Autogenic succession in boreal mires—a review', *Folia Geobotanica et Phytotaxonomica*, vol. 23, no. 4, pp. 417–445.

Zoltai, S, Morrissey, L, Livingston, G, & Groot, W de, 1998, 'Effects of fires on carbon cycling in North American boreal peatlands', *Environmental Reviews*, vol. 6, no. 1, pp. 13–24.

Zutter, C, 1999, 'Congruence or concordance in archaeobotany: Assessing micro-and macro-botanical data sets from Icelandic middens', *Journal of Archaeological Science*, vol. 26, no. 7, pp. 833–844.

Zutter, C, 2009, 'Paleoethnobotanical contributions to 18th-century Inuit economy: an example from Uivak, Labrador', *Journal of the North Atlantic*, vol. 2, no. sp1, pp. 23–32.